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and | am authorized to swear this affidavit (the "Affidavit") on behalf of the Applicants.

2. | have personal knowledge of the matters and facts herein deposed, except where

based on information and belief, in which case | believe the same to be true.
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In proceedings (the “NOI Proceedings”) consolidated under Estate No: 25-2868952, |
had previously sworn an Affidavit (the “NOI Affidavit’) on September 26, 2022 and a
supplemental Affidavit on September 28, 2022 (the “Supplemental NOI Affidavit;
together with the NOI Affidavit, the “Wilson NOI Affidavits”).

In the NOI Proceedings, Alvarez & Marsal Canada Inc. ("A&M”) consented to act as
the proposal trustee (the “Proposal Trustee”) and is the proposed monitor (the
“Monitor’) under the CCAA Proceedings (defined below). In support of the NOI
Proceedings, the Proposal Trustee filed its first report (the “First Report’) on
September 27, 2022.

| adopt and rely upon the Wilson NOI Affidavits and the First Report for the purposes
of continuing the NOI Proceedings into proceedings (the “CCAA Proceedings”) under
the Companies’ Creditors Arrangement Act, RSC 1985, ¢ C-36, as amended (the
“CCAA”). Attached hereto and marked collectively as Exhibit “A” are copies of the
Wilson NOI Affidavits. Attached hereto and marked as Exhibit “B” is a copy of the
First Report.

Capitalized terms not otherwise defined herein shall have the meaning given to them
in the Wilson NOI Affidavits or the First Report.

RELIEF REQUESTED

| swear this Affidavit in support of an application (the "Application") by the Applicants
for a proposed initial order (the “Initial Order”) pursuant to the CCAA and a second
application under the CCAA for an extension of the stay of proceedings period (the
“Stay Period”) until December 10, 2022, for, among other things:

(a) approving and continuing the Applicants' ability to borrower under an .interim
financing facility (the “Interim Financing Facility”) to finance their working
capital requirements and other general corporate purposes, post-filing

expenses and costs;

(b) granting a stay of proceedings for a period of not more than 10 days to October
24, 2022,
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(c)

(d)

(e)

()

(9)

approving and continuing the following priority charges (the “Charges”) in the
CCAA over the Applicants' current and future assets, undertakings and
properties of every nature and kind whatsoever, and wherever situate,
including all proceeds thereof (collectively, the “Property”) in the priority
provided for under the CCAA,;

(i) the Administration Charge (as defined below) in favour of the Trustee (as
defined below), counsel to the Trustee and counsel to the Applicants;

(i) Interim Lender's Charge in favour of Connect First Credit Union Ltd.
(“CFCU’ or the “Interim Lender”);

(i) the Directors’ Charge (as defined below) in favour of the Directors and

Officers (as defined below); and
(iv) the KERP Charge (as defined below);

approving and continuing the sale, refinancing and investment solicitation
process (“SISP”) commenced in the NOI Proceedings to seek an investment in

or sale of the property of the Applicants as part of the restructuring process;

approving and continuing a key employee retention plan (‘KERP”) to ensure
the continuity of operations during the restructuring proceedings and a KERP
Charge to secure the amounts payable under the KERP;

pursuant to the second application under the CCAA, extending the Stay Period
granted under the Initial Order for an additional period until December 10,
2022; and

approving a sealing Order in respect of the confidential information associated
with the KERP.

OVERVIEW

On September 26, 2022, the Applicants each filed a Notice of Intention to Make a
Proposal pursuant to subsection 50.4(1) of the BIA and A&M was appointed as

Proposal Trustee.
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As a result of the filing of the NOI, all proceedings against the Applicants and the
Property were automatically stayed for an initial period of thirty (30) days (i.e. until
October 26, 2022) (the “NOI Stay Period”). The NOI Stay Period was subsequently
extended to December 10, 2022 by an order (the “NOI Order”’) granted by Justice D.B.
Nixon of this Honourable Court on September 29, 2022. Attached hereto and marked
as Exhibit “C” is a copy of the NOI Order.

The Applicants seek to continue the NOI Proceedings under the CCAA pursuant to
section 11.6 of the CCAA. The CCAA is the best forum for these insolvency
proceedings and presents the best chance of maximizing value for all stakeholders of

the Applicants.
None of the Applicants have filed a proposal in the NOI Proceedings.

The Applicants each owe more than $5,000,000.00 to their creditors and are
companies to which the CCAA applies.

Further, as described below, | am advised by Ryan Zahara of MLT Aikins LLP
(“MLTA”), legal counsel for the Applicants, that if the NOI Proceedings continue and
the Applicants fail to make a proposal, if such proposal is rejected by its creditors, or if
the Applicants fail to meet certain statutory timelines under the NOI Proceedings, the
Applicants will be automatically be deemed bankrupt.

Pursuant to the BIA, under the NOI Proceedings the Applicants are required to make a
proposal that is acceptable to its creditors within six months of the commencement of

the NOI Proceedings.

Given the complicated factual and legal issues currently facing the Applicants,
including the ongoing SISP, the Applicants may require more than six months to plan,

develop and implement their restructuring plan.

It is a requirement under the Interim Financing Facility Term Sheet that the Applicants
continue the NOI Proceedings into the CCAA Proceedings by no later than October
15, 2022.

| understand that the Proposal Trustee supports the Applicants application to continue
the NOI Proceedings under the CCAA and consents to its appointment as Monitor.
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RESTRUCTURING EFFORTS SINCE THE FILING OF THE NOI
A. Efforts to Restructure the Applicants
Since the filing of the NOI, the Proposal Trustee has prepared and sent:

(a) a notice to all known creditors of Sugarbud advising them of the filing by
Sugarbud of the NOI and of the stay of proceedings resulting therefrom; and

(b) a notice of stay of proceedings to such persons with whom Sugarbud was
involved in litigation proceedings as at the date of the filing of the NOI.

Since the filing of the NOI, the Applicants have, among other things:

(a) obtained the NOI Order approving of a SISP, a KERP, Interim Financing
Facility, Administration Charge, Interim Financing Facility Charge, Directors’
Charge and KERP Charge; and

(b) communicated, in conjunction with the Proposal Trustee, with key customers,
vendors, and critical suppliers about the NOI Proceedings and the NOI Stay
Period, including the effect on claims of creditors arising prior to the filing of
the NOI.

During the NOI Stay Period, the Applicants have continued their operations as a

going concern, namely through interim financing funding provided by CFCU.
B. Interim Financing

The Applicants have also engaged with the Proposal Trustee and CFCU, to secure
the Interim Financing Facility which is necessary to ensure continued operations on
the terms and conditions of an interim financing facility commitment letter (the “IF
Term Sheet’), which provides Sugarbud with a non-revolving credit facility. A copy of
the executed IF Term Sheet is attached hereto and marked as Exhibit “D".

The IF Term Sheet provides for a super-priority, interim, non-revolving credit facility
up to a maximum principal amount of $2,000,000.00. The interest rate applicable to
advances under the Interim Financing Facility is 12% per annum and shall accrue and
be paid on the Maturity Date (as defined in the IF Term Sheet).
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The IF Term Sheet is to be guaranteed and secured by a super-priority charge (the
“Interim Financing Charge”) on all present and after-acquired property of Sugarbud.

The IF Term Sheet contains a requirement that the Applicants continue the NOI
Proceedings into CCAA Proceedings as soon as reasonably possible or by no later
than October 15, 2022.

The Interim Financing Facility will be used, to the extent required, to fund Sugarbud’s
working capital and for other general corporate purposes and to pay costs and
expenses incurred in connection with the CCAA Proceedings.

The Interim Financing Facility is subject to customary covenants, conditions
precedent, and representations and warranties made by Sugarbud to the Interim
Lender. The Interim Financing Facility must be repaid in full by the date that is the

earlier of:

(a) 4 months after date of the Initial Advance;

(b) the occurrence of an Event of Default (as defined in the IF Term Sheet);
(c) the SISP terminates;

(d) the date of the closing of a sale of all or a portion of the Property pursuant to
the SISP, provided the NOI Proceedings are concurrently terminated with the
consent of the Interim Lender; or

(e) a Change of Control (as defined in the IF Term Sheet) occurs.

The Interim Financing Facility is critical to maintain The Applicants’ ongoing
operations, including the implementation and completion the SISP, and will be
beneficial to the Applicants’ stakeholders as a whole, as it will allow the Applicants to

ensure that all efforts are taken to maximize the value of its assets.
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REASONS TO PERMIT THE REQUESTED ORDERS
A. Stay Extension and SISP

In light of the foregoing, the Applicants require an extension of the Stay Period in
order to, inter alia, continue the SISP and in order to make a present a plan to its
creditors. A copy of the SISP is attached as Schedule “A” to the NOI Order.

Sugarbud has acted and continues to act in good faith and with due diligence in
pursuing a restructuring under the NOI Proceedings and in continuing the NOI

Proceedings into the CCAA Proceedings.

The granting of and extension of the Stay Period will allow the Applicants to preserve
the value of its business and assets as a whole by minimizing any disruptions while
conducting the SISP, which will ensure that the Applicants’ creditors will be able to
maximize their recovery. All stakeholders generally, including creditors, will benefit

from these proceedings.

| am informed by Ryan Zahara of MLTA that, in the event of a liquidation under a
bankruptcy scenario where all operations would be terminated, the value of the assets
of the Applicants would be substantially reduced. It is expected that the SISP in the
context of the present proceedings will yield better results than any conceivable “go-

dark” scenario.

Management of the Applicants, in consultation with the Monitor, will continue to work
in good faith on a restructuring path forward, which will include the cutting of costs,
maximization of returns and the continuation of the SISP in the CCAA proceedings.

The Applicants further submit that no creditor will be materially prejudiced as a result
of the continuation of the NOI Proceedings under the CCAA and the extension of the
Stay Period to December 10, 2022.

B. Interim Financing

The Applicants’ current financial situation is difficult, including its cash position

specifically.
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The Applicants respectfully submit that the continuation of the Interim Financing
Facility is critical, necessary, constitutes its only feasible alternative in the
circumstances, and that taking into consideration the foregoing, its terms and
conditions are fair, reasonable and adequate, and should be approved and continued
by this Court.

If the Order approving the Interim Financing Facility is granted, the Applicants will be
able to access the liquidity needed to fund the SISP and advance the CCAA
Proceedings, as well as its ongoing operations. The Interim Financing Facility will be
beneficial to The Applicants’ stakeholders as a whole, as it will allow the Applicants to
fund the SISP and ensure that all efforts are taken so as to maximize the value of

their assets.

Additionally, the proposed Interim Financing Facility is on commercially reasonable
terms, and considering the foregoing factors, the relief sought by the Applicants with
respect to the Interim Financing Facility and the related charge is necessary and

appropriate in the circumstances.
C. KERP and KERP Charge

In consultation with its legal counsel, the Applicants developed a key employee
retention plan, the terms and conditions of which are set out in the KERP and which

was approved in the NOI Proceedings.

The KERP provides incentives for the key employees to continue to work for the
Applicants in the unusual circumstances that it faces and align their interests with that
of the Applicants’ stakeholders. These key employees have been working, and will
continue to work, with the objective of implementing the proposed restructuring even

though thelr own continued employmenl is not certain.

The KERP must be continued in order to ensure that these key individuals remain
with the Applicants until completion of its restructuring. Retaining these key
employees will provide critical stability in these otherwise uncertain times for the
Applicants and, for certain positions set out in the Cannabis Act, are required to
maintain the viability of the Cannabis Licences. It is anticipated that this stability will

enable Sugarbud to maintain orderly operations and existing customer relations as
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well as maximize enterprise value throughout the course of the restructuring, as a
loss of key individuals could significantly reduce the going concern value of the

business.

The KERP provides for, among other things, (i) the payment of a retention bonus, the
amount of which is to be secured by a charge (the “KERP Charge”) against the
assets of the Applicants; and (i) the payment of the retention bonus is split into two
payments to align with certain milestones contained in the SISP, with payment of 25%
of the KERP to be paid to the employees on the first milestone and the remaining
75% of KERP to be paid to the employees after the second milestone.

The Applicants seek a KERP Charge in the amount of $140,000.00, which represents
the aggregate amount of payments for key employees proposed under the terms of
the KERP.

The Applicants respectfully submit that the KERP Charge sought is necessary and
appropriate, as well as reasonable, under the circumstances and that, accordingly, it
should be granted and continued in the CCAA Proceedings.

The Applicants understand that the Monitor is supportive of the proposed KERP
Charge.

The KERP contains confidential and personally sensitive information regarding the
key employees. The disclosure of this personal information would cause significant
prejudice to the key employees and potentially provide competitors with the basis to
approach the key employees for alternative employment and could undermine the

benefits of the proposed KERP.
D. Administration Charge

The Applicants also understand that the Monitor, the Monitor's legal counsel and the
Applicants’ counsel (the “Administrative Professionals”) are essential to the
Applicants’ restructuring. Accordingly, the Applicants seek the continuation of a
$500,000.00 administration charge (the "Administration Charge") which shall affect
its assets and secure the payments to be made to the Monitor, counsel to the Monitor,

when and if applicable, and counsel to the Applicants.
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The Applicants require the expertise, knowledge, and continued participation of the
Administrative Professionals during the CCAA Proceedings in order to complete a
successful restructuring. Each of the Administrative Professionals will have distinct

roles in Sugarbud’s restructuring.

The Applicants, the Monitor and the Monitor's legal counsel worked collaboratively to
estimate the quantum of the Administration Charge required, which takes into account
the limited retainers the Administrative Professionals currently have and their existing
outstanding fees. | believe the Administration Charge is fair and reasonable in the
circumstances. | understand that the Monitor is also of the view that the
Administration Charge is fair and reasonable in the circumstances.

E. Directors Charge

| am also advised by Mr. Zahara of MLT Aikins LLP that, in certain circumstances,
directors and officers can be held liable for obligations of a company, including those
owed to employees and government entities. Among other things, | am advised that
these obligations may include unpaid wages and unpaid accrued vacation pay,
together with unremitted excise, sales, goods and services, and harmonized sales

taxes.

It is my understanding the Applicants’ present and former directors and officers (the
“Directors and Officers”) who are or were employed by the Applicants are among
the potential beneficiaries under liability insurance policies for the benefit of
Applicants and its direct and indirect subsidiaries. However, | understand that these
policies have various expectations, exclusions and carve-outs and that they may not
provide sufficient coverage against potential liability that the Directors and Officers

could incur in connection with the CCAA Proceedings.

Given the risks related to the CCAA Proceedings and the uncertainty surrounding
available indemnities and insurance, | understand that the current Directors and
Officers’ involvement in the CCAA Proceedings is conditional upon the granting of a
priority charge in favour of the Directors and Officers in the amount of at least
$200,000.00 (the “Directors’ Charge”).
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The Directors’ Charge would serve as security for the indemnification obligations and
potential liabilities the Directors and Officers may face during the CCAA
Proceedings. The Directors’ Charge is proposed to rank after the Interim Financing

Charge and the Administration Charge.

The Applicants will only be able to bring the current proceedings to fruition with the
continued participation of its current Directors and Officers, its management and
employees. These personnel are essential to the viability of the Applicants’

restructuring efforts.

The Applicants intend to comply with all applicable laws and regulations, including
the timely remittance of deductions at source, federal and provincial sales tax and
excise tax in connection with the sale of cannabis products incurred after the date of
the CCAA, the Directors and Officers are nevertheless concerned about the potential

liability in the context of the present proceedings.

The amount of the Directors’ Charge takes into account payroll obligations, vacation
pay obligations, employee source deductions obligations, sales tax obligations and
excise tax in connection with the sale of cannabis products that may arise during the
CCAA Proceedings. It is expected that these amounts will be paid by Applicants in

the normal course.

The Directors’ Charge will allow for the indemnification of the Directors and Officers
in respect of any potential liabilities in the context of the CCAA Proceedings, but only
to the extent that such claims are not covered by the current insurance coverage in

place for the Directors and Officers.

The Direclors’ Charge is intended to allow the Directors and Officers, none of which
is a controlling shareholder, to focus their efforts on these restructuring proceedings,

for the benefit of all stakeholders.

The Applicants believe that the Directors’ Charge is reasonable in the circumstances.
| understand that the Monitor is supportive of the Directors’ Charge and its quantum.
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OBJECTIVE OF THE CCAA FILING

The Applicants are insolvent and facing a severe liquidity crisis. The Applicants
require the protections afforded under the CCAA in order to maintain the status quo,
continue interim financing arrangements, obtain the necessary breathing room
required to complete their SISP and to pursue and implement their restructuring

strategy.
As part of the restructuring strategy, the Applicants intend to, among other things:

(a) continue the SISP, including seeking an investment in its business and a

restructuring of its affairs;

(b) use the stay of proceedings afforded by the CCAA to fully explore new
efficiencies and cost saving measures, all with a view to emerging from the

CCAA Proceeding cash flow positive; and

(c) prepare a plan of compromise or arrangement within the CCAA Proceeding
that pays or refinances legitimate creditors of the Applicants and preserves as

much value as possible for existing stakeholders.

With the benefit of the protection and flexibility afforded by the CCAA, the Applicants
will be able to maintain their going concern value, preserve jobs for its employees,
and generally stabilize its business operations for the benefit of the Applicants’

stakeholders.
CONCLUSION

The Applicants seek an Initial Order and an additional extension of the stay of
proceedings under the CCAA substantially in the form of the model template initial
order for proceedings in Alberta, subject to certain changes reflected to address the
circumstances of the Applicants, in the proposed form of order in the Applicants’

application.

The Applicants submit that it has acted and continues to act in good faith and with
due diligence, with a view of potentially securing a transaction or one or more offer(s)
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in respect of its Property, for the benefit of all of Sugarbud’s stakeholders, including its

secured and unsecured creditors.

64. This Affidavit is sworn in support of Sugarbud’s Application for protection pursuant to
the CCAA, including the initial CCAA stay period, approving and continuing the
Interim Financing Facility, approving and continuing the SISP, approving and
continuing the KERP, approving the priority of all the Charges as provided for under
the CCAA, and approving a second application for an extension of the initial CCAA
stay period to December 10, 2022.

)
SWORN before me at the City of Calgary, in )
the Province of Alberta, this 7" day of )

October, 2022
’;./'f;f”'
B -
A Comimissioner for Oaths in and for the
Province of Alberta

£L W gy

DANIEL T. WILSON

R A .

Kyle R. Smith
Barrister & Solicitor

30323249v5
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THIS IS EXHIBIT "A" TO THE
AFFIDAVIT OF DANIEL T. WILSON
SWORN BEFORE ME AT Calgary, Alberta,
this 7t day of October 2022.

-

A Commissioner for Oaths in and for the Province of Alberta

Kyle R. Smith
Barrister & Solicitor
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I, Daniel T. Wilson, of the City of Calgary, in the Province of Alberta, MAKE OATH AND SAY

THAT:

S
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1. | am the President and Chief Executive Officer, interim Vice President of Finance and
Chief Financial Officer, and a Director and Chairman of the Board of Sugarbud Craft
Grower Corp. (“SCGC"), President and Chief Executive Offiver, Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer and Director of Trichome Holdings Corp. (“THC") and 1800905
Alberta Ltd. (“OpCo’ together with SCGC and THC, the “Applicants” or “Sugarbud”)
and | am authorized to swear this affidavit (the "Affidavit") on behalf of the Applicants.

2. | have personal knowledge of the matters and facts herein deposed, except where
based on information and belief, in which case | believe the same to be true.

I RELIEF REQUESTED

3. | swear this Affidavit in support of an application (the "Application") by the Applicants
for an order pursuant to the Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act, RSC 1985, ¢ B-3, as
amended (the “BIA"), for, among other things:

(a) approving the Applicants' ability to borrower under an interim financing facility
(the “Interim Financing Facility”) to finance their working capital requirerrenits
and other general corporate purposes, post-filing expenses and costs;

(b) extending the stay of proceedings for a further period of not more than 45 days
from the expiry of the current stay period on October 26, 2022 to December 10,
2022;

(c) granting the following priority charges (the “Charges’) over the Applicants'
current and future assets, undertakings and properties of every nature and kind
whatsoever, and wherever situate, including all proceeds thereof (collectively,

the “Property”);

(i)  the Administration Charge (as defined below) in favour of the Trustee (as
defined below), counsel to the Trustee and counsel to the Applicants;

(i) the Directors’ Charge (as defined below) in favour of the Directors and

Officers (as defined below);

(iiiy Interim Lender's Charge in favour of Connect First Credit Union Ltd.
(“CFCU” or the “Interim Lender"); and

5
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(iv) the KERP Charge (as defined below).

(d) approving a sale, refinancing and investment solicitation process (“SISP”) to
seek an investment in or sale of the property of the Applicants as part of the

restructuring process;

(e) approving a key employee retention plan ("KERP”) to ensure the continuity of
operations during the restructuring proceedings and a KERP Charge to secure
the amounts payable under the KERP; and

1)) approving a sealing Order in respect of the confidential information associated
with the KERP.

OVERVIEW

On September 26, 2022, the Applicants each filed a Notice of Intention to Make a
Proposal (“NOI” or "NOI Proceeding") pursuant to subsection 50.4(1) of the BIA and
appointed Alvarez & Marsal Canada Inc. as its proposal trustee (the "“Trustee”).

As a result of the filing of the NOI, all proceedings against the Applicants and their
assets were automatically stayed for an initial period of thirty (30) days (i.e. until
October 26, 2022) (the “Stay Period”). Copies of the NOI certificates are attached
hereto as Exhibit “A”.

Sugarbud operates a federally licensed cannabis production facility located in Stavely,
Alberta (the “Facility”) where it produces, distributes and sells cannabis products

across Canada.

Since receiving its cultivation licence and commencing its cannabis operation in
August of 2019, Sugarbud has been cash flow negative for the entire history of its
operations. Despite attempts to access additional financing or complete a transaction,
Sugarbud is facing a significant working capital deficit which makes it unable to pay its

ongoing obligations as they become due.

In the absence of additional financing or collection of receivables, Sugarbud will not
have sufficient liquidity to fund its payroll obligations as illustrated in the cash flow
projections filed with the Trustee. This would lead to a cessation of production,
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distribution and sales which would be very detrimental to Sugarbud and its
stakeholders, including the loss of employment for all of Sugarbud's employees and
the loss of value for the business given the impact on ongoing production of cannabis

and on the contracts with customers and suppliers.

The current cash flow situation is untenable, especially since sales of Sugarbud's vary
from week to week. The present proceedings will allow Sugarbud to attempt to
preserve and maximize the value of its business and assets for the benefit of all of its
stakeholders and will provide it the stability it requires to attempt to implement the
reorganization options to be identified by Sugarbud's management and directors, in

consultation with the Trustee, through the SISP.

CFCU is the secured lender to Sugarbud and, other than as stated herein, is no longer
prepared to continue funding Sugarbud's operations on a go forward basis. As a result,
Sugarbud sought protection by commencing the NOI Proceeding to, among other
things, obtain additional financing in order to continue operations and to implement a
restructuring and consummate a transaction that would see a restructuring of the

Applicants' business or all or a portion of the business sold as a going concern.

During the NOI Proceeding, Sugarbud will continue its day-to-day operations under the
supervision of the Trustee. The NOI Proceeding, KERP, interim financing, stay
extension, and proposed SISP are intended to benefit all of the Applicants’
stakeholders, including its employees, customers, suppliers and contracting parties,

Health Canada and relevant provincial regulators.

Sugarbud will be in communication with Health Canada to inform it of its NOI
Proceedings and will continue to maintain its obligations under its cannabis licences.

DESCRIPTION OF SUGARBUD’S BUSINESS AND BACKGROUND

Sugarbud obtained its Health Canada cultivation, processing and medical sales
licenses in late August 2019, during which period the ability for licensed producers to
access capital in the public markets started to significantly deteriorate. At the time
Sugarbud had approximately $880,000 in cash and $1,100,000 in account payables as
well as approximately $350,000 in term debt.
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On May 27, 2020, as access to capital in the equity markets became more difficult to
access, Sugarbud sought more debt financing and entered into a $5,000,000, 5 year
term senior secured credit facility with CFCU which paid off $2,040,000 of existing
debt. Subsequently, on June 24, 2020, Sugarbud closed a $4,000,000 convertible
debenture financing. Sugarbud exited 2020 with just over $9,000,000 in total liabilities

and had an annual gross revenue of $535,756.

On March 16, 2021, Sugarbud closed a $4,600,000 bought deal public offering on and
exited 2021 with approximately $10,500,000 in total liabilities and had an annual gross
revenue of $2,194,008 in 2021.

Capital became increasingly more difficult for Sugarbud to access in 2022. Sugarbud
was burdened with a high debt load and overhead. Anticipated revenue increases
never materialized. Sugarbud reviewed many merger and acquisition targets but was
unsuccessful in all attempts. The last such opportunity was terminated in early August
2022. At that point, Sugarbud had exhausted all of its funding opportunities.

A, Cannabis Industry in Canada

The cannabis industry has evolved, and continues to evolve, rapidly in Canada.
Licenses to cultivate, process and/or sell cannabis, and the related activities, are
primarily regulated under the Cannabis Act, SC 2018, c. 16, as amended and related

regulations (together, the “Cannabis Act").

On October 17, 2018, recreational use of cannabis was legalized in Canada. On that
date, the Cannabis Act, which regulates cannabis for recreational/adult-use, medical
cannabis and industrial hemp in Canada, came into effect. In addition to holding
licences under the Cannabis Act, licensees are also required to obtain a cannabis
excise licence (the "Excise Licence") from the Canada Revenue Agency ("CRA")
pursuant to the Excise Act, 2001, SC 2002, c. 22 ("Excise Act").

On October 17, 2019, the Cannabis Act was amended to broaden the scope of legal
cannabis products to include edible cannabis, cannabis extracts and cannabis topicals.
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The cannabis industry continues to be a highly regulated industry, with the Cannabis
Act regulating the possession, cultivation, production, distribution, sale, research,
testing, import, export and promotion of cannabis and the individual provinces

regulating the distribution and retail sale of recreational cannabis.

B. Business

SCGC was incorporated on March 30, 2006 pursuant to the Business Corporations Act
(Alberta) (the “ABCA") and changed its name on November 29, 2018 to its current
name. It maintains its registered office in Calgary, Alberta. Attached hereto as
Exhibit “B” is the Alberta Corporate Registry profile report providing these details.

SCGC is the publicly traded entity that is the sole shareholder of THC and OpCo. A
copy of the Applicants' organizational chart is attached hereto as Exhibit “C”.

THC was incorporated on April 9, 2018 pursuant to the ABCA. It maintains its
registered office in Calgary, Alberta. Attached hereto as Exhibit “D” is the Alberta
Corporate Registry profile report providing those details.

OpCo was incorporated on February 6, 2014 pursuant to the ABCA. It maintains its
registered office in Calgary, Alberta. Attached hereto as Exhibit “E” is the Alberta
Corporate Registry profile report providing those details.

OpCo holds legal title to all of the operating assets of Sugarbud, including the Facility
and is also the holder of the licences issued under the Cannabis Act and the Excise

Act.

Sugarbud is a vertically integrated cannabis business with expertise at each stage of
the cannabis product life-cycle, from cultivation and extraction to brand development,

marketing and sales.

Sugarbud applies a consumer-driven approach to developing premium brands and is
dedicated to selling high-quality, consumer cannabis products in Canada. As a result,

Sugarbud's products capture a broad customer base.

Sugarbud’s brand portfolio was developed as a craft grower to target the varying
consumer demands along with the different sales and distribution channels within the
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market (the “Sugarbud Product Portfolio”). Sugarbud produces an array of premium
cannabis products including, among others, dried flower, pre-rolls, and rosin.

Sugarbud supplies various cannabis products to a number of provincial purchasing

entities pursuant to supply agreements including:

(a) British Columbia (BC Liquor Distribution Branch);

(b) Alberta (Albeﬁa Gaming, Liguor and Cannabis Commission);
(c) Ontario (Ontario Cannabis Retail Corporation);

(d) Manitoba (Manitoba Ligour and Lotteries);

(e) Quebec (SQDC);

(f) New Brunswick (Cannabis NB);

(g) Nova Scotia (Nova Scotia Liquor Commission);

(h) Northwest Territories (Northwest Teritories Liguor and Cannabis Commission);

and
() Newfoundland (Cannabis Newfoundland).

The Sugarbud Product Portfolio was created with the intention of offering a carefully
crafted product for every consumer type in the market. The Sugarbud Product Portfolio
was developed using a consumer-centric strategy and is the product of significant
consumer driven market research coupled with Sugarbud’s extensive knowledge in the

cannabis space.
C. Facilities and Production

Sugarbud has advanced cannabis cultivation and cannabinoid extraction and
processing facilities which include high-quality and purpose-built greenhouse cannabis
cultivation and cannabinoid extraction infrastructure at the Facility.

The Facility contains approximately 29,800 square feet of production-licenced area
with a production capacity capable of yielding up to approximately 9,923,000 -
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11,670,000gram/year of dried cannabis and dried cannabis equivalent products.
Current production capacity at the facility is approximately 1,654,000 — 1,946,000

grams/year.

Sugarbud has 1,024 plants per layer and when a growing room is at full capacity can
grow up to 4,098 plants per room which constitutes an approximately 193% utilization

of its floor plate.

Sugarbud has up to 24,576 ft? of total flowering canopy with 1,024 ft2 of cultivation
space per layer with scalable vertical cultivation of 1 to 4 layers of flowering canopy

per room.
D. Cannabis License

OpCo holds a Standard Cultivation, Standard Processing and Sale for Medical
Purposes licence Plants/Seeds, Dried/Fresh, Extracts, Edible and Topical (the
“Cannabis Licence”) under the Cannabis Act, which permits OpCo to conduct a suite
of customary activities with cannabis and cannabis products. OpCo also holds an
Excise Licence under the Excise Act. Copies of the Cannabis Licence and Excise

Licence are attached hereto and marked collectively as Exhibit “F”.

OpCo's original licences under the Cannabis Act were issued in August 2019 and were
renewed by Health Canada for an additional 5 year period expiring July 2027. OpCa's
licences under the Excise Act were set to expire on September 24, 2022 but was
verbally extended to December 24, 2022 by CRA, with confirmation to follow by mail

(which has yet to be received).

OpCo is subject to comprehensive and rigorous regulatory regime as set out in the
Cannabis Act and enforced by Health Canada. This regime requires ongoing
compliance, record keeping, and reporting. There are strict site, security and
operational requirements, including that directors, officers, individuals in a position to
exercise direct control, and key individuals on the ground at the licensed site must hold

security clearances.
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E. Employees

Sugarbud currently employs 50 people (the “Employees”). The Employees and their
designations are further detailed in the chart below:

Employee Designation Sugarbud
Full time (standard) 33

Part time (salaried) 1

Part time (hourly) 1

On leave 5

On furlough (to be on furlough) 10

Total: 50

The aggregate payroil paid by Canadian Power Pay for Sugarbud is presently
estimated to be $97,319. The estimated October 15, 2022 aggregate payroll is
approximately $76,676.

F. Suppliers

Sugarbud relies on a number of vendors and third-party service providers to operate
its business. For instance, logistics providers, lab services and utility providers are all
essential to Sugarbud’s operations. Sugarbud is behind on most of its obligations
under a number of agreements with these vendors and third-party service providers.

Certain of these vendors and service providers are critical to the operations of
Sugarbud and provide niche products or services for which replacements are not
readily available. As a result, such vendors or service providers may need to be paid
for some of the outstanding amounts in order to continue to provide supplies or
services to Sugarbud during the pendency of the NOI Proceedings.

In accordance with the foregoing, prior to commencing the NOI Proceedings, the
Applicants' had to pay certain amounts to critical suppliers in order to allow operations
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to continue uninterrupted. Critical supplier payments in the amount of $130,631 were
made in excess of the credit available under the Applicants’ credit facilities with CFCU
and were only allowed to be paid as a result of the imminent NOI Proceedings. The
critical suppliers included payments to, amang others, insurers, IT, security and other
service providers and suppliers necessary to maintain the Cannabis Licences and the
going concern business. One of the uses of the Interim Financing Facility will be to
repay those emergency amounts advanced by CFCU prior to the commencement of

the NOI Proceedings to critical suppliers.

G. Excise Duty
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Holders of Cannabis Licences are also required to obtain an Excise Licence. Holders
of Excise Licences are required to post security pursuant to the Excise Act as security
for the remittance of excise duties to the CRA. This security provides the CRA with
financial assurance for any outstanding excise duty payable. The security can be
posted in the form of a surety bond or a deposit with the CRA.

The security required to be posted with the CRA is calculated as the highest amount
of cannabis duties payable for a calendar month in the previous 12 calendar months.
These duties are calculated, in part, based on the expected number of grams or
milligrams of packaged cannabis products sold to the recreational market.

In addition to the obligation to post security under the Excise Act, Sugarbud must also
remit monthly excise duties on products sold on a regular basis. As of the date hereof,
Sugarbud owes $1,113,010.25 to CRA on account of outstanding excise duties.

EVENTS PRECEDING THE NOI

The filing of the NOI was made in a context where Sugarbud had become insolvent

and was unable to pay all of its creditors; namely:

(a) As of September 26, 2022, the principal outstanding indebtedness of
Sugarbud, on a consolidated basis, was approximately as follows, as shown in
a copy of the NOI filing documents, attached hereto as Exhibit “G™:

A. Nature of Debt Amount of Indebtedness

0024



47.

48.

48,

50.

1.

5
30181201v8

11

Unsecured Debt $5,137,623
Secured Debt $8,166,754
Total $13,304,377

(b) The unsecured debt primarily consists of amounts due and owing to trade

vendors of Sugarbud arising in the normal course; and

(c) The secured debt is primarily held by CFCU as of September 22, 2022 and
totals: $7,704,295.40

On September 22, 2022, CFCU issued demands for payment and notices of intention
(collectively, the “Demands”) to Sugarbud in respect the amounts outstanding to
CFCU. Attached hereto and marked as Exhibit “H” are copies of the Demands.

SCGC has provided security for the amounts owed to CFCU in the form of a general
security agreement dated May 27, 2020 (the “SCGC Security”).

THC has provided security for the amounts owed to CFCU in the form of a general
security agreement dated May 27, 2020 (the “THC Security”).

OpCo has provided security for the amounts owed to CFCU in the form of a general
security agreement dated May 27, 2020 and a Collateral Mortgage dated May 27,
2020, as amended by mortgage amending agreements dated December 29, 2020,
October 8, 2021, January 13, 2022, and an Assignment of Rents dated January 13,
2022 (collectively, the "OpCo Security”; together with the SCGC Security and the
THC Security, the “Security”). Copies of the Security have not been attached to this
Affidavit but will be made available upon request.

While the legalization of recreational cannabis in Canada in October 2018 triggered
an influx of market activity, from initial public offerings, convertible debenture issues
and merger and acquisition transactions, the cannabis industry is currently grappling
with cash-flow issues, limited capital and falling valuations.

0025



52.

53.

54.

55.

56.

57.

5
30181201v8

12

Sugarbud has recorded operating losses for the past years as it appears from its
2021 audited financial statements. Attached hereto and marked as Exhibit “I” is a
copy of the most recent audited financial statements of Sugarbud.

Prior to filing the NOI, Sugarbud sought to restructure its financial affairs by
implementing administrative expense reductions. These reductions were realized by

reducing personnel and certain other administrative expenses.

Considering the fact that Sugarbud is insolvent, and is no longer able to meet its
obligations as they become due, nor is it able to secure agreements for a refinancing
of its indebtedness, Sugarbud had been left with no other choice than to file an NOI
with a view of initiating a SISP, and eventually, depending on the outcome of the
SISP, submitting a proposal to its creditors (the “Proposal’).

RESTRUCTURING EFFORTS SINCE THE FILING OF THE NOI
A. Efforts to Restructure Sugarbud
Since the filing of the NOI, the Trustee has prepared and sent:

(a) a notice to all known creditors of Sugarbud advising them of the filing by
Sugarbud of the NOI and of the stay of proceedings resulting therefrom; and

(b) a notice of stay of proceedings to such persons with whom Sugarbud was
involved in litigation proceedings as at the date of the filing of the NOI.

During the Stay Period, Sugarbud has continued its operations as a going concern,
namely through funding provided by CFCU.

Interim Financing

Sugarbud has also engaged with the Trustee and CFCU, to secure the Interim
Financing Facility to ensure continued operations on the terms and conditions of an
interim financing facility commitment letter (the “IF Term Sheet"), which will provide
Sugarbud with a non-revolving credit facility. A copy of the proposed IF Term Sheet is
attached hereto and marked as Exhibit “J”.
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The IF Term Sheet provides for a super-priority, interim, non-revoiving credit facility
up to a maximum principal amount of $2,000,000. The interest rate applicable to
advances under the Interim Financing Facility is 12% per annum and shall accrue and
be paid on the Maturity Date (as defined in the IF Term Sheet).

The IF Term Sheet is to be guaranteed and secured by a super-priority charge (the
“Interim Financing Charge") on all present and after-acquired property of Sugarbud..

The Interim Financing Facility will be used, to the extent required to fund Sugarbud’s
working capital and for other general corporate purposes and to pay costs and

expenses incurred in connection with these NOI Proceedings.

The Interim Financing Facility is subject to customary covenants, conditions
precedent, and representations and warranties made by Sugarbud to the Interim
Lender. The Interim Financing Facility must be repaid in full by the date that is the

earlier of:

(@) 4 months after date of the Initial Advance;

(b)  the occurrence of an Event of Default (as defined in the IF Term Sheet); and
(c) the SISP terminates;

(d) the date of the closing of a sale of all or a portion of the Property pursuant to
the SISP, provided the NOI Proceedings are concurrently terminated with the

consent of the Interim Lender; or
(e) aChange of Control (as defined in the IF Term Sheet) occurs.

The Interim Financing Facility is critical to maintain Sugarbud’s ongoing operations,
including the development and Inltiation of the SISP, and will be beneficial to
Sugarbud’s stakeholders as a whole, as it will allow Sugarbud to ensure that all efforts

are taken to maximize the value of its assets.

0027



VL.

83.

64.

65.

66.

B87.

68.

5
30181201v8

14

REASONS TO PERMIT THE REQUESTED ORDERS
A. Stay Extension and SISP

In light of the foregoing, Sugarbud requires an extension of the Stay Period in order
to, inter alia, commence a SISP and in order to make a viable proposal to its
creditors. A copy of the proposed SISP and the SISP Procedure are attached hereto

as Exhibit “K”.

Sugarbud has acted and continues to act in good faith and with due diligence in

pursuing a restructuring under the NOI Proceedings.

The extension of the Stay Period will allow Sugarbud to preserve the value of its
business and assets as a whole by minimizing any disruptions while conducting the
SISP, which will ensure that Sugarbud’s creditors will be able to maximize their
recovery. All stakeholders generally, including creditors, will benefit from these

proceedings.

In the event of a liquidation under a bankruptcy scenario where all operations would
be terminated, the value of the assets of the latter would be substantially reduced. It is
expected that the SISP in the context of the present proceedings will yield better

results than any conceivable “go-dark” scenario.

Management of Sugarbud, in consultation with the Trustee, will continue to work in
good faith on a restructuring path forward, which will include the cutting of costs,

maximization of returns and the commencement of the SISP.

Sugarbud further submits that no creditor will be materially prejudiced as a result of
the extension of the Stay Period. In fact, to the contrary, absent an extension of the

3tay Period:

(a) Sugarbud will likely be forced to shut-down its operations, terminate all of tis
employees, effective immediately, and file or be deemed to have filed a

voluntary assignment in bankruptcy;

(b) Sugarbud’s efforts to commence a SISP and provide Sugarbud’s creditors
with a reasonable Proposal will be abruptly terminated; and
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(c) all of Sugarbud’'s assets will have to be liquidated in the context of a
bankruptcy scenario, on a piecemeal basis, where their value is expected to
be significantly reduced.

B. Interim Financing

As further detailed in the Application, and as set out in the First Report, Sugarbud's

current financial situation is difficult, including its cash position specifically.

Sugarbud respectfully submits that the Interim Financing Facility is necessary and
constitutes its only feasible alternative in the circumstances, and that taking into
consideration the foregoing, its term and conditions are fair, reasonable and

adequate, and should be approved by this Court.

If the Order approving the Interim Financing Facility is granted, Sugarbud will be able
to access the liquidity needed to fund the SISP and advance the NOI Proceedings, as
well as its ongoing operations. The Interim Financing Facility will be beneficial to
Sugarbud’s stakeholders as a whole, as it will allow Sugarbud to fund the SISP and
ensure that all efforts are taken so as to maximize the value of its assets.

Additionally, the proposed Interim Financing Facility is on commercially reasonable
terms, and considering the foregoing factors, the relief sought by Sugarbud with
respect to the Interim Financing Facility and the related charge is necessary and

appropriate in the circumstances.
C. KERP and KERP Charge

In consultation with its legal counsel, Sugarbud has developed a draft key employee
retention plan, the terms and conditions of which are set out in the KERP which is to

be attached as a confidential appendix to the First Report.

The KERP provides incentives for the key employees to continue to work for
Sugarbud in the unusual circumstances that it faces and align their interests with that
of Sugarbud’'s stakeholders. These key employees have been working and will
continue to work with the objective of implementing the proposed restructuring even

though their own continued employment is not certain.
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The KERP is being proposed to ensure that these key individuals remain with
Sugarbud until completion of its restructuring. Retaining these key employees will
provide critical stability in these otherwise uncertain times for Sugarbud and, for
certain positions set out in the Cannabis Act, are required to maintain the viability of
the Cannabis Licences. It is anticipated that this stability will enable Sugarbud to
maintain orderly operations and existing customer relations as well as maximize
enterprise value throughout the course of the restructuring, as a loss of key
individuals could significantly reduce the going concern value of the business.

The KERP provides for, among other things, (i) the payment of a retention bonus, the
amount of which is to be secured by a charge (the "KERP Charge”) against the
assets of Sugarbud; and (i) the payment of the retention bonus is split into two
payments to align with certain milestones contained in the SISP, with payment of 25%
of the KERP to be paid to the employees on the first milestone and the remaining
75% of KERP to be paid to the employees after the second milestone.

Sugarbud seeks a KERP Charge in the amount of $140,000, which represents the
aggregate amount of payments for key employees proposed under the terms of the
KERP.

Sugarbud respectfully submits that the KERP Charge sought is necessary and
appropriate, as well as reasonable, under the circumstances and that, accordingly, it

should be granted.
Sugarbud understands that the Trustee is supportive of the proposed KERP Charge.

The KERP contains confidential and personally sensitive information regarding the
key cmployecs. The disclosure of this personal information would cause significant
prejudice to the key employees and potentially provide competitors with the basis to
approach the key employees and could undermine the benefits of the proposed
KERP.

D. Administration Charge

Sugarbud also understands that the Trustee, the Trustee's legal counsel and
Sugarbud's counsel are essential to Sugarbud's restructuring. Accordingly, Sugarbud
seeks a $500,000.00 administration charge (the "Administration Charge") which
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shall affect its assets and secure the payments to be made to the Trustee, counsel to
the Trustee, when and if applicable, and counsel to Sugarbud.

Sugarbud requires the expertise, knowledge, and continued participation of the
proposed beneficiaries of the Administration Charge during the NOI Proceedings in
order to complete a successful restructuring. Each of the beneficiaries of the

Administration Charge will have distinct roles in Sugarbud’s restructuring.

Sugarbud, the Trustee and the Trustee’s legal counsel worked collaboratively to
estimate the quantum of the Administration Charge required, which takes into account
the limited retainers the professionals currently have and their existing outstanding
fees. | believe the Administration Charge is fair and reasonable in the circumstances.
| understand that the Trustee is also of the view that the Administration Charge is fair

and reasonable in the circumstances.
E. Directors Charge

| am advised by Ryan Zahara of MLT Aikins LLP that, in certain circumstances,
directors and officers can be held liable for obligations of a company, including those
owed to employees and government entities. Among other things, | understand that
these obligations may include unpaid wages and unpaid accrued vacation pay,
together with unremitted excise, sales, goods and services, and harmonized sales

taxes.

It is my understanding Sugarbud's present and former directors and officers (the
“Directors and Officers”) who are or were employed by Sugarbud are among the
potential beneficiaries under liability insurance policies for the benefit of Sugarbud
and its direct and indirect subsidiaries. However, | understand that these policies have
various expectations, exclusions and carve-outs and that they may not provide
sufficient coverage against potential liability that the Directors and Officers could incur

in connection with the NOI Proceedings.

Given the risks related to the NOI Proceedings and the uncertainty surrounding
available indemnities and insurance, | understand that the current Directors and
Officers’ involvement in the NOI Proceedings is conditional upon the granting of a
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priority charge in favour of the Directors and Officers in the amount of at least

$200,000 (the “Directors’ Charge”).

The Directors’ Charge would serve as security for the indemnification obligations and
potential liabilities the Directors and Officers may face during the NOI Proceedings.
The Directors’ Charge is proposed to rank after the Interim Financing Charge and the

Administration Charge.

Sugarbud will only be able to bring the current proceedings to fruition with the
continued participation of its current Directors and Officers, its management and
employees. These personnel are essential to the viability of Sugarbud's restructuring
efforts.

Sugarbud intends to comply with all applicable laws and regulations, including the
timely remittance of deductions at source, federal and provincial sales tax and excise
tax in connection with the sale of cannabis products incurred after the date of the
NOI, the Directors and Officers are nevertheless concerned about the potential

liability in the context of the present proceedings.

The amount of the Directors’ Charge takes into account payroll obligations, vacation
pay obligations, employee source deductions obligations, sales tax obligations and
excise tax in connection with the sale of cannabis products that may arise during the
NOI Proceedings. It is expected that these amounts will be paid by Sugarbud in the

normal course,

The Directors’ Charge will allow for the indemnification of the Directors and Officers
in respect of any potential liabilities in the context of the present proceedings, but
only to the extent that such claims are not covered by the current insurance

coverage in place for the Directors and Officers.

The Directors’ Charge is intended to allow the Directors and Officers, none of which
is a controlling shareholder, to focus their efforts on these restructuring proceedings,

for the benefit of all stakeholders.

Sugarbud believe that the Directors’ Charge is reasonable in the circumstances. |
understand that the Trustee is supportive of the Directors’ Charge and its quantum.
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CONCLUSION

As a result of these factors, Sugarbud submits that should the present proceedings be
turned into bankruptcy proceedings, it is expected that the position of Sugarbud's

creditors will materially deteriorate.

In the interim, all creditors of Sugarbud will be kept appraised of the progress of
Sugarbud's efforts to commence the SISP and, depending on the outcome of the
SISP, implement a Proposal by communicating with the Trustee.

Sugarbud submits that it has acted and continues to act in good faith and with due
diligence, with a view of potentially securing a transaction or one or more offer(s) in
respect of its Property, for the benefit of all of Sugarbud'’s stakeholders, including its

secured and unsecured creditors.

Sugarbud understands that the Trustee intends to file, in advance of the hearing of
the Application, a report (the “First Report’) to the Court supporting the extension of
the Stay Period, the ordering of the Interim Financing Facility and Interim Financing
Charge, the commencement of the SISP, and approval of the KERP and the KERP
Charge, as referenced herein.

This Affidavit is sworn in support of Sugarbud's Application for an Order
consolidating the NOI Proceeding, extending the Stay Period, approving the interim
Financing Facility, approving the SISP, approving the KERP and approving the
Charges.

)
SWORN before me at the City of Calgary, in )
the Province of Alberta, this 26" day of )

September, 2022

7

. //‘

Q. () 2ar

A Commissioner for Oaths in and for the
Province of Alberta

30181201v9

DANIEL T. WILSON

Kyle R. Smith
Barrister & Solicitor
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THIS IS EXHIBIT “A” TO THE
AFFIDAVIT OF DANIEL T. WILSON
SWORN BEFORE ME AT CALGARY, ALBERTA,
This 26 day of September 2022

e

A Commissioner ?or Oaths in and for the Province of Alberta

KyleR. Smitl.l
Barrister & Solicitor
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Office of the Superintendent  Bureau du surintendant
of Bankruptcy Canada des faillites Canada

District of ALBERTA
Division No. 02- Calgary
Court No. 25-095326
Estate No. 25-095326

In the Matter of the Notice of Intention
to make a proposal of:

SugarBud Craft Growers Corp.
Insolvent Person

ALVAREZ & MARSAL CANADA INC.
Licensed Insolvency Trustee

Date of the Notice of Intention: September 26, 2022

CERTIFICATE OF FILING OF A NOTICE OF INTENTION TO MAKE A PROPOSAL
Subsection 50.4(1)

I, the undersigned, Official Receiver in and for this bankruptcy district, do hereby
certify that the aforenamed insolvent person filed a Notice of Intention to Make a
Proposal under subsection 5@.4 (1) of the Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act.

Pursuant to subsection 69(1) of the Act, all proceedings against the aforenamed
insolvent person are stayed as of the date of filing of the Notice of Intention.

STEPHANIE GUINDON Official Receiver

Harry Hays Building, 220 - 4th Ave SE, Suite 478, Calgary, ALBERTA, T2G 4X3, 877/376-9902
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Office of the Superintendent Bureau du surintendant
of Bankruptcy Canada des fzaillites Canada

District of ALBERTA
Division No. 02 - Calgary
Court No. 25-095327
Estate No. 25-095327

In the Matter of the Notice of Intention
to make a proposal of:

1800005 Alberta Ltd.
Insolvent Person

ALVAREZ & MARSAL CANADAINC.
Licensed Insolvency Trustee

Date of the Notice of Intention: September 26, 2022

CERTIFICATE OF FILING OF A NOTICE OF INTENTION TO MAKE A PROPOSAL
Subsection 50.4(1)

I, the undersigned, Official Receiver in and for this bankruptcy district, do hereby
certify that the aforenamed insolvent person filed a Notice of Intention to Make a
Proposal under subsection 50.4 (1) of the Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act.

Pursuant to subsection 69(1) of the Act, all proceedings against the aforenamed
insolvent person are stayed as of the date of filing of the Notice of Intention.

STEPHANIE GUINDON Official Receiver

Harry Hays Building, 220 - 4th Ave SE, Suite 478, Calgary, ALBERTA, T2G 4X3, 877/376-9802
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Office of the Superintendent  Bureau du surintendant
of Bankruptcy Canada des faillites Canada

District of ALBERTA
Division No. 02 - Calgary
Court No. 25-095328
Estate No. 25-095328

In the Matter of the Notice of Intention
to make a proposal of:

Trichome Holdings Corp.
Insolvent Person

ALVAREZ & MARSAL CANADAINC.
Licensed Insolvency Trustee

Date of the Notice of Intention: September 26, 2022

CERTIFICATE OF FILING OF A NOTICE OF INTENTION TO MAKE A PROPOSAL
Subsection 5@.4(1

I, the undersigned, Official Receiver in and for this bankruptcy district, do hereby
certify that the aforenamed insolvent person filed a Notice of Intention to Make a
Proposal under subsection 50.4 (1) of the Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act.

Pursuant to subsection 69(1) of the Act, all proceedings against the aforenamed
insolvent person are stayed as of the date of filing of the Notice of Intention.

STEPHANIE GUINDON Official Receiver

Harry Hays Building, 220 - 4th Ave SE, Suite 476, Calgary, ALBERTA, T2G 4X3, 877/376-9902
| 53]
Canada
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THIS IS EXHIBIT “B” TO THE
AFFIDAVIT OF DANIEL T. WILSON
SWORN BEFORE ME AT CALGARY, ALBERTA,
This 26t day of September 2022

T

= /

A Commissioner for Oaths in and for the Province of Alberta

Kyle R. Smith
Barrister & Solicitor
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9/23/22, 11:20 AM

about:blank

Government Corporation/Non-Profit Search
of Alberta @ Corporate Registration System

Date of Search:
Time of Search:
Search provided by:

Service Request Number:
Customer Reference Number: 0158011.00001

2022/09/23
11:19 AM

MLT AIKINS LLP (CALGARY)

38338818

Corporate Access Number: 2012323099
Business Number:

Legal Entity Name:

Name History:

856152962

SUGARBUD CRAFT GROWERS CORP.

Previous Legal Entity Name

[Date of Name Change (YYYY/MM/DD)

[NEW RANGE RESOURCES LTD. |

2010/06/09

[RELENTLESS RESOURCES LTD.|

2018/06/11

Legal Entity Status:
Alberta Corporation Type: Named Alberta Corporation
Method of Registration:
Registration Date:

Registered Office:
,4300 BANKERS HALL WEST, 888 - 3RD STREET S.W.

CALGARY
ALBERTA

Street:
City:

Province:

Postal Code:

Records Address:

Street:
City:

Province:

Postal Code:

T2P5C5

Active

Amalgamation
2006/03/30 YYYY/MM/DD

4300 BANKERS HALL WEST, 888 - 3RD STREET S.W.
CALGARY
ALBERTA

T2P5CS

Email Address: ABREMINDERS@STIKEMAN.COM

Primary Agent for Service:
[Last i First |Middle - . |[Postal | . |
Nnie :‘ Name |[Name |Firm Name ! Street City |Province Code Emafl
CHATWIN|KEITH||R. STIKEMAN| 4300 CALGARY||ALBERTA|[T2P5C5||ABREMINDERS@STIKEMAN.COM
ELLIOTT |[BANKERS |
LLP HALL
WEST, 888
- 3RD
ﬂ STREET |
‘.‘ S.W. I
about:blank 113
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9/23/22, 11:20 AM about:blank

Directors:

Last Name: DIETRICH

First Name: JOSEPH

Street/Box Number: 19 HOOKE ROAD S.W.

City: CALGARY

Province: ALBERTA

Postal Code: T2V3K6

Last Name: MARTIN

First Name: STEPHEN

Street/Box Number: 4300, 888 - 3RD STREET S.W.
City: CALGARY

Province: ALBERTA

Postal Code: T2P5C5

Last Name: WILSON

First Name: DANIEL

Middle Name: T.

Street/Box Number: 94 ASPEN RIDGE WAY S.W.
City: CALGARY

Province: ALBERTA

Postal Code: T3H5M2

Transfer Agents:

Legal Entity Name: ODYSSEY TRUST COMPANY
Corporate Access Number: 302071 8460

Street: STOCK EXCHANGE TOWER, 1230, 300 - 5TH AVENUE S.W,
City: CALGARY

Province: ALBERTA

Postal Code: T2P3C4

Details From Current Articles:

The information in this legal entity table supersedes equivalent electronic attachments
Share Structure: SEE ATTACHED APPENDIX A

Share Transfers Restrictions: NONE
Min Number Of Directors: 1
Max Number Of Directors: 9

Business Restricted To: NONE
Business Restricted From: NONE
Other Provisions: SEE ATTACHED APPENDIX B
Holding Shares In:
Legal Entity Name |
SUGARBUD RETAIL CORP. 7ﬂ
TRICHOME HOLDINGS CORP.|
about:blank 213
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9/23/22, 11:20 AM about:blank

Other Information:

Amalgamation Predecessors:

I Corporate Access Number ||Legal Entity Name
2011015183 OPEN RANGE CAPITAL CORP.
2012053761 OPEN RANGE RESOURCES LTD.|
206083404 SIGA RESOURCES LIMITED

Last Annual Return Filed:

File Year|[Date Filed (YYYY/MM/DD)|
2022/12022/06/03

Filing History:
[List Date (YYYY/MM/DD)) Type of Filing
[2006/03/30 ~ ||Amalgamate Alberta Corporation
2014/04/24 Service Provider Correct Legal Entity
2018/06/11 Name Change Alberta Corporation
2020/02/19 Update BN
2020/02/25 ~ |[Change Address
2022/02/16 Name/Structure Change Alberta Corporation
2022/06/03 Enter Annual Returns for Alberta and Extra-Provincial Corp.
2022/08/22 ] Change Director / Shareholder
Attachments:
Attachment Type Microfilm Bar Code [Date Recorded (YYYY/MM/DD)
Articles/Plan of Arrangement/Court Order| 10000105100866479 |[2006/03/30
Court Order ] [10000405100866487 |{2006/03/30
Share Structure B ELECTRONIC 2006/03/30

ther or Provisic |[ELECTRONIC 2006/03/30

nsolidation, Split, Exchange [ELECTRONIC ___ |[2010/06/09 _

[Consolidation, Split, Exchange [ELECTRONIC 2022/02/16

The Registrar of Corporations certifies that, as of the date of this search, the above information is an accurate reproduction of
data contained in the official public records of Corporate Registry.

about:blank
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THIS IS EXHIBIT “C” TO THE
AFFIDAVIT OF DANIEL T. WILSON
SWORN BEFORE ME AT CALGARY, ALBERTA,
This 26t" day of September 2022

-

A Commissioner for Oaths in and for the Province of Alberta

Kyle R. Smith
Barmister & Solicitor
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THIS IS EXHIBIT “D” TO THE
AFFIDAVIT OF DANIEL T. WILSON
SWORN BEFORE ME AT CALGARY, ALBERTA,
This 26t" day of September 2022

//7//

A Commissiofier for Oaths in and for the Province of Alberta

Kyle R. Smith
Barristcr & Solicitor
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9/23/22, 11:23 AM about:blank

Government Corporation/Non-Profit Search
of Alberta ® Corporate Registration System

Date of Search: 2022/09/23
Time of Search: 11:23 AM
Search provided by: MLT AIKINS LLP (CALGARY)

Service Request Number: 38338887
Customer Reference Number: 158011.1

Corporate Access Number: 2021854514

Business Number: 701609521
Legal Entity Name: TRICHOME HOLDINGS CORP.
Legal Entity Status: Active

Alberta Corporation Type: Named Alberta Corporation
Method of Registration: ~ Amalgamation

Registration Date: 2019/04/09 YYYY/MM/DD

Registered Office:

Street: 4300 BANKERS HALL WEST, 888 - 3RD STREET S.W.
City: CALGARY

Province: ALBERTA

Postal Code: T2P5C5

Records Address:

Street: 4300 BANKERS HALL WEST, 888 - 3RD STREET S.W.
City: CALGARY

Province: ALBERTA

Postal Code: T2P5C5

Email Address: ABREMINDERS@STIKEMAN.COM

Primary Agent for Service:

[Last First |Middle| I |[Postal | |
Name ‘ Name Nameif Firm Name ' Street City 3ovmce Code | Email |
CHATWIN [KEITH|[R. ISTIKEMAN||4300 ICALGARY |[ALBERTA[T2P5C5 ABREMINDERS@STIKEMAN.COM|

:ELLIOTT BANKERS| | |
ILLP HALL ‘ |
‘ WEST, 888
-3RD
“ STREET
‘ S.W.

Directors:

Last Name: DIETRICH
First Name: JOSEPH
Street/Box Number: 19 HOOKE ROAD S.W,

City: CALGARY
Province: ALBERTA

about:blank 113

0047



9/23/22, 11:23 AM about:blank
Postal Code: T2V3Ké6

Last Name: MARTIN

First Name: STEPHEN

Street/Box Number: 2221 SOUTH COLUMBINE ST.
City: DENVER

Province: COLORADO

Postal Code: 80210

Last Name: WILSON

First Name: DANIEL

Middle Name: T.

Street/Box Number: 94 ASPEN RIDGE WAY S.W.

City: CALGARY

Province: ALBERTA

Postal Code: T3H5M2

Voting Shareholders:

Legal Entity Name: SUGARBUD CRAFT GROWERS CORP.
Corporate Access Number: 2012323099

Street: 620, 634 - 6TH AVENUE S.W.
City: CALGARY

Province: ALBERTA

Postal Code: T2P0S4

Percent Of Voting Shares: 100

Details From Current Articles:

The information in this legal entity. s table supersedes equivalent electronic attachments
Share Structure: SEE SCHEDULE RE AUTHORIZED SHARES

Share Transfers Restrictions: SEE SCHEDULE RE SHARE TRANSFER RESTRICTIONS

Min Number Of Directors: 1
Max Number Of Directors: 9

Business Restricted To: NONE

Business Restricted From: NONE

Other Provisions: SEE SCHEDULE RE OTHER PROVISIONS
Holding Shares In:

'_|L egal Entity Name

(1800905 ALBERTA LID.

Other Information:
Amalgamation Predecessors:

about:blank

0048
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9/23/22, 11:23 AM about:blank

Corporate Access Number|Legal Entity Name 1

(2020273633 ] 2027363 ALBERTA LTD. |
2021511155 [TRICHOME HOLDINGS CORP.|
Last Annusal Return Filed:

[IFile Year][Date Filed (YYYY/MM/DD)
| 2022|2022/08/22

Filing History:

List Date (YYYY/MM/DD)|Type of Filing ]

2019/04/09 ~ ||Amalgamate Alberta Corporation ;
2020/02/23 Update BN )
2020/02/25 Change Address

2022/08/22 Change Director / Shareholder
12022/08/22 Enter Annual Returns for Alberta and Extra-Provincial Corp.||
Attachments:

Attachment Type [Microfilm Bar Code|[Date Recorded (YYYY/MM/DD)|
|Share Struc [ELECTRONIC ___ |[2019/04/09
|Restrictions on Share Transfers[ELECTRONIC 2019/04/09 B
Other Rules or Provisions ||[ELECTRONIC 2019/04/09 |
Statutory Declaration [10000407124660664 ||2019/04/09 I

The Registrar of Corporations certifies that, as of the date of this search, the above information is an accurate reproduction of
data contained in the official public records of Corporate Registry.

about:blank
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THIS IS EXHIBIT “E” TO THE
AFFIDAVIT OF DANIEL T. WILSON
SWORN BEFORE ME AT CALGARY, ALBERTA,
This 26t" day of September 2022

A Commissioner for Oaths in and for the Province of Alberta

Kyle R. Smith
Barrister & Solicitor
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9/23/22, 11:24 AM about:blank

Government Corporation/Non-Profit Search
of Alberta ® Corporate Registration System

Date of Search: 2022/09/23
Time of Search: 11:24 AM
Search provided by: MLT AIKINS LLP (CALGARY)

Service Request Number: 38338900
Customer Reference Number: 0158011.00001

Corporate Access Number: 2018009056
Business Number: 825009392
Legal Entity Name: 1800905 ALBERTA LTD.

Legal Entity Status: Active
Alberta Corporation Type: Numbered Alberta Corporation
Registration Date: 2014/02/06 YYYY/MM/DD

Registered Offlce:
Street: 4300 BANKERS HALL WEST, 888 - 3RD STREET S.W.

City: CALGARY

Province: ALBERTA

Postal Code: T2P5CS

Records Address:

Street: 4300 BANKERS HALL WEST, 888 - 3RD STREET S.W.
City: CALGARY

Province: ALBERTA

Postal Code: T2P5C5

Email Address: ABREMINDERS@STIKEMAN.COM

Primary Agent for Service:

i;:;‘w ‘g‘::;e ;’;g:’:el Firm Name (Street  [City [Province ig‘)’;:] Email
|[CHATWIN|[KEITH|R. STIKEMAN 4300 CALGARY ALBERTAT T2P5C5||ABREMINDERS@STIKEMAN.COM
ELLIOTT H BANKERS { ‘

" LLP HALL }

WEST, 888
V -3RD ~

STREET

i S.W. ,
Directors:
Last Name: DIETRICH
First Name: JOSEPH
Street/Box Number: 19 HOOKE ROAD S.W.
City: CALGARY
Province: ALBERTA
Postal Code: T2V3K6
about:blank 113
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9/23/22, 11:24 AM about:blank

Last Name: MARTIN

First Name: STEPHEN

Street/Box Number: 2221 SOUTH COLUMBINE ST.
City: DENVER

Province: COLORADO

Postal Code: 80210

Last Name: WILSON

First Name: DANIEL

Middle Name: T.

Street/Box Number: 94 ASPEN RIDGE WAY S.W.
City: CALGARY

Province: ALBERTA

Postal Code: T3H5M2

Voting Shareholders:

Legal Entity Name: TRICHOME HOLDINGS CORP.
Corporate Access Number: 2021854514

Street: 320, 700 - 4 AVENUE SW
City: CALGARY

Province: ALBERTA

Postal Code: T2P3J4

Percent Of Voting Shares: 100

Details From Current Articles:

The information in this legal entity table supersedes e quivalent electronic attachments

Share SEE SCHEDULE "A"
Structure:
Share NO SHARES IN THE CAPITAL OF THE CORPORATION SHALL BE TRANSFERRED WITHOUT THE

Transfers EXPRESS CONSENT OF A MAJORITY OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS TO BE SIGNIFIED BY A

Restrictions: RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS.
Min

Number Of 1
Directors:

Max

Number Of 9
Directors:

Business

Restricted NONE
To:

Buasiness

Restricted NONE
From:

Other -
Provisions: SEE SCHEDULE "B

about:blank

23
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8/23/22, 11:24 AM about:blank
Other Information:

Last Annual Return Filed:

File Year|[Date Filed (YYYY/MM/DD)|
2022/{2022/08/22

Filing History:

[List Date (YYYY/MM/DD)|[Type of Filing 7 )
|[2014/02/06 Incorporate Alberta Corporation

2020/02/21 _ ||Update BN

2020/02/25 [Change Address

2022/08/22 |Enter Annual Returns for Alberta and Extra-Provincial Corp.
[2022/08/22 |[Change Director / Sharcholder |
Attachments:

Attachment Type [Microfilm Bar Code||Date Recorded (YYYY/MM/DD)

Share Structure [ELECTRONIC 2014/02/06

[Other Rules or Provisions[ELECTRONIC ___|[2014/02/06

The Registrar of Corporations certifies that, as of the date of this search, the above information is an accurate reproduction of
data contained in the official public records of Corporate Registry.

about:blank
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THIS IS EXHIBIT “F” TO THE
AFFIDAVIT OF DANIEL T. WILSON
SWORN BEFORE ME AT CALGARY, ALBERTA,
This 26t day of September 2022

——

A Commissionerfor Oaths in and for the Province of Alberta

Kyle R. Smith
Barrister & Solicitor
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Canada Revenue Agence du revenu
Agency du Canada

September 26, 2019

Tara Johnson-Ouellette
1800905 Alberta Ltd.

620 — 634 6th Avenue SW
Calgary AB T2P 0S4
Dear Tara Johnson-Ouellette:

RE: Issuance of Cannabis Licence under the Excise Act, 2001

As all conditions for licence issuance have now been met, your application for a cannabis
licence under the Excise Act, 2001 (Act) has been approved effective September 26, 2019.

Cannabis licence number
The following licence number should be recorded on all correspondence with the CRA:

82500 9392 RD0001

Each of the physical business locations included in the licence application has been
provided with a separate account number as follows:

| Account
Location | Identifier | Account Type Premises Address
1 RD0001 Filing | 5822-52 Street, Stavely AB TOL 120

Acknowledgement of Security

We acknowledge receipt of the required security in the form of certified cheque and the
amount of $5,000 (five thousand dollars).

Renewal of Cannabis Licence

Information related to renewing a cannabis licence is provided in Excise Duty Notice
EDNS52, Obtaining and Renewing a Cannabis Licence. Subject to meeting the
requirements for maintaining a cannabis licence, the licence will remain in effect for the
period specified in the licence.

The expiry date for your licence will be September 25, 2021. In order to renew the
cannabis licence, a completed Form L300, Cannabis Licence Application must be
submitted to your regional office not later than 30 days before the expiry date.

Canada

R350 E {08)
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Obligations of a Cannabis Licensee

Changes to Information

The CRA must be informed of any changes to the name, legal entity, business or mailing
address, location of books and records or changes to any other information provided in
the licence application form. The CRA must also be informed if your business/operations
have been discontinued or sold.

Books and Records

All cannabis licensees are required to maintain adequate books and records and provide
access to those books and records to excise officers. Denied access to books and records
or the licensed premises could result in a suspension or the cancellation of a cannabis
licence.

Filing_of Returns

A form B300, Cannabis Duty and Information Return for each filimg division under your
cannabis licence must be filed for each calendar month whether or not any duty is
payable. Your returns are due atthe end of the month following the calendar month for
the production being reported.

Electronic filing of the monthly B300 Cannabis Duty and Information Return, the B301
Application for a Refund of Cannabis Duty, as well as other account information, such as
account transactions and balances, licence status and account maintenance activities, is
available atcanada.ca/my-cra-business-account. Electronic filing of returns provides
immediate confirmation that your retum has been received by the CRA. Enrollment can
be completed online, and further information is available at canada.ca/my-cra-business-
account or by phone at 1-800-959-5525..

Monthly excise cannabis returns may also be printed from our website at
canada.ca/cannabis-excise so that they may be completed and submitted by mail. Please
note that should a return and any payment due not be filed or received within the time
limits, penalty and interest charges may be applied in accordance with the Act.

Outreach Visit

Unless an outreach visit has already been conducted, an excise duty officer may contact
you in the near future to arrange a site visit. The purpose of the outreach visit Is to
provide you with more information regarding the excise duties on cannabis products,
inchuding the calculation of excise duties on cannabis products. For more information,
please visit our web page canada.ca/cannabis-excise, which includes links to relevant
publications and regulations.

Canadi —_—
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Further Approvals

Destruction_of cannabis product

During the review of the cannabis licence application, we also considered your request for
approval of a method of destruction under the Act. Pursuant to section 158.16 of the Act,
a cannabis licensee may re-work or destroy a cannabis product in the manner authorized
by the Minister of National Revenue (Minister). Your request has been approved. Please
see attached Appendix A for more information. If this approved method of destruction
changes, a request in writing must be submitted to the Regional Manager of Excise Duty,
and approval must be obtained prior to any destruction using the new, unapproved
method.

As per section 187.1 of the Act, the Minister may refund to a cannabis licensee the duty
paid on a cannabis product that is re-worked or destroyed by the cannabis licensee in
accordance with section 158.16 if the licensee applies for the refund within two years
afier the cannabis product is re-worked or destroyed.

Subparagraph 158.3(a)(iv)of the Act provides that duty is not payable on a cannabis
product that is destroyed by the cannabis licensee in a manner approved by the Minister.

Cannabis product taken for analysis

We also reviewed your request for approval of a method of taking cannabis products for
analysis under the Act. Pursuant to subparagraph 158.3(a)(iii), duty is not payable on a
cannabis product that is taken for analysis by a cannabis licensee in a manner approved
by the Minister. Your request has been approved. Please see attached Appendix B for
more information. If this approved method of taking a cannabis product for analysis
changes, a request must be submitted in writing to the Regional Manager of Excise Duty,
and approval must be obtained prior to any cannabis being taken for analysis using the
new method.

Canada
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Should you have any questions or require clarification regarding the above information,
please do not hesitate to contact Vadim Balaboskin at204-984-4330. For general

information regarding the excise duty on cannabis products please go to
canada.ca/cannabis-excise. To request a ruling or interpretation or make a technical
enquiry on cannabis excise duty, please call 1-866-330-3304 or email

cannabis(@cra-arc.gc.ca.

Sincerely,

C)/%ﬁyw&

Laura MacBride

Prairies Regional Manager

Excise Duty and Taxes

Legislative Policy and Regulatory Affairs Branch

Canada
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Appendix A

Request for approval of method of destruction

During the review of your cannabis licence application, we also considered your request
for approval of a method of destruction under the Act. Pursuant to section 158.16, a
cannabis licensee may re-work or destroy a cannabis product in the manner authorized by
the Minister. Subparagraph 158.3(a)(iv) also states that duty is not payable on a cannabis
product that is destroyed by a cannabis licensee in a manner approved by the Minister.

Based on the information that you provided, we understand the following:

e The location of the destruction will be at 5822-52 Street, Stavely AB TOL 1Z0;

e The method of destruction will be to place the material into the Rotating Drum
Bio-Mass Composter. Composted cannabis material will become denatured after
about 7 days and the addition of wood chips/ saw dust to adjust the C:N ratio
around 30:1. Continue to add material into the front of the composter until the
rotating auger moves the material to the end of the composter. Atthis point the
material is inert/denatured and can be disposed of or sold as compost.

o The method will be ongoing; and

e The controls in place will be:

1) Cannabis will be destroyed on site and will take place in the designated
destruction room (Composter Room).

2) Cannabis designated for destruction cannot be removed from the assigned area
unless authorized by the Responsible Person in Charge (RPIC) or Alternate
Person in Charge(A/RPIC)

3) Allocate special green waste bins with lids in the production area for cannabis
designated as waste, Cannabis waste is collected in compostable bags. Each
compostable bag containing waste is weighed and labeled as waste must be
destroyed, within the label specifying the Batch, strain name, date and weight
along with the Destruction tag. Overal,, the total weight of cannabis waste
from the batch must be recorded in ‘SYSTEM OF RECORD - SEED-TO-
SALE’ module.

4) The Technicians will use the ‘SYSTEM-OF-RECORD —FINANCIAL
MNGT’ module to acceptand mark complete any assigned Destruction work.
The Technicians will use the ‘SYSTEM-OF-RECORD - SEED-TO-SALE’
module for all batch, plant management and destruction (as required) records.

5) Complete the TAG-000003 — ‘Destruction Tag’ and LBL-000001 — “Waste
Identification Label'. Ensure the employee collecting the waste initials and
date both labels. Affix the tag and label to the compostable bags which are to
be stored in green bins with lids until further instructions.

You also indicated that you will maintain the following records: SYSTEM OF RECORD -
SEED-TO-SALE’ module.

0059



Based on the information provided, we have determined that the outlined steps would be
sufficient to grant authorization to destroy cannabis products under the following
conditions (these conditions would apply to any cannabis products in your possession):

o Adequate records and information, including the date of destruction, type and
quantity of cannabis products being destroyed, etc. must be kept/maintained;

o Once the destruction is complete, create a record/certificate of destruction, which
should accompany any refund claims submitted for the destruction of duty-paid
products;

o All records for the destruction must be maintained at 620 — 634 6th Avenue SW
Calgary AB T2P 084; and

o All records should be mamtained for 6 years

Although we reserve the right to be present during any destruction, mandatory
notification and witnessing of destruction is not required for regular, routine destruction,
However, unusual destruction or the destruction of packaged goods returned from a
purchaser are required to be reported and may require witnessing of the destruction by an
officer.

Canada I
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Appendix B

Request for approval of a method of taking cannabis products for analysis

In addition to the review of your cannabis licence application, we considered your request
for approval of a method of taking for analysis under the Act. Pursuant to subparagraph
158.3(a)(iii), duty is not payable on a cannabis product that is taken for analysis by a
cannabis licensee in a manner approved by the Minister.

Based on the information provided, we understand the following:

o The analysis will be conducted at 5822-52 Street, Stavely AB TOL 120 and an
off-site facility such as a third-party laboratory;

o The method of analysis will be to ensure that test samples from all lots of
cannabis products produced or received are collected, retained and sent to a third-
party laboratory and tested against the pre-determined Finished Product
Specifications and Certificate of Analysis (FPSCOA)to determine whether the
produced lot meets the pre-determined specifications prior to release for
distribution and to ensure that adequate retention (reserve) samples of all batch of
cannabis products are collected and retained.;

The method will be ongoing; and

The controls in place will be:

1) The Quality Assurance Person (QAP)or Alternate will be responsible to
review batch data and ensure the materialproduct complies with all internal
and regulatory policies. It is the responsibility of the QAP to review the batch
data prior to approval; oversee and ensure that all aspects of Batch Testing are
scheduled, completed, posted and signed off. The QAP is responsible to verify
lab test results.

2) The Master Cultivator is responsible for planning batch sample testing work
orders to cultivation personnel, oversee the quality, compliance and efficiency
of all Batch Testing and Retention actions, and post activities when
completed.

3) The Master Cultivator will use the ‘SYSTEM-OF-RECORD - FINANCIAL
MNGT’ module to plan, assign and post Batch Sample work. The Master
Cultivator will use the *SYSTEM-OF-RECORD — SEED-TO-SALE’ module
for all batch, plant management and destruction (as required) records.

4) Test (Representative) Sample: 15 grams (or millilitres) of randomly selected
cannabis product packaged in the approved primary container used to fill
customer orders. Test samples are to be taken from each batch of produced.

5) Retention (Reserve) Sample: 15 grams (or millilitres) of randomly selected
cannabis product in the approved primary container used to fill customer
orders. Retention samples of each batch produced or received must be retained
for no less than two years after the date of the last sale or provision of any
portion of the lot or batch retention samples must be held under ordinary
conditions (i.e. ambient / room temperature).
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6) Once the lot is sampled, the remaining product packaged in the bulk product
container(s) will be placed back into the quarantine area within the secured
storage area. Fill in and attach a TAG-000001 - ‘Quarantine Tag’ to each tote.
Refer to Procedure — PRC-QA-000026 - 'Batch Approval or Rejection’ for
further details on finished product evaluation prior to release.

Please note that if the analysis will be conducted off-site by a third party, the
intermediary testing facility will require authorization from Health Canada.

Based on the information provided, we have determined that the outlined steps would be
sufficient to grant authorization for taking cannabis products for analysis under the
following conditions (these conditions would apply to any cannabis product in your
possession):

e You must keep adequate records and information including the date taken for
analysis, type and quantity of cannabis products taken, etc.;

o All records for the cannabis taken for analysis must be maintained at 620 — 634
6th Avenue SW
Calgary AB T2P 084; and

o All records should be maintained for 6 years

Canada _—
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Licence No. - N° de licence
LIC-4LSWAF93BR-2022

LICENCE

This llcence is issued in accordance with the Cannabis Act and
Cannabis Regulations

PROTECTED B/ PROTEGE B

LICENCE

Cette licence est délivrée conformément & la Lo/ sur le cannabis et
le Régiement sur le cannabis

Licence Holder / Titulaire de la licence :
1800805 Alberta Lid. d.b.a. sugarbud

Licensed Site / Lieu autorisé :
5822 52ND STREET
STAVELY, AB, CANADA, ToL 1ZD

The above-mentioned person is authorized to conduct, at the
site specified on this licence, the activilies listed below for the
following llcence classes and subclasses.

Standard Cultivation

La personne susmentionnée est autorisée a effectuer, sur e site
specifié sur catte licence, les activités énumérées ci-dessous pour
les calégories et les sous-catégaries de licence suivantes.

Culture standard

Activities

Activités

e Topossess cannabis

To oblain dried cannabis, fresh cannabis, cannabis plants or
cannabis plant seeds by cultiveting, propagating and harvesting
| cannabis

For the purposes of testing, to obtain cannabis by altering Its
chemical or physical properties by any means

To sell cannabis in accordance with subsection 11(5) of the
Cannebis Regulations

» Avolr du cannabis en sa possession

s Obtenir du cannabis séché, du cannabis frais, des plantes de
cannabis ou des graines provenant de telles plantes par la
culture, la multiplication et la récolte de cannabis

Afin d'effectuer des essais sur du cannabis, obtenir du
cannabis par ['altération, par tout moyen, de ses propriétés
physiques ou chimiques

Vendre du cannabis en vertu du paragraphe 11(5) du

- Réglement sur le cannabis
“Conditions Conditions

“The licence holder must meet the requirements set out in the
Health Canada document entitied “Mandatory cannabis festing for
pesticide active ingredients - Requirements”.

Le titulaire de |z licence doit respecter les exigences énoncées
dans |e document de Santé Canada intitulé « Analyse obligafoire
du cannabis pour les résidus de principes aclifs de pesticides-

Exigences ».

Standard Processing

Transformation standard

Activities

Activités

« To possess cannzbis

« To produce cannabis, other than obtain it by cultivating,
propagating or harvesting it

« To sell cannabis in accordance with subsection 17(5) of the
Cannabis Regulations

« Avoir du cannabis en sa possession

Produire du cannabis, sauf en I'obtenant par la culture, la
multiplication et la récolte

Vendre du cannabis en vertu du paragraphe 17(5) du

Réglement sur le cannabis

Conditlons

Conditions

“The licence halder must meet the requirements set out in the
Health Canads document entitled “Mandatory cannabis testing for
pesticide aclive ingredients - Requiremenis”.

Le titulzire de Ia licence dait respecler les exigences énoncées
dans le document de Santé Canada intitulé « Analyse obligatoire
du cannabis pour les résidus de principes actifs de pesticides-
Exigences ».

The anly cannabis products that the licance holder may sell or
distribute to (i) & holder of a licence for sale, and (i) @ person that
is authorizer undar a provinrial Act refarrad 1o in subsection 88(1)
of the Act to sell cannebis, are as follows: cannabis plants;
cannabis plant seeds; dried cannabis; fresh cannabis; cannabis
topicals; cannabie extracts; and edible cannabis.

Les seuls produits du cannabis que I titulaire de la licence peut
vendre ou distribuer (i) & un titulsire d ‘'une licence de vente et (i)
& une personne aulorisée sous le régime d'une lof provinciale
visée au paragraphe 69(1) de |a Lol & vendre du cannabis sont
les sulvants ! planies de cannabls; graines provenant d 'une
plante de cannabis; cannabis séché; cannabis frais; cannabls

pour usage topique; extrait de cannabis; et cannabis comestible.

et and Cannabis Branch

Acting Director, Licendng and Secunty, C

Directeur par intérim, Licences et sécurité, Direction générale des substences contrblées et du cannabis
Canada
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PROTECTED B /PROTEGE B

Conditions

Conditions

The only cannabis products that the licence holder may send or
dellver to the purchaser at the request of () a holder of a licence
for sale, and (i) 8 person that is authorized under a provincial Act
referred fo in subsection 68(1) of the Act to sell cannabis, are as
follows: cannabis plants; cannabis plant seeds; dried cannabis;
fresh cannabis; cannabis topicals; cannabis exiracts; and edible
cannabis.

Les seuls produits du cannabis que le fitulaire de le licence psut
expédier ou livrer & |'acheteur & la demande (i) d'un titulaire
d'une licence de vente et (i) dune personne autorisée sous le
régime d'une loi provinciale visée au paragraphe 68(1) de Ia Loi
2 vendre du cannabls sont les suivants : plantes de cannabis;
gralnes provenant d'une plante de cannabis; cannabis séché;
cannabis frais; cannabls pour usage topique; extrait de cannabis;
et cannabis comestible.

Sale for Medical Purposes

Vente & des fing médicales

Activities

Activités

« To possess cannabis
« To sell cannabis products [n accordance with section 27 and
Part 14. Division 1 of the Cannabis Regulations

» Avair du cannabis en sa possession
s Vendre des produits du cannabis en vertu de l'article 27 et la
seciion 1 de la partie 14 du Réglement sur le cannabis

Conditions

Conditions

N/A

nd

Indoor Area(s) [ Zone(s) intérieure(s)

The possession of cannabis and the other activities mentioned above are authorized in the following building(s) / La possession de
cannsbis et les autre activités mentionnées ci-haut sont autorisées dans les batiment(s) sulvant(s) :

Building 1

Effective date of the licence:

This licence is effective ae of July 25, 2022

Expiry date of the licence:
This licence expires on July 25, 2027

Date d'entrée en vigueur de [a licenca:

Cette licence entre en vigueur & compter du 25 Julllet 2022

Date d'expiration de la licence:

La présente licence expire le 25 julllet 2027

Acling Director, Licancing and Security, Controlled

1ces énd Cannabis Branch

Directeur par intérim, Licences et sécurité, Direction générale dee substences contréléen ot du cannabis

Canada
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THIS IS EXHIBIT “G” TO THE
AFFIDAVIT OF DANIEL T. WILSON
SWORN BEFORE ME AT CALGARY, ALBERTA,
This 26t" day of September 2022

A Commissioner for Oaths in and for the Province of Alberta

Kyle R. Smith
Batrister & Solicitor
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District of: Alberta

Division No. 02 - Calgary
Court No.
Estate No.
-FORM 33 -
Notice of intentlon To Make a Proposal
(Subsection 50.4(1) of the Act)
Take notice that:

1. 1, SugarBud Craft Growers Corp., an insolvant persen, state, pursuant to subsection 50.4(1) of the Act, that | intend to make a
proposal to my creditors.

2 Alvarez & Marsal Canada Inc. of Bow Valley Square 4, Suite 1110, 250 6th Ave SW, Calgary, AB, T2P 3H7, a licensed trustee,
has consented to act as trustee under the proposal. A copy of the consent is attached.

3. Alist of the names of the known creditors with claims of $250 or more and the amounts of their claims is also attached.

4. Pursuant to section 69 of the Act, all proceedings against me are stayed as of the date of filing of this notice with the official
receiver in my locality.

Dated at the city of Calgary in the Province of Alberta, this 26th day of September 2022.

Qo WMo

SugarBud Craft Growers Corp.

Insolvent Person

To be completed by Official Receiver:

Filing Date Official Receiver

Page 10f 11
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District of: Alberta

Division No. 02 - Calgary
Court No.
Estate No.
-FORM 33 -
Notice of Intention To Make a Proposal
{Subsection 50.4(1) of the Act)
List of Creditors with claims of $250 or more.
Creditor Address Account# Claim Amount
1928248 Alberta Inc. Unknown 8,584.00
Unknown AB A1A 282
3SIXTY SECURE CORP 24 McDonald St. 36,653.39
Smilths Falls ON K7A 5L5
A & L CANADA 2136 Jetstream Road 548.10
LABORATORIES London ON N5V 3P5
ACKLANDS GRAINGER 4340 Manhatian Rd SE 380.73
Calgary AB T2G 4B2
Alberta Securities | Suite 600, 250 5TH ST SW 1,000.00
Commission Calgary AB T2P OR4
ALCHEMY TRAINING 5301 Riata Park Court, Building F, Suite 100 4,594 51
TECHNOLOGIES INC. Austin TX 78727 United States
All Kind Door Services Ltd. 1455-34 Avenue SE 6,847.15
Calgary AB T2G 4Y1
ALTUS GROUP LIMITED 2020 4th Strest SW Suite 310 3,025.00
Calgary AB T28 1W3
AMPLE ORGANICS INC. 290 Caldari Rd, Unit 2015A 3.820.00
Vaughan ON L4K 4J4
AQUATECH PLUMBING & PO Box 764 267.75
HEATING LTD. Forl Macleod AB TOL 020
ARTHUR J GALLAGHER Lockbox #C9582C 39,461.84
CANADA LIMITED P.O. Box 9582, Station M
Calgary AB T2P 5L8
AVANTOR 2360 Argentia Rd 44749
Mississauga ON L5N 527
B&B ENERGY SERVICES PO Box 399, 5601 52nd Street 283.50
LTD. Stavely AB TOL 120
BEQAA VENTURA INC. 19 Hooke Road SW 5971.15
Calgary AB T2V 3K6
BIOBEST CANADA LTD 2020 Fox Run Road 1,428.42
Leamington ON N8H 3v7
Boomer Logistics 115 Miranda Avenue 8,553.51
York ON M6B 3W8
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District of: Alberta

Division No. 02 - Calgary
Court No.
Estate No.
-FORM 33 -
Notice of Intention To Make a Proposal
{Subsection 50.4(1) of the Act)
List of Creditors with claims of $250 or more.
Creditor Address Account# Claim Amount
BS| ENTROPY SOFTWARE C/O TH1056 10,395.00
PO Box 4283 Station A
Toronto ON M5W 5W6
BUGLE FORKLIFT SALES & 105, 4319-72 Avenue SE 1,916.36
RENTAL LTD. Calgary AB T2C 3H3
CALTRONICS 4410-50th Ave. S.E 378,00
COMMUNICATIONS Calgary AB T2B 3R4
CANADA LIFE (FORMERLY 100 Osborne StN 94,101.83
GWL) Winnipeg MB R3C 1V3
Canna Supplies / 77 Union Street 4,303.62
‘Consolidated Bottle Toronfo ON MBN 3N2
| CannaGresn Packaging 2927 Kingsview Blved SE 8,423.30
Airdrie AB T4A 0C9
| CARO Analytlcal Services #110 4011 Viking Way 6,556.60
Richmond BC VBV 2K8
Cattlemen's Comer PO Box 1090 490.28
| Nanton AB TOL 1R0
| CDS CLEARING & 100 Adelaide St W, Suite 300 2,362.50
DEPOSITORY SERVICES Toronto ON M5H 1583
|InC.
| cow caNADA 5735 7St NE #300 1,509.83
Calgary AB T2E 8W6
‘ CERIDIAN CANADA LTD. 242 Hargrave St, 3rd Floor 10,189.52
‘ Winnipeg MB R3C 0T8
Chris Moulsen 303 13 Strest NW 183,333.28
Calgary AB T2N 123
CINTAS 1235 23rd Ave. SE 10,918.55
Calgary AB T2G 585
CIP OFFICE TECHNOLOGY 940a-11 Avenue SW 1,717.35
Caigary AB T2R OE7
ClearLeaf Inc. 2107 - 1001 Homer St 7.875.00
Vancouver BC V6B 1M9
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District of: Alberta
Division No. 02 - Calgary
Court No.
Estate No.
-FORM 33 -
Natice of Intention To Make a Proposal
(Subsection 50.4(1) of the Act)
List of Creditors with claims of $250 or more.
Creditor Addrass Accounti# Claim Amount
CNW RBC WATERPARK PLACE 8,550.48
SUITE 3000, 88 QUEENS QUAY WEST
Toronto ON M5J 0B8
COMPUTERSHARE TRUST BOO, 324 8th Ave SW 25,801.97
COMPANY OF CANADA Calgary AB T2P 222
Connect First Credit Unian 200 2850 Sunridge Blvd NE 7,829,696.12
Calgary AB T1Y 6G2
Connected Supply Chain #110-302 Beaver Lake Road 43,021.33
Solutions Ltd. Kelowna BC V4V 185
Convertible Debentures - 800, 324 8th Ave SW £§30,834.00
Public Offering (cfo Calgary AB T2P 222
ComputerShare)
CROSSROAD ENERGY Bay#1-137 Columbia Drive, Box 2588 25,703.72
SOLUTIONS INC, Claresholm AB TOL 0TO
Culligan of Lethbridge 32191 Ave, S 320.00
Lethbridge AB T1J 4H1
DA ELECTRIC 220 31 Street North 5,969.19
Lefhbridge AB T1H 3Z3
DANIEL WILSON 3103 7030 Coach Hill Road SW 75,000.00
Calgary AB T3H 1E4
DBK Engineering Lid Unit 1, 5608 1 Street SE 6,699.00
‘ Calgary AB T2H 2W2
DCM 9185 Torbram Rd 32,579.97
Bramptan ON L6S 6H2
| DEE JAY HARDWARE LTD. 118-50th Avenue, West, Box 998 3.201.21
w Claresholm AB TOL 0T0
DELROSE MOYER Box 299 2,100.00
Stavely AB TOL 120
Desna Controls & Weighing :‘ 412 Manitou Road SE 658.35
Inc. | Calgary AB T2G 4C4
DISPLAY DYNAMIC #15, 777 - B4TH AVE SE 756.00
Calgary AB T2H 2C3
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District of: Alberta

Division No. 02 - Calgary
Court No.
Estate No.
-FORM 33 -
Notice of Intention To Make a Proposal
(Subsection 50.4(1) of the Act)
List of Creditors with claims of $250 or more.
Creditor Address Accounts# Claim Amount
DONNELLEY FINANCIAL 525 8th Ave SW 3,760.51
SOLUTIONS CANADA Calgary AB T2P 1G1
CORPORATION
DUMP GUMP INC. Po Box 427 5,634.35
Stavely AB TOL 120

ECOLAB 5105 Tomken Road 1,530.90
Mississauga ON L4W 2X5

EMC Execulive Markketing 19073 63 AVE 3,184.66

Consultants Inc Surrey BC V3S 8G7

EMCO CORPORATION Bay C-4415 72 Ave SE 1,209.32
Calgary AB T2C 2G5

ENVIRONMENTAL 360 Pa Box 64028 82842

SOLUTIONS Calgary AB T2K 6J1

EPAC FLEXIBLE 1750 Coast Meridian Rd, Unit 101 11,360.16

PACKAGING Port Coquitlam BC V3C 6R8

EPCOR PO Box 500 82,091.22
Edmonton AB T5J 3Y3

FIRST CALGARY 2720-700 9th Ave SW 65,883.60

| MASTERCARD Calgary AB T2P 3v4

FIRST CALGARY #450, 110-9TH AVE SW 8,809.15

MASTERCARD Calgary AB T2P 0T1

FLIPP ADVERTISING INC. Suite 630 - 602, 12th Ave SW 7,701.05
Calgary AB T2R 1J3

FOUR ZERO FOUR PO Box 351 288,59

REFRIGERATION & HVAGC Champion AB TOL ORO

SERVICES

G.T Electrical Lid. PO Box 523 1,029.00
Stavely AB TOL 120

Global Governance Advisors 10th Floor Bankers Hall, West Tower 262.50
88 3rd St SW
Calgary AB T2P 5C5

GLOBAL INDUSTRIAL 110-35 Staples Avenue 17,632.60

CANADA Richmond ON L4B 4W6
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District of: Alberta

Division No. 02 - Calgary
Court No.
Estate No.
- FORM 33 -
Notice of Intention To Make a Proposal
(Subsection 50.4(1) of the Act)
List of Creditors with claims of $250 or more.
Creditor Address Account# Claim Amount
Grand HVAC Leasing 3430 South Service Rd, Suite 200 259,323.69
Burlington ON L7N 3T8
GRODAN/ROCKWOOL NA 8024 Esquesing Line 13,036.24
Milton ON L9T 6W3
GS1 CANADA 1500 Don Mills Road Suite 800 1,575.00
Toronto ON M3B 3K4
‘ HAWTHORNE CANADA LTD 2468 192nd Streat, Units 104-106 4,269.24
Surrey BC V38 3X1
| HOMEWOOD HEALTH INC. Suite 500, 1050 West Pender St 567.00
Vancouver BC V6E 357
HORTI INTERNATIONAL 31471 Ponderosa Place 824.25
SERVICES LTD Abbotsford BC V2T 5G3
HUDSON ENERGY CX2516C PO Box 2591 Station M 117,992.24
Calgary AB T2P 0A3
HUSKY LANDSCAPE B0 Esna Park Dr Ste 19 493.50
\ Markham ON L3R 2R6
Hygiena Canada Limited 2650 Meadowvale Boulevard(Unit 14) 11,072.30
Mississauga ON L5N 6M5
1AN MILLER | Suite 1110501 South Cherry Strest 62,102.90
Denver CO 80246 United States
|deon Packaging 11251 Dyke Road 13,360.64
| Richmond BC V7A 0A1
IMPAK Corporation | 137008 Broadway 498.97
| Los Angeles CA 90061 United States
INNOVATION, SCIENCE & 220 4th Avenue SE, Suite 478 502.80
ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT ‘ Calgary AB T2G 4X3
CANADA
INTRADQ DIGITAL MEDIA 155 University Ave Sulte 1100 10,449.60
CANADA, INC. Toronto ON M5H 3B7
ISOLOCITY 5-200 Green Lane East, Sulte 303 525.00
East Gwillimbury ON L9N 0Z7
ITG {Independant Trading 370 King St. W. Suite 701 45,000.00
Group) Toranto ON M5V 1J9
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District of: Alberta

Division No. 02 - Calgary
Court No.
Estate No.
-FORM 33 -
Notice of Intention To Make a Proposal
{Subsection 50.4(1) of the Act)
List of Creditors with claims of $250 or more.
Creditor Address Account# Claim Amount
ITM Instruments Inc. 4615 112 Ave SE #209 645.02
Calgary AB T2C 5J3
JANICE COMEAU 1010 456 MOBERLY ROAD 120,000.00
Vancouver BC V5Z 4L7
John Unknown 26,666.64
Unknown AB A1A 2B2
John Kondrosky 435A 12 Ave NE 156,916.65
| Calgary AB T2E 1A7
JOSEPH DIETRICH 18 Hooke Road SW 67,419.36
| Calgary AB T2V 3K6
KPMG LLP Suite 3100 Bow Valley Square [i 339,266.10
205 - 5TH Ave SW
Calgary AB T2P 4B9
Latoplast 1661 Finfar Court 1,421.23
Mississauga ON L5J 4K1
LAUREL HILL ADVISORY 70 Unlversity Ave Sulte 1440 34,830.60
GROUP COMPANY | Toronto ON M5J 2M4
LINDE ( PRAXAIR) PO Box 2531 STN M 6,556.89
| Calgary AB T2P 0S6
LLOYD SADD INSURANCE | 521-3Ave SW, Unit 350 42,349.99
BROKERS | Calgary AB T2P 3T3
LUCID CANNABIS SK INC ‘ 304-10240 124 Street NW 719.36
Edmonton AB T5N 3W6
MACDONALD & COMPANY 200 - 204 Lambert Street 3,098.82
LAWYERS Whitehourse YT Y1A 124
MCCARTHY TETRAULT LLP Suite 4000, 421-7th Ave SW 450,883.17
Calgary AB T2P 4K9
MCKERCHER LLP #800 - 1801 Hamilton St. 474.60
Regina SK 54P 4B4
MEDIANT 400 Regency Forest Dr, Suite 200 320.34
COMMUNICATIONS INC. Cary NC 27518
MEMORY EXPRESS 3333-34th Avenue NE 3,995.00
Calgary AB T1Y 6H2
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District of:
Division No.
Court No.
Estate No.

Alberta
02 - Calgary

-FORM 33 -
Notice of Intention To Make a Proposal
(Subsection 50.4(1) of the Act)

List of Creditors with claims of $250 or more.

St. Thomas ON N5P 4B5

‘ Creditor Address Account# Claim Amount
|
| METER Group, Inc. USA 2365 NE Hopkins Court 10,397.01
‘ Puliman WA 99163 United States
METTLER TOLEDO 2915 Argentia Road, Unit 6 8,238.83
Mississauga ON L5N BG6 1
MICROSOFT One Microsoft Way 27961 |
Redmond WA 98052-6399 United States
‘ MID-WEST SUPPLY #101, 7211-8 StNE 1,079.40
Calgary AB T2E 8A2
MNP LLP 1500 640 5 Ave SW 3426.25
Calgary AB T2P 3G4
Nanton Water & Soda Ltd. 1915 23rd Street, PO Box 1041 400.00
Nanton AB TOL 1R0
ODYSSEY TRUST 1230-300 5 Ave SW 34,756.21
COMPANY Calgary AB T2P 3C4
ORKIN CANADA 5840 Falbourne St 2,790.90
Mississauga ON L5R 4B5
OTC MARKETS GROUP INC 300 Vesey St. (One North End Ave) 9,677.40
12th Floor
New York NY 10282 United States
PARAGON MECHANICAL Bay 16, 10672-46 St SE 3,360.00
Calgary AB T2C 1G1
PLANET COFFEE COMPANY Bay F 7058 Farrell Road SE 614.60
LTD. Calgary AB T2H 0T2
PUROLATOR INC. PO Box 4800, Sin. Main 3,620.09
Concord ON L4K 0K1
QUALITY WHOLESALE LTD. 7575 North Fraser way 603.75
Burnaby BC V5. 423
RANDY CHOW 212 BEDDINGTON DRIVE NE 27,386.23
CALGARY AB T3K 1K4
Rocky Mountain Mobile Box 11057 Seton PO 1.470.00
Hearing Testing Ltd. Calgary AB T3M 1Y6
ROLLED 24 Laing Bivd 18,645.00
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District of: Alberta

Division No. 02 - Calgary
Court No.
Estate No.
-FORM 33 -
Nofice of Intention To Make a Proposal
(Subsection 50.4(1) of the Act)
List of Creditors with claims of $250 or more.
Creditor Address Account# Claim Amount
SANI MARC / WoodWyant 3030 15th Street NE 2,171.88
Calgary AB T2E 7A3
Saskatchewan Liquor and PO Box 5054, 2500 Victoria Ave 1,500.00
Gaming Authority | Regina SK S4P 3M3
Scott Parker 89 2450 161A Street 22,916.68
Surrey BC V3Z 8K4
SEGRA BIOGENESIS CORP 108-21300 Gordon Way 41,638.25
Richmond BC V&W 1M2
SHAW BUSINESS PO Box 1607, Station M 11,312.75
Calgary AB T2P 2L7
SHAW TOLL SERVICE C/O 1338B - 36 AVENUE N.E. SUITE 222 383.54
IVRNET INC. Calgary AB T2E 6T6
SOUTHERN IRRIGATION 511-41 Strest North 6,042.17
Lethbridge AB T1H 786
Southern Scale Company Inc 4546 141th Street NE 1,237.40
Calgary AB T2E 6T7
SPIFFY INC 592 Richmond St W 4,237.50
Toronto ON M5V 1Y9
Staples Professional C/0 C25043C PO Box 252 STN M 558.81
Calgary AB T2P 1B1
STEPHEN MARTIN 2221 South Columbine Street 120,000.00
| Denver CO 80210 United States
| STIKEMAN ELLIOTT 4300 Bankers Hall West 230,163.67
888 - 3RD ST SW
Calgary AB T2P 5C5
STOCKHOUSE PUBLISHING | Suite 1100 609 West Hastings St. 31,500.00
LTD Vancouver BC V6B4W4
STONHARD 85 Sunray Street 9,502.50
Whitby ON L1N 9C9
STRATUS ELECTRICAL & 4720 -78 Ave SE 608.24
INSTRUMENTATION Calgary AB T2P 0S4
TD WATERHOUSE - TD 505 2 St SW 3,906.26
WATERHOUSE CANADA INC Calgary AB T2P 1N8

Page 9 of 11

0075




District of: Alberta

Division No. 02 - Calgary

Court No.

Estate No.

- FORM 33 -
Notice of intention To Make a Proposal
(Subsection 50.4(1) of the Act)
List of Creditors with claime of $250 or more.
Creditor Address Account# Claim Amount

TELUS PO Box 7575 740,81
Vancouver BC VBB 8NS

Thompson Dorfman 242 Hargrave Street, Suite 1700 1,610.67

Sweatman Winnipeg MB R3C 0V1

Trevor Gerelus | PO Box 521 36,401.88
Stavely AB TOL 120

TSX VENTURE EXCHANGE Telus Sky Bullding Suite 2110, 685 Centre St SW 6,630.75
Calgary AB T2G 185

UNIFIRST 5702 60TH STREET 29,553.67
Taber AB T1G 283

UNIVAR 9800 Van Horne Way 483,33
Richmond BC V6X 1W5

Velvet Management Inc. 1100 Avenue Atwater - Suite 2000 146,947 .34
Westmount QC H3Z 2Y4

Victor El-Araj | 1431 16 Strest NE 5,833.33
Calgary AB T2E 457

VWR Intarnational 2360 Argentia Rd 44749
Mississauga ON L&N 5Z7

WE SHARE SUPPLY 425 Herbert St 9,617.07

SERVICES Gananque ON K7G 1R2

Wastern Generator Safes & 3 East Lake Way NE 4,292.50

Rentals Airdrie AB T4A 2J4

Workers' Compsensation 9912 107 Strest 10,324.83

Board Alberla Edmenton AB T6K 1G5

XEROX CANADA LTD. 5616 B0 Ave SE 459.63
Calgary AB T2C 4N5

Y'S IT CONSULTING INC. 89 Simcoe Circle SW 1,198.65
Calgary AB T3H 455

ZUNICH CAPITAL CORP. 711-50TH AVE SW 105,000.00
Calgary AB T28 1H7

Total 12,439,558.94

Page 10 of 11
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District of: Alberta
Divigion No. 02 - Calgary
Court No.

Estate No.
-FORM 33 -

Notice of Intention To Make a Proposal
(Subssction 50.4(1) of the Act)

Oa & Laon

SugarBud Craft Growers Corp. )
Insolvent Person
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District of; Alberta

Division No. 02 - Calgary
Court No.
Estate No.
-FORM 33 -
Notice of Intention To Make a Proposal
(Subsection 50.4(1) of the Act)
Take notice that:

1. 1, 1800905 Alberta Ltd., an insolvent person, state, pursuant to subsection 50.4(1) of the Act, that | intend to make a proposal to
my creditors.

2. Alvarez & Marsal Canada Inc. of Bow Valley Square 4, Suite 1110, 250 6th Ave SW, Calgary, AB, T2P 3H7, a licensed trustes,
has consented to act as trustee under the proposal. A copy of the consent is attached.

3. A list of the names of the known creditors with claims of $250 or more and the amounts of their claims is also attached.

4. Pursuant to section 69 of the Act, all proceedings against me are stayed as of the date of filing of this notice with the official
receiver in my locality.

Dated at the city of Calgary in the Province of Alberta, this 26th day of September 2022.

Q& “Jaj‘"'

1800905 Alberta Ltd.
Insolvent Person
To be completed by Official Receiver:
Filing Date Official Receiver

Page 1 of 2
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District of: Alberta
Division No. 02 - Calgary
Court No.
Estate No.
-FORM 33 -
Notice of Intention To Make a Proposal
(Subsaction 50.4(1) of the Act)
List of Craditors with claims of $250 or more.
Creditor Address Account# Claim Amount

CANADA REVENUE 275 Pope Road 1,098,932.48
AGENCY - EXCISE TAX Summerside PE CIN 6A2
COMPUTERSHARE TRUST 800, 324 Bth Ave SW 25,801.97
COMPANY OF CANADA Calgary AB T2P 222
Connect First Cradit Union 200 2850 Sunridge Blvd NE 7,829,696.12

Calgary AB T1Y 6G2 ‘
HEALTH CANADA 161 GOLDENROD DRWY 63,650.67

Ottawa ON K1A 0KS
ODYSSEY TRUST 1230 - 300 5 Ave SW 34,756.21
COMPANY | Calgary AB T2P 3C4

Total 9,052,837.45

On &) Alaan

Page 2 of 2

1800905 Alberta Ltd.
Insolvent Person
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District of: Alberta

Division No. 02 - Calgary
Court No.
Estate No.
- FORM 33 -
Notice of Intention To Make & Proposal
(Subsection 50.4(1) of the Act)
Take notice that:

1. 1, Trichome Holdings Corp., an insolvent persan, state, pursuant to subsection 50.4(1) of the Act, that | intend to make a proposal
to my creditors.

2 Alvarez & Marsal Canada Inc. of Bow Valley Square 4, Suite 1110, 250 6th Ave SW, Calgary, AB, T2P 3H7, a licensed trustee,
has consented to act as trustee under the proposal. A copy of the consent is attached.

3. A list of the names of the known creditors with claims of $250 or more and the amounts of their claims is also attached.

4. Pursuant to section 69 of the Act, all proceedings against me are stayed as of the date of flling of this notice with the official
receiver in my locality.

Dated at the city of Calgary in the Province of Alberta, this 26th day of September 2022,

Qo W Lo~

Trichome Holdings Corp.
Insolvent Person

To be completed by Official Receiver.

Filing Date Official Receiver

Page 1 of 2
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District of: Alberta

Division No. 02 - Calgary
Court No.
Estate No.
-FORM 33 -
Notice of Intention To Make a Proposal
(Subsaction 50.4(1) of the Act)
List of Creditors with claims of $250 or more.

Creditor Address Account# Claim Amount
COMPUTERSH.;\RE TRUST 800, 324 8th Ave SW 25,801.97
COMPANY OF CANADA Calgary AB T2P 222
Connect First Credit Union 200 2850 Sunridge Bivd NE 7,829,696.12

Calgary AB T1Y 6G2
ODYSSEY TRUST 1230 - 300 5 Ave SW 34,756.21
COMPANY Calgary AB T2P 3C4
Total 7,890,254.30

@n "J—z“"

Page 2 of 2

Trichome Holdings Corp.
Insolvent Person
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THIS IS EXHIBIT “H” TO THE
AFFIDAVIT OF DANIEL T. WILSON
SWORN BEFORE ME AT CALGARY, ALBERTA,
This 26" day of September 2022

g—

A Commissioner for Oaths in and for the Province of Alberta

Kyle R. Smith
Barrister & Solicitor
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DocuSign Envelope ID: 76CE17C5-A3EE-4AFA-8AF6-7E7072755C40

| x4 DENTONS Afshan Naveed Denfons Canada LLP
Partner 15th Floor, Bankers Court

850-2nd Strest SW
afshan.naveed@dentons.com Calgary, AB, Canada T2F ORE
D +14032687015
dentons.com
September 22, 2022 File No.: 571708-75

DELIVERED VIA REGISTERED MAIL & EMAIL [RZahara@mitaikins.com]

Sugarbud Craft Growers Corp. Sugarbud Craft Growers Corp.
4300 Bankers Hall West, 888 — 3™ Street SW ¢/o MLT Aikins LLP
Calgary, AB T2P 5C5 2100 Livingston Place, 222 3 Ave SW

Calgary, AB T2P 0B4

Attn: Ryan Zahara
Dear Sir:

Re: Connect First Credit Union Ltd. and Sugarbud Craft Growers Corp.
We are counsel to Connect First Credit Union Ltd. (“Connect”). As you are aware, Sugarbud Craft Growers

Corp. (the “Borrower") is indebted to Connect pursuant to a commitment letier dated December 24, 2021,
various loan agreements and promissory notes, each as amended from time to time (collectively the “Loan

Agreements”).
Pursuant to the Loan Agreements, Connect has made available the following seven (7) credit facilities:
1. Authorized Overdraft in the amount of $500,000;
2. Letter of Credit in the amount of $70,000;
3. Commercial Mortgage Loan in the amount of $5,220,000;
4. Commercial Mortgage Loan in the amount of $500,000;
5. Commercial Mortgage Loan in the amount of $400,000;
6. Commercial Mortgage Loan in the amount of $500,000; and
7. Commercial Demand Mortgage Loan in the amount of $900,000
(plus interest and costs to the Borrower (the "Loans")).

In this regard, reference is made to the following security granted by the Borrower in favour of Connect with
respect to the Loans:

1. General Security Agreement, dated May 27, 2020; and

Bingham Greensbaum » Cohen & Grigshy » Sayarh & Menjra » Larrain Rencoret » Hamilton Harrison & Mathews » Mardemootoo Balgobin »
HPRP » Zain & Co. » Delany Law » Dinner Martin » For more on the firms that have joined Dentons, go to dentons.com/legacyfirms
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RADENTONS

2. Assignment of Receivables Agreement, dated December 29, 2020,

September 22, 2022
Page 2

(collectively the “Security”).

denlons.com

The Borrower is in default of its obligations to Connect under the Loan Agreements and the Security. In
addition, certain of the facilities are demand loans.

Accordingly, on behalf of Connect, we hereby demand repayment of all amounts due and owing by the
Borrower to Connect under the Loan Agreements and the Security, namely the amount of $7,704,295.40
as of September 22, 2022, plus all accrued and accruing interest, expenses, and legal costs on a solicitor

and its own client, full indemnity basis (the “indebtedness”).

A breakdown of the Indebtedness is as follows:

A. | Principal Outstanding Loan No. 120012993921 $695.000.00
Interest Outstanding $2,676.20

Total $608,676.20
Per Diem } N/A
B. | Principal Outstanding Loan No. 955302993921 $70,000.00
Interest Outstanding $0.00
Total $70.000.00
Per Diem N/A
C. | Principal Outstanding Loan No. 955002993921 | $4,832,844.20
Interest Outstanding $16,484.63
Total B $4.840.328.83
Per Diem $549.49
D. | Principal Outstanding Loan No. 7231 11719784 $401,084.36
Interest Outstanding $1,368.08
Total $402,452.44
B Per Diem $45.60

NATDOCS\65815131\V-3
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September 22, 2022

Page 3
E. | Principal Outstanding Loan No. 723111816390 $339,438.98
Interest Outstanding $1,157.82
Total $340.596.80
Per Diem $38.59
F. | Principal Outstanding Loan No. 723111822489  $433,519.79
|
Interest Outstanding $1,478.72
Total $434,998.51
Per Diem $49.29 |
G. | Principal Outstanding Loan No. 7231 12062291 $900,090.00
Interest Outstanding $8,152.62
Total $908.242.62
Per Diem $183.72
TOTAL ) $7,704,295.40
l. Legal Costs (to be determined) TBD

Please note that the Indebtedness will continue to accrue interest at the rates agreed to, and costs and
expenses will continue to be incurred by Connect for which the Borrower will be responsible, until payment
of all amounts owing is received by either certified cheque or bank draft at the following address:

Connect First Credit Union Ltd.
C/0O Dentons Canada LLP
1500, 850 — 2™ Street, SW
Calgary, Alberta T2P OR8
Attention: Afshan Naveed

If full payment, as set forth above, is not received by close of business on October 3, 2022 Connect will
take whatever steps it deems appropriate to seek repayment of the said amount.

Please note that Connect reserves its rights to proceed against you prior to the time stipulated above in the
event that it determines that its position is further jeopardized.

NATDOCS\65815131\V-3
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In addition, Connect reserves and preserves its rights to proceed against you at any time after October 3,
2022 without the necessity of serving a new demand for payment.

Enclosed with this letter for service upon you is a Notice of Intention to Enforce Security (“NOI") in
accordance with section 244 of the Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act (Canada). If you are prepared to waive
the ten-day notice period, please provide your consent o Connect's early enforcement of the Security by

executing the consent and waiver attached to the NOI.

If you have any questions or concems, please contact the undersigned directly.

Yours truly,

Deptons Ganada LLP

[ pha. s

~DCDESRBCEAZFABE .
Afs%can avee

Partner
AN/t
Enclosure

NATDOCS\65815131\V-3
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NOTICE OF INTENTION TO ENFORCE SECURITY

(Subsection 244(1) of the Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act (Canada))
TO: SUGARBUD CRAFT GROWERS CORP., an insolvent person (the "Debtor")

TAKE NOTICE THAT:

1. Connect First Credit Union Lid. (“Connect"), a secured creditor of the Debtor, intends to enforce
its security in the personal property of the Debtor as set out below:

(a) all present and after-acquired personal property;
(b) all accounts receivable; and
(c) all proceeds of the foregoing collateral.
2. The security that is to be enforced is in the form of a:
(a) General Security Agreement, dated May 27, 2020; and
(b) Assignment of Receivables Agreement, dated December 29, 2020;
(collectively the "Security”).
3. The total amount of indebtedness secured by the Security as at September 22, 2022 is the sum
of $7,704,295.40, CDN plus all further aceruing interest and all legal costs on a solicitor and its

own client, full indemnity basis, incurred with respect to collection of the foregoing amounts.

4, Connect will not have the right to enforce its Security until after the expiry of the 10 day period
following the sending of this notice, unless the Debtor consents to an earlier enforcement.

DATED at the City of Calgary, in the Province of Alberta, this 22 day of September, 2022.

DENTONS CANADA LLP, solicitors and agents
for Connect First Credit Union Ltd.

(. Mo

DCOESFHCEAZFSEER

Afshan Naveed

Per:

NATDOCS\65818871\V-1
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-2.

CONSENT AND WAIVER

THE UNDERSIGNED hereby:

1. Acknowledges receipt of the Notice herein; b

2. Waives the 10 days of notice required under section 244 of the Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act
(Canada); and

3. Consents to the immediate enforcement by Connect of the Security referred to herein.

DATED this day of , 2022,

SUGARBUD CRAFT GROWERS CORP.

Per:

Name:
Position:

NATDOCS\65818871\V-1
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XA DENTONS Afghan Naveed Dentons Canada LLP
Partner 15th Floor, Bankers Court

850-2nd Street SW

afshan.naveed@dentons,.com Calgary, AB, Cansda T2P ORB

D +14D3 2687015
dentans.com

September 22, 2022 File No.: 571709-75

DELIVERED VIA REGISTERED MAIL & EMAIL [RZahara@mltaikins.com]

Trichome Holdings Corp. Trichome Holdings Corp.
4300 Bankers Hall West, 888 ~ 3rd Street SW c/o MLT Aikins LLP
Calgary, AB T2P 5C5 2100 Livingston Place, 222 3 Ave SW

Calgary, AB T2P 0B4

Attn; Ryan Zahara
Dear Sir:

Re: Connect First Credit Union Ltd. and Sugarbud Craft Growers Corp.

We are counsel to Connect First Credit Union Ltd. (‘Connect”). As you are aware Sugarbud Craft Growers
Corp. (the "Borrower”) is indebted to Connect pursuant to a commitment letter dated December 24, 2021,
various loan agreements and promissory notes, each as amended from time to time (collectively the “Loan

Agreements”).
Pursuant to the Loan Agreements, Connect has made available the following seven (7) credit facilities:
1. Authorized Overdraft in the amount of $500,000;
2. Letter of Credit in the amount of $70,000;
3. Commercial Mortgage Loan in the amount of $5,220,000;
4. Commercial Mortgage Loan in the amount of $500,000;
5. Commercial Mortgage Loan in the amount of $400,000;
6. Commercial Mortgage Loan in the amount of $500,000; and
7. Commercial Demand Mortgage Loan in the amount of $800,000
(plus interest and costs to the Borrower (the "Loans")).

In this regard, reference is made to the guarantee and postponement that Trichome Holdings Corp. (the
"Guarantor”) granted in favour of Connect in respect of the obligations of the Borrower to Connect, dated
January 13, 2022 limited to the sum of $8,500,000.00 (the "Guarantee”).

Further, reference is made to the General Security Agreement, dated May 27, 2020 granted by the
Guarantor in favour of Connect with respect to the Loan (the “Security”).

Bingham Greenebaum » Cohen & Grigsby » Sayarh & Menjra » Larrain Rencoret » Hamilten Harrison & Mathews » Mardemootoo Balgobin »
HPRP » Zain & Co. » Delany Law » Dinner Martin » For more on the firms that have joined Dentons, go to dentons.com/legacyfirms
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The Borrower is in default of its obligations to Connect and has been served with a demand for repayment
of all amounts owing to Connect pursuant to the Loans, namely the sum of $7,704,295.40, a copy of the

demand is attached for your reference.

Accordingly, on behalf of Connect, we hereby demand repayment of all amounts due and owing by you to
Connect under the Guarantee, namely in the amount of $7,704,295.40, plus all accrued and accruing
interest, expenses, and legal costs on a solicitor and own client, full indemnity basis (the “Indebtedness").

Please note that the Indebtedness will continue to accrue interest at the rates agreed to, and costs and
expenses will continue to be incurred by Connect for which you will be responsible, until payment of all
amounts owing is received by either certified cheque or bank draft at the following address:

Connect First Credit Union Ltd.
C/O Dentons Canada LLP
1500, 850 — 2" Street, SW
Calgary, Alberta T2P OR8
Attention: Afshan Naveed

If full payment, as set forth above, is not received by close of business on October 3, 2022 Connect will
take whatever steps it deems appropriate to seek repayment of the said amount.

Please note that Connect reserves its rights to proceed against you prior to the time stipulated above inthe -
event that it determines that its position is further jeopardized.

In addition, Connect reserves and preserves its rights to proceed against you at any time after October 3,
2022 without the necessity of serving a new demand for payment.

Enclosed with this letter for service upon you is a Notice of Intention to Enforce Security (“NOI") in
accordance with section 244 of the Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act (Canada). If you are prepared to waive
the ten-day notice period, please provide your consent to Connect's early enforcement of the Security by
executing the consent and waiver attached to the NOI.

If you have any questions or concerns, please contact the undersigned directly

Yours truly,
Dentons Canada LLP

(. Mo

DCOEBFBCBAZFABE
Afshan Naveed
Partner
AN/tt

Enclosure

NATDOCS\65818054\V-1
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NOTICE OF INTENTION TO ENFORCE SECURITY

(Subsection 244(1) of the Bankrupftcy and Insolvency Act (Canada))
TO: TRICHOME HOLDINGS CORP., an insolvent person (the "Debtor")

TAKE NOTICE THAT:

1. Connect First Credit Union Ltd. (“Connect’), a secured creditor of the Debtor, intends to enforce
its security in the personal property of the Debtor as set out below:

(a) all present and after-acquired personal property; and
(b) all proceeds of the foregoing collateral.

2. The security that is to be enforced is in the form of a Generat Security Agreement, dated May 27,
2020 (the “Security").

3. The total amount of indebtedness secured by the Security as at September 22, 2022 is the sum
of $7,704,295.40, CDN plus all further accruing interest and all legal costs on a solicitor and own
client, full indemnity basis incurred with respect to collection of the foregoing amounts.

4. Connect will not have the right to enforce its Security until after the expiry of the 10 day period
following the sending of this notice, unless the Debtor consents to an earlier enforcement.

DATED at the City of Calgary, in the Province of Alberta, this 22 day of September, 2022,

DENTONS CANADA LLP, solicitors and agents
for Connect First Credit Union Ltd.

DocuSigned by:

| fskan, Mo d

s DCDESFECHAZFAES.,
Per:

Afshan Naveed

NATDOCS\65818978\V-1
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CONSENT AND WAIVER

THE UNDERSIGNED hereby:

1. Acknowledges receipt of the Notice herein;

2. Waives the 10 days of notice required under section 244 of the Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act
(Canada); and

3 Consents to the immediate enforcement by Connect of the Security referred to herein.

'DATED this day of , 2022,

TRICHOME HOLDINGS CORP.

Per:
Name:
Position: =

NATDOCS\65818978\V-1
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K< DENTONS Afshan Naveed Dentons Caneda LLP
= Partner 15th Floor, Bankers Court
850-2nd Street SW

afshan.naveed@dentons.com Calgary, AB, Canada T2P OR8
D +1403 2687015

dentens.com

September 22, 2022 File No.; §71709-75

DELIVERED VIA REGISTERED MAIL & EMAIL [RZahara@mitaikins.com]

Sugarbud Craft Growers Corp. Sugarbud Craft Growers Corp.
4300 Bankers Hall West, 888 — 3 Street SW c/o MLT Aikins LLP
Calgary, AB T2P 5C5 2100 Livingston Place, 222 3 Ave SW

Calgary, AB T2P 0B4

Attn: Ryan Zahara
Dear Sir:

Re: Connect First Credit Union Ltd. and Sugarbud Craft Growers Corp.
We are counsel to Connect First Credit Union Ltd. (“Connect’). As you are aware, Sugarbud Crait Growers

Corp. (the "Borrower") is indebted to Connect pursuant to a commitment letter dated December 24, 2021,
various loan agreements and promissory notes, each as amended from time to time (collectively the “Loan

Agreements”).
Pursuant to the Loan Agreements, Connect has made available the following seven (7) credit facilities:
1. Authorized Overdraft in the amount of $500,000;
2. Letter of Credit in the amount of $70,000;
3. Commercial Mortgage Loan in the amount of $5,220,000;
4. Commercial Mortgage Loan in the amount of $500,000;
5. Commercial Mortgage Loan in the amount of $400,000;
6. Commercial Mortgage Loan in the amount of $500,000; and
7. Commercial Demand Mortgage Loan in the amount of $800,000
(plus interest and costs to the Borrower (the "Loans’)).

In this regard, reference is made to the following security granted by the Borrower in favour of Connect with
respect to the Loans:

1. General Security Agreement, dated May 27, 2020; and

Bingham Greenebaum » Cohen & Grigsby » Sayarh & Menjra » Larrain Rencoret » Hamilton Harrison & Mathews » Mardemootoo Balgobin »
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2. Assignment of Receivables Agreement, dated December 29, 2020,

(collectively the “Security”).

The Borrower is in default of its obligations to Connect under the Loan Agreements and the Security. In
addition, certain of the facilities are demand loans.

Accordingly, on behalf of Connect, we hereby demand repayment of all amounts due and owing by the
Borrower to Connect under the Loan Agreements and the Security, namely the amount of $7,704,295.40
as of September 22, 2022, plus all accrued and accruing interest, expenses, and legal costs on a solicitor
and its own client, full indemnity basis (the “Indebtedness”).

A breakdown of the Indebtedness is as follows:

A. | Principal Outstanding Loan No. 120012993921 $696,000.00
Interest Outstanding - $2,676.20
Total o $698,676.20
Per Diem } N/A
B. | Principal Outstanding Loan No. 955302993921 $70,000.00
Interest Outstanding $0.00
| 1 Total $70,000.00
Per Diem B N/A
|
C. | Principal Outstanding Loan No. 955002993921 - $4,832,844.20 |
Interest Outstanding $16,484.63
Total $4.849,328.83
Per Diem B | $549.49
D. | Principal Outstanding Loan No. 723111719784 | $401,084.36
Interest Outstanding $1,368.08
Total B $402,452.44
Per Diem $45.60
NATDOCS\85815131\V-3
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Principal Outstanding Loan No. 723111816390 $339,438.98
Interest Outstanding "$1,157.82
Total $340.596.80
Per Diem $38.59
“Principal Outstanding Loan No. 723111822489 $433,519.79 |
| Interest Outstanding $1,478.72
Total $434.998 51 |
Per Diem $49.29
[ Principal Outstanding Loan No. 723112062291 ~ $900,090.00
Interest Outstanding $8,152,62
Total $908.242.62
Per Diem $183.72
TOTAL $7,704,295.40
[T | Legal Costs (to be determined) ) TBD

Please note that the Indebtedness will continue to accrue interest at the rates agreed to, and costs and
expenses will continue to be incurred by Connect for which the Borrower will be responsible, until payment
of all amounts owing is received by either certified cheque or bank draft at the following address:

Connect First Credit Union Ltd.
C/O Dentons Canada LLP
1500, 850 — 2" Street, SW
Calgary, Alberta T2P OR8
Attention: Afshan Naveed

If full payment, as set forth above, is not received by close of business on October 3, 2022 Connect will
take whatever steps it deems appropriate to seek repayment of the said amount.

Please note that Connect reserves its rights to proceed against you prior to the time stipulated above in the
event that it determines that its position is further jeopardized.

NATDOCS\65815131\V-3
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In addition, Connect reserves and preserves its rights to proceed against you at any time after October 3,
2022 without the necessity of serving a new demand for payment.

Enclosed with this letter for service upon you is a Notice of Intention to Enforce Security ("NOI) in
accordance with section 244 of the Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act (Canada). If you are prepared to waive
the ten-day notice period, please provide your consent to Connect's early enforcement of the Security by

executing the consent and waiver attached to the NOI.

If you have any questions or concerns, please contact the undersigned directly.
Yours truly,

Deg;gggngggada LLP

flan. Maweed

DCDEEFRCOAZFABSE
Afshan Navee

Partner
AN/t
Enclosure

NATDOCS\65815131\V-3
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NOTICE OF INTENTION TO ENFORCE SECURITY

(Subsection 244(1) of the Bankruptcy and insolvency Act (Canada))

TO: SUGARBUD CRAFT GROWERS CORP., an insolvent person (the "Debtor")

TAKE NOTICE THAT:

1. Connect First Credit Union Ltd. (“Connect"), a secured creditor of the Debtor, intends to enforce
its security in the personal property of the Debtor as set out below:

(a) all present and after-acquired personal property;
(b) all accounts receivable; and
(c) all proceeds of the foregoing collateral.
2. The security that is to be enforced is in the form of a:
(a) General Security Agreement, dated May 27, 2020, and
(b) Assignment of Receivables Agreement, dated December 29, 2020;
(collectively the “Security”).

3. The total amount of indebtedness secured by the Security as at September 22, 2022 is the sum
of $7,704,295.40, CDN plus all further accruing interest and all legal costs on a solicitor and its
own client, full indemnity basis, incurred with respect to collection of the foregoing amounts.

4. Connect will not have the right to enforce its Security until after the expiry of the 10 day period

following the sending of this notice, unless the Debtor consents to an earlier enforcement.

DATED at the City of Calgary, in the Province of Alberta, this 22 day of September, 2022.

DENTONS CANADA LLP, solicitors and agents
for Connect First Credit Union Lid.

DocuSigned by:

Afslan, Mavard

Per:; DCDERFECEAZFABE. .

Afshan Naveed

NATDOCS\65818871\W-1
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CONSENT AND WAIVER

THE UNDERSIGNED hereby:

1. Acknowledges receipt of the Notice herein;

2. Waives the 10 days of notice required under section 244 of the Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act
(Canada); and

3. Consents to the immediate enforcement by Connect of the Security referred to herein.

DATED this day of , 2022.

SUGARBUD CRAFT GROWERS CORP.

Per:

Name:
Position:

NATDOCS\65818871\V-1
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XA DENTONS Afshan Naveed Daritons Caneda LLP
- Partner 15th Floor, Bankers Court
850-2nd Street SW

afshan.naveed@dentons.com Calgary, AB, Canada T2P ORB

D +14032887015
dentons.com

September 22, 2022 File No.: 571708-75

DELIVERED VIA REGISTERED MAIL 8 EMAIL [RZahara@mltaikins.com]

1800905 Alberta Ltd. 1800905 Alberta Ltd.
4300 Bankers Hall West, 888 — 3rd Street SW c/o MLT Aikins LLP
Calgary, AB T2P 5C5 2100 Livingston Place, 222 3 Ave SW

Calgary, AB T2P 0B4

Attn: Ryan Zahara
Dear Sir:

Re: Connect First Credit Union Ltd. and Sugarbud Craft Growers Corp.

We are counsel to Connect First Credit Union Ltd. ("Connect’). As you are aware Sugarbud Craft Growers
Corp. (the "Borrower”) is indebted to Connect pursuant to a commitment letter dated December 24, 2021,
various loan agreements and promissory notes, each as amended from time to time (collectively the “Loan

Agreements”).
Pursuant to the Loan Agreements, Connect has made available the following seven (7) credit facilities:
1. Authorized Overdraft in the amount of $500,000;
2. Letter of Credit in the amount of $70,000;
3. Commercial Mortgage Loan in the amount of $5,220,000;
4, CtI:mmerciaI Mortgage Loan in the amount of $500,000;
5. Commercial Mortgage Loan in the amount of $400,000;
6. Commercial Mortgage Loan in the amount of $500,000; and
7. Commercial Demand Mortgage Loan in the amount of $800,000
(plus interest and costs to the Borrower (the “Loans")).

in this regard, reference is made to the guarantee and postponement that 1800905 Alberta Ltd. (the
“Guarantor”) granted in favour of Connect in respect of the obligations of the Borrower to Connect, dated
January 13, 2022 limited to the sum of $8,500,000.00 (the “Guarantee”).

Larrain Rencoret » Hamilton Harrison & Mathews » Mardemootoo Balgobin »

Bingham Greenebaum » Cohen & Grigsby » Sayarh & Menjra »
the firms that have joined Dentons, go to dentons.com/legacyfirms

HPRP » Zain & Co. » Delany Law » Dinner Martin » For more on

NATDOCS\65815826\V-1
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Further, reference is made to the following security granted by the Guarantor in favour of Connect with
respect to the Loan:

1. General Security Agreement, dated May 27, 2020,

2. Collateral Mortgage dated May 27, 2020;

3. Mortgage Amending Agreement dated December 28, 2020;
4, Mortgage Amending Agreement dated October 8, 2021;

5. Mortgage Amending Agreement dated January 13, 2022; and
6. Assignment of Rents and Leases dated January 13, 2022;

(collectively the “Security”).

The Borrower is in default of its obligations to Connect and has been served with a demand for repayment
of all amounts owing to Connect pursuant to the Loans, namely the sum of $7,704,295.40, a copy of the

demand is attached for your reference.

Accordingly, on behalf of Connect, we hereby demand repayment of all amounts due and owing by you to
Connect under the Guarantee, namely in the amount of $7,704,295.40, plus all accrued and accruing
interest, expenses, and legal costs on a solicitor and own client, full indemnity basis (the “Indebtedness”).

Please note that the Indebtedness will continue to accrue interest at the rates agreed to, and costs and
expenses will continue to be incurred by Connect for which you will be responsible, until payment of all
amounts owing is received by either certified cheque or bank draft at the following address:

Connect First Credit Union Ltd.
C/O Dentons Canada LLP
1500, 850 — 2" Street, SW
Calgary, Alberta T2P OR8
Attention: Afshan Naveed

If full payment, as set forth above, is not received by close of business on October 3, 2022 Connect will
take whatever steps it deems appropriate to seek repayment of the said amount.

Please note that Connect reserves its rights to proceed against you prior to the time stipulated aboveinthe
event that it determines that its position is further jeopardized. ’

In addition, Connect reserves and preserves its rights to proceed against you at any time after October 3,
2022 without the necessity of serving a new demand for payment.

Enclosed with this letter for service upon you is a Notice of Intention to Enforce Security (“NOI") in

accordance with section 244 of the Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act (Canada). If you are prepared to waive
the ten-day notice period, please provide your consent to Connect's early enforcement of the Security by

executing the consent and waiver attached to the NOI.

NATDOCS\65815926\V-1
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if you have any questions or concerns, please contact the undersigned directly

Yours truly,

Dentons Canada LLP

@ﬁww

DCOEEFBCHAZFABE,

Afshan Naveed
Partner

AN/t

Enclosure

NATDOCS\65815926\V-1
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NOTICE OF INTENTION TO ENFORCE SECURITY

(Subsection 244(1) of the Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act (Canada))
TO: 1800905 ALBERTA LTD., an insolvent person (the "Debtor")

TAKE NOTICE THAT:

1. Connect First Credit Union Ltd. (“Connect’), a secured creditor of the Debtor, intends to enforce
its security in the personal property of the Debtor as set out below:

(a) all present and after-acquired personal property;
(b) the lands legally described as:
PLAN 0812160
BLOCK 4
LOT 3
EXCEPTING THEREOUT ALL MINES AND MINERALS
AREA: 1.636 HECTARES (4.04 ACRES) MORE OR LESS
(the “Lands"),
(©) all leases and rents of the Lands; and
(d) all proceeds of the foregoing collateral.
2. The security that is to be enforced is in the form of a:
(a) General Security Agreement, dated May 27, 2020;
(b) Collateral Mortgage dated May 27, 2020;
(c) Mortgage Amending Agreement dated December 29, 2020,
(d) Mortgage Amending Agreement dated October 8, 2021;
(e) Mortgage Amending Agreement dated January 13, 2022; and
® Assignment of Rents and Leases dated January 13, 2022;
(collectively the “Security”).
3. The total amount of indebtedness secured by the Security as at September 22, 2022 is the sum

of $7,704,295.40, CDN plus all further acciuing inlerest and all legal costs on a solicitor and its
own client, full indemnity basis, incurred with respect to collection of the foregoing amounts.

NATDOCS\65818840\V-1
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4, Connect will not have the right to enforce its Security until after the expiry of the 10 day period
following the sending of this notice, uniess the Debtor consents to an earlier enforcement.

DATED at the City of Calgary, in the Province of Alberta, this 22" day of September, 2022.

DENTONS CANADA LLP, solicitors and agents

for Connect First Credit Union Ltd.
PocuSigned by:

Afkan. Mwerd

DCOESFBCEALFABE
Per:

Afshan Naveed

NATDOCS\65818840\V-1
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CONSENT AND WAIVER
THE UNDERSIGNED hereby:
1. Acknowledges receipt of the Notice herein;
2. Waives the 10 days of notice required under section 244 of the Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act
(Canada); and
3. Consents to the immediate enforcement by Connect of the Security referred to herein.
DATED this day of i , 2022.
1800905 ALBERTA LTD.
Per:
Name: _
Position:

NATDOCS\65818840\V-1
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A DENTONS Afshan Naveed Denlons Canada LLP
Partner 15th Floor, Bankers Court
850-2nd Street SW

afshan.naveed@dentons.com Calgary. AB, Canada T2P ORS
D +14032687015

dentons.com

September 22, 2022 File No.. §71709-75

DELIVERED VIA REGISTERED MAIL & EMAIL [RZahara@mitaikins.com]

Sugarbud Craft Growers Carp. Sugarbud Craft Growers Corp.
4300 Bankers Hall West, 888 — 3" Street SW clo MLT Aikins LLP
Calgary, AB T2P 5C5 2100 Livingston Place, 222 3 Ave SW

Calgary, AB T2P 0B4

Attn: Ryan Zahara
Dear Sir:

Re: Connect First Credit Union Ltd. and Sugarbud Craft Growers Corp.
We are counsel to Connect First Credit Union Ltd. (‘Connect’). As you are aware, Sugarbud Craft Growers

Corp. (the “Borrower”) is indebted to Connect pursuant to a commitment letter dated December 24, 2021,
various loan agreements and promissory notes, each as amended from time to time (collectively the "Loan

Agreements”).
Pursuant to the Loan Agreements, Connect has made available the following seven (7) credit facilities:
1. Authorized Overdraft in the amount of $500,000;
2. Letter of Credit in the amount of $70,000;
3. Commercial Mortgage Loan in the amount of $5,220,000;
4. Commercial Mortgage Loan in the amount of $500,000;
5. Commercial Mortgage Loan in the amount of $400,000;
6. Commercial Mortgage Loan in the amount of $500,000; and
7. Commercial Demand Mortgage Loan in the amount of $900,000
(plus interest and costs to the Borrower (the * Loans”)).

In this regard, reference is made to the following security granted by the Borrower in favour of Connect with
respect to the Loans:

1. General Security Agreement, dated May 27, 2020; and

Bingham Greenebaum » Cohen & Grigsby » Sayarh & Menjra » Larrain Rencoret » Hamilton Harrison & Mathews » Mardemootoo Balgobin »
HPRP » Zsin & Co. » Delany Law » Dinner Martin » For more on the firms that have joined Dentons, go to dentons.com/iegacyfirms

NATDOCS\65815131\V-3
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2. Assignment of Receivables Agreement, dated December 29, 2020;

(collectively the "Security”).

The Borrower is in default of its obligations to Connect under the Loan Agreements and the Security. In
addition, certain of the facilities are demand loans.

Accordingly, on behalf of Connect, we hereby demand repayment of all amounts due and owing by the
Borrower to Connect under the Loan Agreements and the Security, namely the amount of $7,704,295.40
as of September 22, 2022, plus all accrued and accruing interest, expenses, and legal costs on a solicitor
and its own client, full indemnity basis (the “Indebtedness”).

A breakdown of the Indebtedness is as follows:

A. | Principal Outstanding Loan No. 120012993921 $696,000.00
Interest Outstanding $2,676.20
Total $698,676.20
Per Diem N/A
B. | Principat Outstanding Loan No. 955302993921 $70,000.00
Interest Outstanding $0.00
Total $70,000.00
Per Diem N/A
C. | Principal Outstanding Loan No. 955002993921 $4,832,844.20
Interest Outstanding $16,484.63
Total $4,849,328.83
Per Diem $549.49
D. | Principal Outstanding Loan No. 723111719784 $401,084.36
Interest Outstanding $1,368.08
Total $402,452.44
Per Diem $45.60
NATDOCS\65815131\V-3
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E. | Principal Outstanding Loan No. 723111816390 $339,438.98
Interest Outstanding $1,157.82
Total N $340.596.80
Per Diem $38.59
F. | Principal Outstanding Loan No. 723111822489 $433,519.79
Interest Outstanding $1,478.72 |
‘Iggﬂ $434,998 51
Per Diem ] | $49.29
G. | Principal Outstanding Loan No. 7231 12062291 ) $900,090.00 |
‘
Interest Outstanding $8,152.62
| Total $908,242.62
Per Diem $183.72
| TOTAL ) $7.704,295.40
L Legal Costs (to be determined) TBD |

Please note that the Indebtedness will continue to accrue interest at the rates agreed to, and costs and
expenses will continue to be incurred by Connect for which the Borrower will be responsible, until payment
of all amounts owing is received by either certified cheque or bank draft at the following address:

Connect First Credit Union Lid.
C/O Dentons Canada LLP
1500, 850 — 2 Street, SW
Calgary, Alberta T2P OR8
Attention: Afshan Naveed

If full payment, as set forth above, is not received by close of business on October 3, 2022 Connect will
take whatever steps it deems appropriate to seek repayment of the said amount.

Please note that Connect reserves its rights to proceed against you prior fo the time stipulated above in the
event that it determines that its position is further jeopardized.

NATDOCS\65815131\V-3
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In addition, Connect reserves and preserves its rights to proceed against you at any time after October 3,
2022 without the necessity of serving a new demand for payment.

Enclosed with this letter for service upon you is a Notice of Intention to Enforce Security (“NOI") in
accordance with section 244 of the Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act (Canada). If you are prepared to waive
the ten-day notice period, please provide your consent to Connect's early enforcement of the Security by
executing the consent and waiver attached to the NOI.

If you have any questions or concerns, please contact the undersigned directly.
Yours truly,

Deptong,Gapada LLP

[ Afhn. e

COESFRCOAZFSES...
Afshan Navee

Partner
AN/t
Enclosure

NATDOCS\65815131\V-3
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NOTICE OF INTENTION TO ENFORCE SECURITY

(Subsection 244(1) of the Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act (Canada))
TO: SUGARBUD CRAFT GROWERS CORP., an insolvent person (the "Debtor")

TAKE NOTICE THAT:

1. Connect First Credit Union Ltd. (“Connect"), a secured creditor of the Debtor, intends to enforce
its security in the personal property of the Debtor as set out below:

(a) all present and after-acquired personal property;
(b) all accounts receivable; and
(c) all proceeds of the foregoing collateral.
2. The security that is to be enforced is in the form of a:
(a) General Security Agreement, dated May 27, 2020; and
(b) Assignment of Receivables Agreement, dated December 29, 2020,
(collectively the “Security”).
3. The total amount of indebtedness secured by the Security as at September 22, 2022 is the sum
of $7,704,295.40, CDN plus all further accruing interest and all legal costs on a solicitor and its

own client, full indemnity basis, incurred with respect to collection of the foregoing amounts.

4, Connect will not have the right to enforce its Security until after the expiry of the 10 day period
following the sending of this notice, unless the Debtor consents to an earlier enforcement.

DATED at the City of Calgary, in the Province of Alberta, this 22" day of September, 2022.

DENTONS CANADA LLP, solicitors and agents
for Connect First Credit Union Ltd.

DocuBigned by:

Al Merd

Per: DCDESFBGEAZFIBE
Afshan Naveed

NATDOCS\65818871\V-1
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CONSENT AND WAIVER

THE UNDERSIGNED hereby:

1. Acknowledges receipt of the Notice herein;

2. Waives the 10 days of notice required under section 244 of the Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act
(Canada); and

3. Consents to the immediate enforcement by Connect of the Security referred to herein.

DATED this __dayof _ , 2022.

SUGARBUD CRAFT GROWERS CORP.

Per: =
Name:
Position:
NATDOCS\65818871\V-1
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THIS IS EXHIBIT “I” TO THE
AFFIDAVIT OF DANIEL T. WILSON
SWORN BEFORE ME AT CALGARY, ALBERTA,
This 26t day of September 2022

a—"

A Commissioner for Oaths in and for the Province of Alberta

Kyle R. Smith
Barrister & Solicitor
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KPMG LLP

205 5th Avenue SW
Suite 3100

Calgary AB T2P 4B9
Tel (403) 691-8000
Fax (403) 691-8008
www.kpmg.ca

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

To the Shareholders of Sugarbud Craft Growers Corp.

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Sugarbud Craft Growers Corp.

(the “Entity”), which comprise:

s the consolidated statements of financial position as at December 31, 2021 and
December 31, 2020

« the consolidated statements of loss and comprehensive loss for the years then ended

« the consolidated statements of changes in shareholders’ equity for the years then ended

» the consolidated statements of cash flows for the years then ended

« and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies

(Hereinafter referred to as the “financial statements”).

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects,
the consolidated financial position of the Entity as at December 31, 2021 and December 31,
2020, and its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
years then ended in accordance with international Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as
issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB).

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing
standards. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the
“Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements” section of our

auditors’ report.

We are independent of the Entity in accordance with the ethical requirements that are
relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Canada and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.

KPMG LLP, an Onlario limiled fiaillty psartnership and member firm of the KPMG global organization of indapandeni
member firms affiliatad vith KPMG Intemalional Limiled, @ private Enghish company limited by guamntee. KPMCG
Canada provikdes services o KPMG LLP.
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We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide
a basis for our opinion.
Emphasis of Matter - Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern

We draw attention to note 1 in the financial statements, which indicates that the Entity
incurred a loss of $8.7 million, utilized funds from operations of $5.6 million, was not in
compliance with the debt-to-equity ratio covenant on its commercial mortgage loan as at
December 31, 2021 and is forecasting a potential breach of its financial covenants as at
December 31, 2022.

As stated in note 1 in the financial statements, these events or conditions, along with other
matters as set forth in note 1 in the financial statements, indicate that a material
uncertainty exists that may cast significant doubt on the Entity’s ability to continue as a
going concern.

Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

Other Information

Management is responsible for the other information. Other information comprises the
information included in Management's Discussion and Analysis filed with the relevant
Canadian Securities Commissions.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not
and will not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
and remain alert for indications that the other information appears to be materially misstated.

We obtained the information included in Management's Discussion and Analysis filed with
the relevant Canadian Securities Commissions as at the date of this auditors' report. If,
based on the work we have performed on this other information, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact in the

auditors’ report.
We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the
Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial
statements in accordance with IFRS as issued by the IASB, and for such internal control as
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
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In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Entity's
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends
to liquidate the Entity or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Entity's financial
reporting process.

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements
as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditors' report that includes our opinion.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will always
detect 2 material misstatement when it exists.

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of the financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we
exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.

We also:

» Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for

our opinion.

The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Entity's internal control.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management.

e Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Entity's ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the related d isclosures in the financial

0115



statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to madify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Entity to cease to continue
as a going concern.

¢ Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

e Communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

e Provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with
relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and communicate with them all
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

The engagement pariner on the audit resulting in this auditors’ report is Richard John
Mussenden.

whons - _
/""-é/-

Chartered Professional Accountants

Calgary, Canada
May 2, 2022
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% u 5 @ L%»: bud CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
g L expressed in Canadian dollars unless otherwise noted

Note Decerllber 31, 2021 December 31, 2020

Assets
Current assets
Cash $ - 3% 21,274
Accounts receivable 6 291,639 286,945
Prepaid expenses and deposits 234,896 469,271
Inventory 7 2,656,658 3,105,423
Biological assets ) 8 644,629 923,284
3,827,822 4,806,197
Non-current assets
Intangible asset 9 2,467,588 2,532,868
Non-current deposits 115,000 159,756
Property, plant, and equipment 10 10,694,849 10,965,153
Right-of-use asset 1 407,757 567,590
Total Assets $ 17,513,016 $ 19,031,564
Liabilities
Current liabiiities
Authorized overdraft 17 3 8,091 % =
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 3,172,455 3,057,896
Current portion of lease obligations 16 156,837 156,837
Current portion of commercial mortgage loan 17 6,822,653 419,055
10,160,036 3,633,788
Non-current liabilities
Lease obligations 16 291,859 448,157
Commercial mortgage loan 17 - 4,305,347
Convertible debentures 18 82,545 621,202
Total Liabilitles $ 10,534,440 $ 5,008,494

Shareholders' Equity

Share capital 12 42,596,523 38,013,449
Contributed surplus 8,332,362 7,255,736
Deficit (43,950,309) (35,246,115)
Total Shareholders' Equity ' 6,978,576 10,023,070
Total Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity $ 17,513;018 $ 19,031,564

The occompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.

Going Concern (Note 1)
Commitments and Contingencies (Note 25)
Subsequent Events (Note 26)

SIGNED ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

“pDan Wilson” “Janice Comeau”™
Director Director
1
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF LOSS AND
COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
expressed in Canadian dollars unless otherwise noted

Note December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020
Gross revenue 19 $ 2,194,008 $ 535,756
Excise taxes (444,731) (122,792)
Net revenue 1,749,277 412,964
Cost of goods sold 1,360,241 324,902
Inventory revaluation provision 7 1,318,395 -
Gross profit (loss) before fair value adjustments (929,359) 88,062
Change in fair value of biological assets 8 1,933,652 2,322,001
Change in fair value through inventory 7 | (2,651,080). (140,072)
Gross profit (loss) (1,646,797) 2,269,991
Expenses
General and administrative 20 $ 4,958,710 $ 4,108,310
Stock based compensation 14 200,052 548,103
Depreciation and amortization 9,10,1 850,592 715,973
Loss from operations 2,757,159 (3,102,395)
Finance costs 21 634,331 1,637,157
Litigation settlement 25 225,000 300,000
Write-down of prepaid and other assets 87,712 201,072
Net loss on investment - 14,576
Other income - {174,010)
Loss on divestiture of retail assets - 15,0947
Loss before income tax . (8,704,194) (5,096,284)
Income tax recovery 22 - 130,341
Total loss and comprehensive loss {8,704,194) (4,965,943)
Loss per share, basic and diluted’ 15 $ (1.e0) $ (1.16)

TNumber of Tove Deen rastoted on o retrooctive basis to all periods to refiect the Share Consolaation sHectve on February 15, 2022,

Refer to Note 26(1).

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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sugarbud

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN
SHAREHOLDERS®’ EQUITY
expressed in Canadian dollars unless otherwise npoted

Number of
common Share Contributed
Note shares’ capital surplus Deficit Total

Balance at December 31, 2018 3937683 $ 35,621,339 6,211,492 (30,280,172) 11,552,659

Stock-based compensation 14 - - 548,103 - 548,103

Convertible debenture conversion 18 684,403 2,392,060 - - 2,392,060

Income tax recovery - - (130,341) - (130,341)

Convertible debenture reserve - - 626,482 - 626,482

Exercise of warrants 13 10 50 - - 50

Comprehensive loss - - - (4,965,943) (4,965,943)

Balance at December 31, 2020 4,622,096 $ 38,013,449 7,255,736 (35,246,115) 10,023,070

Number of =
common Share Contributed
Note shares’ capital surplus Deficit Total

Balance at December 31, 2020 4,622,096 $ 38,013,449 7,255,736 (35,245,115) 10,023,070
Stock-based compensation 14 - - 300,052 - 300,052
Convertible debenture conversion 18 189,359 805,897 - - 805,897
lssuance of camimian shares - 12 766,705 3,776,313 823,917 - 4600230
public offering d
Issuance of common shares — 12 88,750 302,035 52,965 - 355,000
private placement
lssuance of cor}-nmon shares - 12 26,500 132,500 & m 132,500
shares for services
Share issuance costs 12 - (465,588) (100,308) - (565,896)
Exercise of stock options 14 333 1,667 - - 1,867
Exercise of warrants 13 6,050 30,250 - = 30,250
Comprehensive loss ) - - - (8,704,194) (8,704,194)
Balance at December 31, 2021 5,699,793 42,596,523 8,332,362 (43,950,309) 6,978,576

Normber of —eh
Refer to Note 26(]).

have bean rastated on a retrocctive bosis to all periads

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.

to refloct the Share Consolidation ffective on February 15, 2022,
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sugarbud

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
expressed in Canadian dollars unless otherwise noted

Year-ended 7Note December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020
Cash used in operating actlvities: i
Loss for the period $ (8,704,194) $ (4,965,943)
Adjustments for non-cash items:
Net loss on investment - 14,576
Other income - (174,010)
Loss on divestiture of retail assets - 15,094
Income tax recovery - (130,347)
Litigation settlement - 300,000
Depreciation and amortization 8,10,11 850,_592 715,873
Stock based compensation 14 300,052 548,103
Finance costs 21 634,331 1,637,157
Write-down of prepaid and other assets 87,712 201,072
Change in fair value through inventory 7 2,651,090 140,072
Change in unrealized fair value of biological asset 8 1,933;852) (2,322,001)
Term deposit - (45,000)
Change In non-cash working capital 23 488,901 (1,077,319)
Cash used In operating activitles (5,825,168 (5,142,567)
Cash used in investing activities:
Additions to property, plont, and equipment 10 (450,457) (1,013,055)
Net proceeds from divestiture of retail assets - 153,399
Proceeds from investment - 102,138
Cash used in investing activities B (450,457) (757,518)
Cash provided by financing activities:
Repayment of former credit facility - (2,040,000)
Net proceeds from commercial mortgage loan 17 2,422 470 4,923,753
Authorized overdraft 17 8,09
Repayment of commercial mortgage loan 17 (377;193) (202,816)
Net proceeds from convertible debenture 18 - 3,491,898
Net payment of convertible debenture interest reserve (51,794) (51,744)
interest paid during the year 21 (344,677) (1,747,980)
Repayment of lease obligations (156,298} (129,543)
Exercise of warrants and stock options 13,14 31,917 50
lssuance of units, net of issuance costs 12 4,521,835 -
Cash provided by financing activities 6,054,351 4,843,618
Decrease In cash (21,274) (1,056,467)
Cash, beginning of period 21,274 1,077,741
Cash, end of period $ - % 21,274

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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g u 1@ mg b M d NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
é : 9 o T expressed in Canadlian dollars unless otherwise noted

1. Nature of Operations

Sugarbud Craft Growers Corp. (“Sugarbud” or “the Company”) is a federally licensed, publicly traded cannabis
company focused on the cultivation and production of cannabis products. The principal activities of the Company
are the production, distribution, and sale of canncbis in Canada. Sugorbud and its subsidiaries currently operate
solely in Canada. Sugarbud is incorporated in Alberta and listed on the TSX Venture Exchange (“TSXV") under the
symbols “SUGR” (common shares), “SUGR.WT" (common share purchase warrants), “SUGR.DB” (convertible
debenture units), “SUGR.WS” (convertible debenture warrants), “SUGR.WR" (common share purchase warrants) and
also listed on the OTCQB under the symbol “SBUDF". The Company operates primarily in Alberta and its head office
is located at Suite #620, 634 6th Avenue SW, Calgary, Alberta T2P 0S4.

The Company became a reporting issuer in April 2004 and was previously an oll and natural gas compony. During
the year ended December 31, 2018, the Company completad a change of business with the TSXV to be listed as a
Tier 2 Life Sciences Issuer. The TSXV formally approved the Company’s name change from “Relentless Resources
Ltd.” to “Sugarbud Craft Growers Corp.” and the common shares (“Common Shares”) commenced trading on the
TSXV under the Company’s new name and new trading symbol “SUGR” ot the market opening on October 26, 2018,

Going Concern

These consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2021, have been prepared on a going
concern basis, which assumes that the Company wlll be able to realize its assets and dischorge its llabilities in the
normal course of business. The Company s an early-stage company with limited cannabls operating history, a history
of losses and negative cash flows from operating activities.

As at December 31, 2021, the Company incurred a loss of $8,704,194 and had cash outflows from operations of
$5,625,168. As ot December 31, 2021 the Company was not in compliance with the debt-to-equlty ratio covenant
on its commercial mortgage loan. This is deemed an event of default under the terms of the commercial mortgage
loan. As a result, the Company has reclassified its commercial mortgage loan to current. Additionally, the Company’s
twelve-month forecast indicates a potential breach of its financial covenants attached to the commercial mortgage
loan as ot December 31, 2022, and subsequent to December 31, 2021, the Company’s authorized overdraft of up to
75% of the Company's good quality accounts receivable was overdrawn by $57,201. These events would also
indicate events of default which would enable Connect First to demand immediate repayment of all amounts due. The
Company is in on-going discussions with Connect First to renagotiate the covenants attached to the commercial

mortgage loan.

The ability of the Company to continue as a going concern depends on the Company maintaining its Health Canado
Cultivation and Sales Licenses (“Licenses”), the continued support of its lenders, its ability to achieve profitable
operations and its ability to raise additional financing to fund current and future operating and investing octivities.
There is no assurance that the Company will be able to accomplish any of the foregoing objectives.

There can be no guarantee that the Company will be able to raise additional capital on terms acceptable to It or at
all. Any delay or failure to complete any additional financing would have a significant negative impact on the
Company’s business, results of operations and financial eondition, and the Company may be forced to curtail or cease
operations or seek relief under the applicable bankruptcy or insolvency laws.

As o result, these events, combined with the accumulated losses to date, indicate the existence of a material
uncertainty thot may result in significant doubt as to the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, and
therefore, the Company may be unable to realize its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of

business.

The consolidated financial stotements do not reflect adjustments thot may be necessary if the going concern
assumption was not appropriate. If the going concern basis was not appropriate for these consolidated financial
statements, adjustments would be necessary to the carrying value of assets and liabilities, the reported revenues and
expenses and the staremant of financial position classification used.

2. Bosis of Preparation

(o) Statement of compliance

These consolidated financial stotements (“financial statements”) have been praepared in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS™) ae issued by the International Accounting Standards Board
(“IASB") and the interpretations of the International Financial Reperting Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC").

The financlal statements were authorized for issue by the Board of Directors on May 2, 2022.
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S M @ r lb u d NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
g O & expressed in Canadian dollars unless otherwise noted

(p) Basis of consolidation

These financial statements include the accounts of Sugarbud and its wholly owned subsidiaries, Trichome Holdings
Corp. (“Trichome") and 1800905 Alberta Ltd, which are fully consolidated from the dote of acquisition, being the
date on which the Company obtained control, and continue to be consolidated until such control ceases. The financial
statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period as the Company, using consistent
accounting policies. Any balances, unrealized gains or Iosses, or income or expenses from intercompany transactions
are fully eliminated upon consolidation.

(c) Basis of measurement

These financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for biological assets, and certain
financial instruments which are measured at fair value with changes in fair value recorded in earnings.

3. Significant Accounting Policies

(@) Inventory /

Inventories for harvested cannabis and raw materials are initially valued ot cost, and subsequently at the lower of
cost and net realizable value. Net realizable value is the estimated selling price In the ordinary course of business,
less the estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale. The direct and indirect
costs of harvested cannabis Inventory initially include the fair value of the biological asset at the time of harvest.
They also include subsequent costs such as materials and labour. All direct and indirect costs related to inventory
are capitalized as they are incurred, and they are subsequently recorded within cost of goods sold on the consolidated
statement of loss and comprehensive loss at the time connabis is sold using the weighted average cost method. The
Company reviews inventories for obsolete, redundant, and slow-moving goods and any such inventories identified are
written down to net realizable value.

(b) Biological assets

The Company measures biological assets, consisting of cannabis plants, at fair value less costs to sell up to the point
of harvest, which becomes the basis for the cost of finished goods inventories after harvest. All direct and indirect
costs are capitalized, these costs include the cost of growing materials, utilities and supplies, labour costs related to
individuals involved in the growing and quality control processes, depreciation on production equipment, and other
overhead costs, to the extent it is associated with the growing space. Unrealized gains or losses arising from the
change in fair value less cost to sell during the period are included in a separate line on the face of the consolidated

statement of loss and comprehensive loss.

The Company does not recognize the mother plants used for cloning the cannabis plants on the consolidated
statement of financial position, since such plants are under the scope of |AS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment, but
have a useful life of less than one year.

(c) Property, plant, and equipment

Property, plant, and equipment are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. The cost of
an asset consists of its purchase price, any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its present working
condition and location for its intended use. The Company capitalizes borrowing costs on qualifying capital
construction projects. Upon the asset becoming available for use, capitalization of borrowing costs ceases, and
depreciotion commences on straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the related asset.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognized as a seporate asset, as appropriate, only
when it Is probable that future economic benefits associoted with the item will flow to the Company and the cost of

the ltern can be meusured reliubly.

On disposition, any gain or loss that arlses is determined as the difference between the proceeds and the carrying
value of the asset and is recognized in the consolidated statement of loss ond comprehensive loss.

Depreciation is calculated using the following terms and methods:

Asset class Depreciation rruhod . Deproclutbn}am

Production facility Stralght-line 40 years

Equipment Stralght-fide! 5 - 10 years

Land Not depreciated i} No term
6
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S u @ Eﬂ b u d NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Z expressed in Canadian dollars unless otherwise noted

(d) Intangible assets

Intangible assets are measured at cost less depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses. Amortization of
definite life intangibles is provided on a straight-line basis over the useful life of the related production facility.

Amortization method Amortization term

Asset class
Straight-line 40 years

Health Candda Licenses

(e) Impairment of long-lived assets

Long-lived assets, including property, plant and equipment, Intangible assets, and right-of-use assets, are tested
for impairment at each reporting date, when there are indicators of impairment, or whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount.

For the purpose of impairment testing, assets that cannot be tested individually are grouped together into the
smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash
inflows of other cssets or group of assets (the cash generating unit, or “CGU"). The recoverable amount of an asset
or a CGU is the higher of its foir value less costs to sell and its value in use. If the carryling amount of an asset exceeds
its recoverable amount, an impairment charge is recognized in the statement of loss and comprehensive loss equal
to the amount by which the carrying amount exceeds the recoverable amount. Where an impairment loss subsequently
reverses, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the lesser of the revised estimate of the recoverable amount
and the carrying amount that would have been recorded had no impairment loss been recognized previously.

(f) Financiol instruments

Classification

The Company’s financial instruments consist of cash, accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued liabilities,
commercial mortgoge loan, authorized overdraft, and convertible debentures. The Company classifies its financial
assets and financial liabilities in the following measurement categories: (i) those to be measured subsequently ot fair
value through profit or loss (*FVTPL"); (i) those to be measured subsequently at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVOCI); and (iil) those to be measured at amortized cost. The classification of financial
assets depends on the business model for managing the financial assets and whether the contractual cash flows
represent solely payments of principal and interest. Financial liabiiities are classified as amortized cost unless they
are classified to be subsequently measured at FVTPL (irrevocable election at the time of recognition). For assets and
liobilities measured at fair value, gains and losses are recorded in profit or loss or other comprehensive income.

The Company classifies its financial assets and liobilities depending on the purpose for which the financial instruments
were acquired, their characteristics and management intent. Cash, accounts recelvable, accounts payable and
accrued liabilities, commercial mortgage loan, authorized overdroft, and the debt hest of the convertible debenture
are classified as amortized cost. The conversion feature related to the convertible debentures is classified as FVTPL.

The Company has no financlal assets or liabilities classified as FVOCI.

The Company reclasslfies financlal assets when and only when its business model for managing those assets changes.
Financial liabilities are not reclassified.

Measurement

All financial instruments are required to be measured at fair value on initial recognition, plus, in the case of a financial
asset or financial liability not clossified as FVTPL, transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition
or issuance of the financial asset or financial liability. Transaction costs of financial assets carried at FVTPL are
expensed in profit or loes. Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in their entirety when

determlning whether their cash flows are solely payment of principal and Interest.

Financial assets that are held within a business model whose objective is to collect the controctual cash tiows, and
that have contractual cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal outstanding are
generally measured at omortized cost. All other financial assets including equity investments are measured at their
fair values, with any changes taken through profit and loss. For financial liabllities measured subsequently ot FVTPL,
changes in fair value due to credit risk are recorded in other comprehensive income.

Convertible Debentures

Convertible Debentures are compound financial instruments which are accounted for separately by their components:
a finonclal liability, a derivative liability, and equity-classified warrants. The financial liability, which represents the
obligation to pay coupon Interest on the convertible notes in the future, is initially measured at its fair value and
subsequently measured at amortized cost. Where the conversion option has a variable conversion rate, the conversion
option is recognized as a derivative liability measured at fair value through profit or loss,

7
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g u @ Ir Ib u d NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
: 4 g L ! expressed in Canadian dollars unless otherwise noted

The identification of the components of convertible notes is based on interpretations of the substance of the
contractual arrangement and therefore requires judgement from management. The separation of the components
offects the initial recognition of the Convertible Debenture at issuance and the subsequent recognition of interest on
the liability component. The determination of the fair value of the liability is also based on various assumptions,
including contractual future cash flows, discount rates and the presence of any derivative financlal instruments.

Impairment

The Company assess all information available, including, on @ forward-looking basis, the expected credit loss
associated with its assets carried ot amortized cost.

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased significantly, the Company considers
whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk. To assess whether there is a significant increase in credit
risk, the Company considers reasonable and supportable information that is relevant and available without undue
cost or effort. This includes both quontltative and qualitative information and anclyses, based on historical

experience.

For trade receivables, the Company applies the simplified approach to the recognition of expected credit losses as
permitted by IFRS 9. The simplified approach does not require the Company to track the changes in credit risk; rather,
the Company recognizes a loss allowance based on lifetime expected credit losses at each reporting date from the

date of the trade receivable.
De-recognition

Financial assets are de-recognized when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire or
when the contractual rights to the assets are transferred. Financial liabilities are de-recognized when the obligation

is discharged, cancelled, or expired.

(g) Leases

At the inception of a contract, the Company assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease based on whether
the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identifled asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration. The Company recognizes a right-of-use asset and a lease obligation on the commeancement date. The
commencement date is the date on which a lessor makes an underlying asset available for use by a lessee.

The right-of-use assets are initiclly measured at cost. After the commencement date, the right-of-use assets are
measured at cost less any accumulated depreciation ond impairment losses and adjusted for any re-measurement
of the lease liability. Depreciation Is calculated using the stralght-line method over the estimated useful life on the
same basie as owned assets, or, where shorter, over the term of the respective lease. If the lease transfers ownership
of the underlying asset to the Company by the end of the lease term or if the cost of the right-of-use asset reflects
thot the Company will exercise a purchase option, the Company depreciates the right-of-use asset from the
commencement date to the end of the useful life of the underlying asset.

Depreciation is calculated using the following useful lives:

Asset class — - Useful life
Vehicles 4:years;
Equipment 3 -6years

The lease liability is initially measured ot the present value of the lease payments that have not been paid at the
commencement date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease, if that rate can be readily determined,
or the lesses's incremental borrewing rate. The lease obligation is subsequently maosured using the effective interest

method.
(h) Share capital

Common shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of common shares and
share options are recognized as a deduction from equity, net of any tax effects.

(i) Revenue

Revanue is comprised of sales of packaged finished goods dried flower cannabis and pre-roll cannabis to distributors
and retail locations for end-user customers and ecommerce end-user customers in Canada.
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S @ W lb u @E NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
u g L expressed in Canadlan dollars unless otherwise noted

Measurement and timing

Revenue from the sale of cannabis to licensed producers, distributors and end-user customers is recognized when
the Company transfers control of the goods to the customer, which most commonly occurs upon delivery, Control of
the product transfers at @ point in time either upon shipment to or receipt by the customer, depending on the
contractual terms. The Company recoghizes revenue in an amount that reflects the consideration that the Company
expects to receive, considering any variation that may result from rights of return or early payment discounts.

For contracts that permit the customer to return goods, revenue is recognized to the extent that it is highly probably
that a significant reversal in the amount of the cumulative revenue recognized will not occur. As such, the amount of
revenue recognized |s adjusted for expected returns, which are estimated based on industry historical data and
management’s expectation of future returns. In these circumstances, a refund liability is recognized. The right to
recover returned goods asset is measured ot the lower of the estimated net reclizable value and the former carrying
amount of the inventory less any expected costs to recaver the goods. The refund liability is included in accounts
payable and accrued liabillties and the right to recover returned goods is included in inventory. The Company reviews
its estimate of expected returns at each reporting date and updates the amounts of the asset and liability

accordingly.

To determine the amount and timing of revenue to be recognized, the Company follows a S-step process:

Identifying the contract with a customer

Identifying the performance obligations

Determining the transaction price

Allocating the transaction price to the performance obligations
Recognizing revenue when/as performance obligation(s) are satisfled

mbwNS

() Share based payments

The Company accounts for its stock options using the fair value method. The options have an exercise price equal to
the fair value of the securlty at the date of grant. The fair value of each option is estimated on the date of grant using
the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. The fair value is charged to the statement of loss and comprehensive loss
over the vesting year with a corresponding increase to contributed surplus. The Company estimates a forfeiture rate
on the grant date based on weighted average historical forfeitures and the rate is adjusted to reflect the actual
number of options that vest. The expected life of the options granted Is estimated, based on the Company's best
estimate, for the effects of non-transferabillity, exerclse restrictions and behavioral patterns.

(k) Income tax

Tax expense includes current and defarred tax. The expense is recognized in profit or loss, except for income tox
related to the compenants of other comprehensive income or equity, in which case the tax expense is recognized In

other comprehensive income or equity, respectively.

Current tox

Current tax assets and licbliities are obligations to or claims from the taxation authorities relating to the current or
prior reporting periods that are unpaid at the reporting date. Current tax is payable on the basis of taxable profit,
which differs from profit or loss In the financial statements. Calculation of current tax is bosed on tax rates and tax
laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax

Deferred taxes are calculated using the asset and liability method on temporary differences between the financial
statement carrying amounts of assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases. Deferred tax assets and liabllities
are calculated, without discounting, at tax rates that are expected to apply to their respective period of reallzatlon,
provided they are enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax liabllities are always provided for in full. Deferred tox assets are recognized to the extent that it is
probable that they will be able to be utilized against future taxable income. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are
offset only when the Company has a right and Intention to offset current tax assets and liabilities from the same

taxation authorlity.

() Loss pershare

Basic loss per share Is calculated by dividing the income or loss attributable to common shareholders of the Company
by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the year. Diluted loss per share is determined
by adjusting the welghted average number of common shares outstanding for the effects of dilutive instruments, such

as options and warrants.
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S u @ F b u d NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
: expressed in Canadian dollars unless otherwise noted

4. Significant Accounting Judgements, Estimates, and Assumptions

The preparation of these consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to maoke
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and ligbilities at the date of the financial
statements and income and expenses during the reporting year. By their nature, these estimates are subject to
measurement uncertainty and the effect on the financial statements of changes in such estimates in future years
could be material. Estimates and judgments ore continuously evaluated and are based on management’s experience
and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.
However, actual outcomes can materially differ from these estimates.

In the process of applying the Company’s accounting policies, monagement has made the following judgments,
estimates, and assumptions which have the most significant effect on the amounts recognized in the financial

statemants:
(a) Biological assets

in caleulating the value of the biological assets, management s required to make a number of estimates, including
estimating the stage of growth of the cannabis up to the point of harvest, harvesting costs, selling costs, expected
selling ond list prices and expected ylelds for the cannabis plants.

(b) Inventory

The valuation of biological assets at the point of harvest is used as the measurement basis for all cannabis-based
inventory, thus, any critical estimates and judgements related to the valuation of biological assets are olso applicable
to inventory. The valuation of work-in-progress and finished goods also requires the estimate of post-harvest and
processing costs incurred, which become port of the carrying amount of the inventory, measured at the lower of cost
and net realizable value. The Company must also determine if the carrying value of any inventory exceeds its net
realizable value, such as cases where prices have decreased, or inventory has spoiled or has otherwise been damaged.

(¢) Convertible debentures

The identification of the components of convertible notes is based on interpretations of the substance of the
contractual arrangement and therefore requires judgement from management. The separation of the components
affects the initial recognition of the convertible debenture ot issuance and the subsequent recognition of interest on
the liability component. The determination of the fair value of the liability Is also based on various assumptions,
including contractual future cash flows, discount rates and the presence of any derivative financial instruments.

(d) Useful lives and impalrment

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment, intangible assets, and right-of-use assets is dependent upon
estimates of useful lives and residual values, which are determined through the exercise of judgement, considering
the noture of the asset, contractual rights, expected use, and review of asset useful life. The assessment of any
impairment of these assets Is dependent upon estimates of recoverable amounts that take into account factors such
as economic and market conditions and the useful life of assets. The Company reviews amortization and depreciation
methods and useful lives annually or when circumstances change and adjusts its methods and assumptions

prospectively.
(e) Share based payments

The Company measures equity settled share-based payments based on their fair value at the grant date and
recognized compensation expense over the vesting period. The falr value of stock options granted is recognized using
the Black-Scholes option pricing model. Measurement inputs include the Company’s share price on the measurement
date, Lhe exurcise price of the options, the expected life of the options, annualized volatility, and the risk-free rate af
return. Expected forfeitures are estimated ot the date of grant and subsequently adjusted if further Information
indicates actual torteitures may vary from the original estimate. Inpuls subject to estimate include volatility, forfeiture
rates, estimated lives, and market rates.

5. Financlol Instruments and Risk Management

Fair value of financial instruments

The Company’s financial instruments consist of cash, accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued liabilities,
commercial mortgage loan, authorlzed overdraft, and convertible debentures, The carrying values of these financial
instruments, excluding commercial mortgage loan and the convertible debentures, approximate their falr values as
at December 31, 2021, given that they are short-term in nature. The carrying value of the commercial mortgage loan
approximates its fair value as they bear floating rates of interest.

10

0126



% u @ W b u d NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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The Company classifles the falr value of financial instruments according to the following hlerarchy based on the
number of observable inputs used to value the instruments:

i. Level 1 - Quoted prices are available in active markets for identical assets or liabilities as of the
reporting date. Active markets are those in which transactions occur in sufficient frequency and volume
to provide pricing information on on ongoing basis.

il. Level 2 — Pricing inputs are other than quoted prices in active markets included in Level 1. Prices in
Level 2 are either directly or indirectly observable as of the reporting date. Level 2 valuations are based
on inputs, including quoted forward prices for commodities, time value and volatility factors, which can
be substantially observed or corroborated in the marketplace.

ili. Level 3 — Valuations in this level are those with inputs for the asset or llability that are not based on

observable market data.

As at December 31, 2021 the Company did not have any financial instruments measured at Level 2 or Level 3. The
Company's conversion feature on Convertible Debentures is designated as FVTPL. The fair value of the Convertible
Debentures as at December 31, 2021, was determined using Level 1inputs as the debentures are traded on the TSX-
V under the trading symbol “SUGR.DB" and “SUGR.WS”. The Company accounted for the Convertible Debentures
as a compound financial instrument with separate host contract, derivative liability, and equity-classified warrants.
The derivative liability was recorded at fair value using a binomial option pricing model. The worrants value was
determined using the residual value after deducting the fair value of the debt and derivative instruments from the
initial gross proceeds. The fair value of the conversion feature of the Convertible Debentures is remeasured at each
reporting date with changes in fair value recognized in the consolidated statement of loss and comprehensive loss

through finance costs.
There were no transfers between Levels 1, 2, and 3 inputs during the period.

The Company is exposed in varying degrees to a variety of financial instrument related risks. The Board mitigates
these risks by assessing, monitoring, and approving the Company’s risk management processes.

(a) Credit risk

Credit risk Is the risk of a potential loss to the Company if a customer or third party to a financial instrument fails to
meet its contractual obligations. The Company is exposed to credit risk from its cash and accounts receivable. The
risk exposure [s limited to their carrying amounts at the statemnent of financial position date.

Accounts receivable consists of amounts owing from customers. The Company evaluates the credit worthiness of the
customer counterparties before credit is granted and only issues credits to credit worthy counterparties. Refer to

Note 6.
(b) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they come due. The
Company manages liquidity risk through the management of its capital structure. The Company’s approach to
managing liquidity is to ensure that It will have sufficient liquidity to settle obligations and liabilities when due. See
Note 1 for further details on the going concern assumption and capital management.

The timing of expected cash outflows relating to financial llabilities at December 31, 2021is as follows:

2022 2023 2024 2025 2026  Thereafter Total

Accounts

payable and 3,172,455 - - - - - 3,172,455
accrued liabilitles

Authorized :

overdraft 8,091 = - - - - 8,091
Lease obligations 197,586 151,489 103,209 90,189 = - 542,473
Commercial

mortgage loan? 8,532,731 - - - - - 8,532,731
Convertible

debenture’ 1§,S§O 146,097 - - - - 162,567
Total 1,927,423 297,496 103,209 90,189 - - 12,418,317
YA tha princlpal bal of the debantures ing as at D ber 31, 2027, 1 i tod ond includes the poy until the
moturity date.
2as ot December 31, 2021, the Compony’s Debt to Equity Ratlo was 1.5%:1 which Is considerad an event of defauit. As a result, the Company has reclaseifled
the commercial mortgage loan to current llabllitles. The Company is In on-golng discusalans with Connect Flrat to r 9 the ts d to

the commaercial mortgage loan.
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(c) Market risk

i. Currancy risk

Currency risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of
changes in foreign exchange rates. The operating results and financial position of the Company are reported in
Canadian dollars. The Company may work with US-sourced vendors and suppliers resulting in exposure to foreign
currency exchange gains and losses. As at December a1, 2021, the Company does not have material currency risk.

ii. Interestrate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of

changes in market interest rates. During the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company closed the restructuring

of its commercial mortgage loan, which amended the rate of interest to a fixed rate of 4.15% from the previous

variable rate of 4.25%, as such, as at December 31, 2021, the Company does not have material interest rate risk.
jii. Price risk

Price risk is the risk of variability in fair value due to movements in equity or market prices. The Company is exposed

to price risk related to the determination of the fair value of the embedded derivative described in Note 18.

6. Accounts Receivable

The following is a table with an aging onalysis of the outstanding accounts receivable as at December 31, 202%:

Period Outstanding December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020
< 30 days $ 220273 $ 225,770
31to 60 days 71,366 -
61to S0 days - -
Over S0 doys ) - -
Trade receivables i $ 201,639 $ 225,770
Other receivables $ - % 61,175
Total accounts receivable $ 201630 $ 286,945

As at Decembar 31, 2021 two customers represented B889% of total trade receivables. Customer A accounted for 63%
and Customer B accounted for 24%. Both customers continue to pay within the agreed upon payment terms. As such,
the Company has not set up an allowance for the accounts presented above as they are considered fully collectible.

7. Inventory

Inventory is comprised of:

Yeor-ended December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020

Harvested cannabis $ 1,956,155 $ 2,814,456
Connabis work-In-progress 582,946 169,046
Raw materials 117,557 109,494
Purchased cannabis - 12,427
Total inventory $ 2,656,658 $ 3,105,423

During the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company recognized $3,969,485 (December 31, 2020 - $140,072)
of fair value adjustments on the growth of biological assets included in inventory sold. The fair value component of
inventory sold included a revaluation of inventory to its net realizable value of $2,890,150 (December 31, 2020 -
$Nil). OF the total provision, $1,571,755 hos been recognized as a change in fair value through inventory being the
portion of the provision relates to the fair value component of the provisioned inventory, and the remaining omount
of the provision, $1,318,395, has been recognized as an inventory provision.

During the year ended December 31, 2021, inventories expensed directly to cost of goods sold were $1,329,043
(December 31, 2020 - $305,094).

At December 31, 2021, the Company held 1,023,223 grams of harvested cannabis in inventory (December 31, 2020
- 486,668).
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8. Biological Assets

Biological assets are comprised of:

Year-ended ) December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020

Balance, beginning of period $ 923,284 $ 70,072
Production costs capitalized 1,613,601 1,676,255
Chonge in fair value due to biological transformation 1,933,652 2,322,001
Transferred to inventory upon harvest (3,825,908) (3,145,044)
Balance, end of period $ 644,629 $ 923,284

The Company measures biological assets, consisting of cannabis plants, at fair value less costs to sell. The fair value
of the biological assets is determined using a model which is bosed on the expected horvest yield (grams per plant)
for plants currently being cultivated, adjusted for the expected selling price per gram and for any additional post-

harvest costs to be incurred.
The following inputs are used in determining the fair value of biological assets:

(a) Weighted average net selling price per gram: caiculated as the weighted average net selling price of

cannabis, adjusted for expectations about future pricing;
(b) Stage of growth: represents the number of weeks out of the growing cycle that biological assets have

reached as of the measurement date.
(c) Yield: consists of the number of grams of finished cannabis that is expected per cannabis plant;
(d) Post-harvest costs: calculated as the cost per gram of harvested cannabis to complete the sale of cannabis

plants post-harvest.

The Company believes that any reasonably possible change in the key assumptions would not cause a material
change in the carrying volue of biological assets.

Management believes the most significant unobservable inputs and their impact on fair value of biclogical assets are
as follows:

10% change 10% change

December December as at as at
31, 2021 31, 2020 December 31, December 31,
2021 2020 B
Waeighted average net selling price per gram $ 513 % 639 % 169,135 $ 224,186
Average yield per plant 90.50 9053 $ 64,463 % 92,804
Post-harvest cost per gram’ $ 200 $ 069 $ 65,925 $%$ 24,242
Stage of growth 46% 44% $ 64463 $ 35,401
The Incroase In post-horvest costs per gram is a fi lon of the | of Ci bis 20 products durlng the yeor.

As at December 31, 2021 it is estimated that the Company’s biological assets will yield approximately 204,296
grams of dry cannabis when harvested (December 31, 2020 - 175,981). During the year ended December 31, 2021,
the Company harvested 1,009,213 grams (December 31, 2020 - 547,904) of dry cannabis.

9. Intangible Asset

During the year ended December 31, 2015, Sugarbud received its cultivation, processing and medical sales licenses
(“the Licenses”) from Health Canada in respect of Phase 1a of the Company's Stavely faciiity (“Stavely Facility”).
During 2019, the Company began amortizing its intangible asset as it was available for its intended use upon receipt
of the Licenses. The intangible asset is amortized over Its useful life of 40 years, which is consistent with the useful

life of the Stavely Facllity.

Health Canada License

Balance as at December 31, 2019 _ $ 2,508,148

Amortization - (65,280)

Balance as at December 31, 2020 $ 2,532,868

Amortization (65,280)

Balance as at December 31, 2021 ) $ 2,467,588
13
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10. Property, Plant and Equipment

Office Equipment

Land Facility and Other Total
Cost
As ot December 31, 2019 $ 323000 10,259,551 200,995 10,783,546
Additions - 1,013,058 - 1,013,055
Impairment - = (571) (571)
As at December 31, 2020 $ 323,000 11,272,606 200,424 11,796,030
Additions - 433,583 16,874 450,457
As at December 31, 2021 $ 323,000 11,706,189 217,298 12,246,487
Accumulated Depreciation
As at December 31, 2019 $ - (200,856) (3,624) (204,480)
Depreciation B - (605,408) (20,989) (626.397)
As gt December 31, 2020 $ - (8086,264) (24,613) (830,877)
Depreciation -  (859,282) {61,479) (720,761)
As at December 31, 2021 $ - (1,465,5486) (86,092)  (1,551,638)
Net Book Value _ _ _
As at December 31, 2020 $ 323,000 10,466,342 - 175811 10,965,153
As at December 31, 2021 $ 323,000 10,240,643 131,206 10,694,845

During the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company capitalized $95,044 (December 31, 2020 - $138,116) of
depreciation within inventory and biological assets.

1. Right-of-use Assets

Vehicles Equipment Retail Total

Cost

As at December 31, 2019 $ 256,736 539,389 38,490 834,615

Additions - - - -
_As at December 31, 2020 $ 256,736 ~ 539,389 38,490 834,615

Additions - - = =

As at December 31, 2021 $ 256,736 539,389 38,480 834,815

Accumulated Depreciation

As at December 31, 2019 $ (38,021) (28,203) (38,490) (164.714)

Depreciation (65.2?3) (97,034) = (162,312)

As at December 31, 2020 $ (103,299) (125,237) (38.,490) (267,026)

Depreciation (65,278) (94,554) - (159,832)

As at December 31, 2021 (168,577) (219,791)  (38,490) (426,858)

Net Book Value - ) -

As at Decsmber 31, 2020 $ 153,437 __414,152 = 587,590

As gt December 31, 2021 $ 88,159 319,588 - 407,757

Subseguent to December 31, 2021, the Company disposed of six leased trucks resulting in gross proceeds of $41,194
(December 31, 202 - Nil). Refer to Note 26(jii).
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12. Share Capital

{a) Authorized

The authorized share capital of the Company is comprised of an unlimited number of voting Common Shares and
preferred shares.

The holders of Common Shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared by the Company and are entitled to one
vote per share. All Common Shares are of the same class with equal rights and privileges.

(b) Issued
Year-ended December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020
Shares' Amount Shares? Amount
Balance, beginning of periad 4622,096 $ 38013448 3,937,683 $ 35,621,339
Issuance of common shares -~ public ey ;
offering (i) 766,705 3,778,313 - =
lssuance of common shares -conversion = ;
of convertible debentures (ji) 189,359 805,887 684,403 2,392,060
lssuance of common shares — private ’
placement (jil) 88,750 302,035 - =
Issuance of common shares — shares for ; T
services (iv) 28,500 132,500 H -
Exercise of warrants (v) 6,050 30,250 10 50
Exercise of stock options (vi) 333 1,667 - =
Share issuance costs £ (465,588) ~ =
Balance, end of period 5,699,793 $ 42,596,523 4,622,096 $ 38,013,449
ber of r h hove been rostated on a retreactive basls to all periods to refiect the Share Consolidation effectad on February 15, 2022

Refer to Note 26(l).

i. During the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company closed a bought-deal public offering, for
aggregate gross proceeds of $4,600,230, pursuont to which the Company issued 766,705 units of the
Company at a price of $6.00 per unit including the full exercise of the over-allotment option. Each unit is
comprised of one Common Share of the Company and one Common Share purchose warrant (“2021
Warrant”) of the Company. One hundred 2021 Warrants entitle the holder thereof to purchase one
Common Share at an exercise price of $8.00 at any time until March 16, 2024. The net proceeds from the
public offering were $4,069,342. In consideration of the services provided by the agent and other costs in
connection with the public offering the Company paid the agent a cash commission and other expenses, as
well as transactions costs for professional fees and other expenses, totaling $530,862. These transaction
costs have been allocated to the Common Shares and the 2021 Warrants based on their pro-rata values.

ii. During the year ended December 31, 2021, $755,000 principal amount of Debenture Units were converted
into 151,000 common shares of the Company at an average exercise price of $4.20. in connection with
the Debenture Units that were converted, 38,358 common shares of the Company were issued as part of
the effective interest payment and make whole provision.

During Lhe year ended Dccember 31, 2020, Sugarbud completed a fully subscribed public offering of
secured convertible debenture units of the Company (“Debenture Units”) at o price of 1,000 per
debenture unit for proceeds of $4 milllon. Eoch debenture unit consists of: (i) one 12.0% secured convertible
debenture (“Convertible Debentures”); and (ii) 200 common share purchase warrants of the Company
(“Debenture Warrants"). Each Debenture Warrant will entitle the holder to purchase one common share in
the capital of the Company at on exercise price of $5.00, at any time up to 36 months following the dote

of issuance.

ili. During the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company closed a non-brokered private placement (the
«2021 Private Placement”) for totaol gross proceeds of $355,000 in exchange for 88,750 units of the
Company ot a price of $4.00 per unit. Each unit is comprised of one Common Share of the Company and
one Common Share purchase warrant of the Company (“2021 Private Placement Warrant"). One hundred
2021 Private Placement Warrants entitle the holder thereof to purchase one Common Share ct a price of
$5.00 at ony time until September 14, 2023. The net proceeds from the private placement were $319,988
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after incurring total transaction costs for professional fees and other expenses of $35,012. These
transaction costs have been aliocated to the Common Shares and 2021 Private Placement Warrants

based on their pro-rata values.

iv. During the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company entered into a Shares for Services agreement
with certain directors and an advisor of the Company, pursuant to which Sugarbud issued a total of 26,500
shares at a deemed price of $5.0Q per share in satisfaction of accrued portions of the cash retainers owing
to such persons in the aggregote amount of $132,500.

v. During the year ended December 31, 2021, 6,050 Debenture Warrants (December 31, 2020 ~ 10) were
exercised at a price of $5.00 per Common Share for total proceeds of $30,250 (December 31, 2020 -

$50).

vi. During the year ended December 31, 2021, 333 stock options were exercised for total proceeds of $1,667
{December 31, 2020 - Nil).

13. Warrants

Year-ended I December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020
Welghted Weighted
average average

_Warrants exercise price’ Warrants exercise price’

Balance, beginning of period 268,653,508 $ 7.80 175,854,508 ¢ 9.29

Warrants issued ~ public offering (i) 76,670,500 8.00 - =

Warrants issued - public offering P !

broker warrants (i) 5,366,935 €:00 - -

\(li\il)crrunts issued - private placement 8,875,600 5.00 _ )

Warrants is.s_ued - convertible 3 - 80,000,000 & s

debenture (jli)

Warrants issued - convertible

debenture broker warrants (i) i = 12,800,000 5.00

Warrants exercised (iv) ! (605,000) 5.00 (1,000) 5.00

Balance, end of period® 358,960,943 ¢ 7.80 268,653,508 $ 72.81

~ "Welghted average oxercise price hos been restatad on a retrooctive basls to oll periods to reflest the Share Consolidotion effected on February 15, 2022.

Refer to Note 26()).
ZThe number of dl shore purch Wi Pt or other convertible securlties of the Company, was not altered by the Share

Consolidation; howaver, the exsrcise price and number of shares lssuable on the exercise of any warrants, opticns, or other convartible securities of the
(o y was {cally propertienally odjusted on the basis of the 100:1 consolldotion ratie, such that 100 warrants, options, of cther convertible
(! C

P
socurities ore now exercisable for one p Share.

> \id,

i. During the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company closed a bought-deal public offering for
aggregate gross proceeds of $4,600,230, pursuant to which the Company jssued 76,670,500 units of
the Company at a price of $6.00 per unit including the full exercise of the over-allotment option. Each unit
is comprised of one Common Share of the Company and one 2021 Warrant. One hundred 2021 Warrants
entitle the holder thereof to purchase one Common Share at an exercise price of $8.00 at any time until
March 16, 2024. The net proceeds from the public offering were $4,069,368, In consideration of the
services provided by the agent and other costs in connection with the public offering the Company poid the
agent a cash commission and other expenses, as well as transaction costs for professional fees and other
expenses, totaling $530,862. These transaction costs have been allocated to the Common Shares and

2021 Warrants based on their pro~-rata values.

Additionally, the Company issued to the agent who led the public offering 5,366,935 broker warrants
(“Broker Warrants”). One hundred Broker Warrants are exercisable for one Common Share of the Company
at an exercise price of $6.00 at any time until March 16, 2024.

il. During the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company closed a non-brokered private placement (the
«2021 Private Placement”) for total gross proceeds of $355,000 in exchange for 8,875,000 units of the
Company at a price of $4.00 per unit. Each unit is comprised of one Common Share of the Company and
one 2021 Private Placement Warrant. One hundred 2021 Private Plocement Warrants entitle the holder
thereof to purchase one Common Share ata price of $5.00 at any time until September 14, 2023. The net
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proceeds from the private placement were $319,988 after incurring total transaction costs for professional
fees and other expenses of $35,012. These transaction costs have been allocated to the Common Shares
and 2021 Private Placement Warrants based on their pro-rata values.

jii. During the year ended December 31, 2020, Sugarbud issued 80,000,000 warrants in connection with
the fully subscribed public offering of Debenture Units. Additionally, the Company issued to the agent who
led the public offering 12,800,000 compensation warrants (“Compensation Warrants”). One hundred
Compensation Warrants are exercisable for one Common Share in the capital of the Company at an
exercise price of $5.00 for a period of 36 months from the date of issuance. The warrants were calculated
based on the residual value of the financial liability and derivative liability of the Convertible Debentures.

iv. During the year ended December 31, 2021, 605,000 Debenture Warrants (December 31, 2020 - 1,000)
were exercised at a price of $5.00 per Common Share for total proceeds of $30,250 (December 31,2020

- $50).

On November 18, 2021, the Company extended the expiry of 18,500,000 outstanding common share purchase
warrants of the Company issued on November 19, 2019 (the “2019 Private Placement Warrants”), and 16,272,075
outstanding common share purchase warrants of the Company issued on December 20, 2019 (the “2018 Rights
Offering Warrants”). The 2019 Private Placement Warrants and the 2019 Rights Offering Warrants were set to
expire on November 18, 2021, and December 20, 2021, respectively. Under the updoted terms of the warrant
agreement, one hundred Warrants would entitle the holder thereof to subscribe for one Common Share at an exercise
price of $10.00 any time prior to September 14, 2023. Aside from the extension of the expiry date, all other terms

of the Warrants remain unchanged.

The Company valued the 2021 Warrants and the 2021 Private Placement Warrants using the Black-Scholes option
pricing model with the following inputs:

Year-ended December 31, 2021
Volatility 51.96% - 54.20%
Life 2 - 3years
Risk-free interest rate 0.45% - 0.79%
Exercise price $5.00 - $8.00
Stock price $3.50 - $4.90
Dividend yield Nil

The weighted average remaining life of the Company's warrants as at December 31, 2021 are 1.76 years.

14. Stock Based Compensation

The Company has a stock option plan (the “Plan”) for its officers, directors, employees, and consultants. Under the
Plan, the Company may grant options to purchase up to 10% of the outstanding Common Shares. The options have
a five-year term and generally vest in tranches. The polices of the TSXV require “rolling” stock option plons to be
approved on an annual basls by the shareholders of a listed Issuer. During the year ended December 31, 2021, the
Company granted stock options to employees, directors, officers, and advisors of the Company, the opproved number
and weighted average exercise price of the stock options are as follows:

Year-ended December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020

Options Weighted average Options V'Eeighted average

7 outstanding exercise price’ outstanding  exercise prica’

g;:z;unding, beginning of 30,006,667 13110 39,356,667 12.00
Granted during the period (i) 23,460,000 5.00 = -
Exercised during the perlod (i) (33,333) 5.00 - -
Forfeited during the period (2,666,667) 6.90 (9,350,000) 8.40
Balance, ending of period j 50,766,667 8.70 30,006,667 13.10
Exercisable, ending of period® 33,480,000 9.60 24,993,333 10.50

price hos boen restated on o retroactive basls ta oll perleds ta Tofloct the Share Consolldation efoctod on Fabruary 15, 2022,

d average I

Refer to Note 26(I).
2The numbar of outstanding common share purchase warrants, optlens, or other convartible securities of the Company, was not altered by the Share

Consolidation; however, the exerclse price and numbar of shares Jssuobia on the exerclse of any warrants, options, or other convartibie sacuritles of the
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Ci Ty was \cally proportionally edjusted on the basls of the 10011 consolidation ratio, such that one hundred warrants, options, of other

convertible securltles ore now exarclsoble for one past-consolldation Common Share.

I. During the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company granted 10,660,000 stock options to employees
of the Company. The options expire five years from the date of the grant and are exercisable at a price of
$5.00 per Common Shore. The options vest at one third on the grant date and one third on each of the

first and second anniversaries of the grant date.

During the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company granted 12,800,000 stock optlons to directors,
officers, and advisors of the Company. The options expire five years from the date of the grant and ore
exercisable at a price of $5.00 per Common Share. The options vest at one third on the grant dote and
one third on each of the first and second anniversaries of the grant date.

ii. During the year ended December 31, 2021, 33,333 stock options were exercised for total proceeds of
$1,667.

During the year ended December 31, 2021, stock-based compensation expense recognized was $300,052
(December 31, 2020 - $548,103). The weighted average remaining life of the Company’s stock options as at

December 31, 2021 was 5.54 years.

The Company values stock-based compensation by using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. Stock options
granted during the year ended Dacember 31, 2021, were valued using the following inputs:

December, 2021

Year-ended

Volatility 50.69% - 53.41%
Life S years
Risk-free interest rate 0.37% - 0.71%
Exercise price $5.00
Stock price $3.50
Dividend yield Nil

15. Loss per Share

Year-ended December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020
Loss per share, basic and diluted $ (3.60). $ (1.16)
Weighted average shares outstanding’ 5,439,614 4,273,918

TNUmbar of common ahares heve boon restoted on a retroactive baosis to all porlods to reflect the Share Cansolidation offected en February 15, 2022,
Refer to Note 26().

Diluted lose per share is calculated by dividing total loss by the sum of the weighted overage number of common
shares outstanding as well as alf additional common shares that would have been outstanding if potentially dilutive
outstanding shares instruments had been issued as common shares during the period. The periods presented in the
consolidated statement of loss and comprehensive loss reported a net loss and, as such, the applicable
outstanding share instruments are consldered anti-dllutive.

16. Lease Obligation

The following presents a maturity analysis of the Company’s undiscounted contractual lease obligations as at
December 31, 2021:

2022 2023 2024 2025 Total
Vehicles $ 65,746 $ 27,283 $ - % - $ 92,029
Equipment 131,840 124,206 103,208 90,189 449,444
Total $ 197,586 $ 151,489 $ 103,208 _$ 90,189 $ 542,473

Lease payments made by the Company are blended interest and principal payments. The Company's discounted
lease obligations are as follows:
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7Year—ended December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020
Future minimum lease payments $ 542,273 $ 746,841
Discount (S3:772). (141,847)
Present value of minimum lease payments 448,696 604,994
Presented as: - )

Current portion of lease obligations 156,837 156,837
Lease obligations $ 201858 $ 448,157

During the year ended December 31, 2021, total expense recognized for short term and low value lease obligations
was $9,628 (December 31, 2020 - Nil).

17. Commercial Mortgage Loan

On May 28, 2020, Sugarbud entered into a new secured commercial mortgage loan with Connect First Credit Union
(formerly First Calgary Credit Union) (“Connect First”) (the “commercial mortgage loan”). The commercial mortgage
loan replaced the Company's former credit faeility. On January 13, 2021, the Company restructured the commercial
mortgage loan - increasing the commercial mortgage loan to $5.22 million and extending maturity untll five years
from the closing daote. The committed flve-year fixed interest rate under the commercial mortgage loan is 4.15%; a
reduction from the previous variable rate floor of 4.25%, with on amortization period of 10 years.

The commercial mortgage loan is guaranteed by Sugarbud and its wholly owned subsidiaries Trichome and 1800905
Alberta Ltd. and has general security executed by the Company, pursuant to which the Company grants Connect
First a first charge security interest over all present and after acquired personal property of the Company.

On January 13, 2021, the Company closed an authorized overdraft with Connect First for an amount up to 75% of
the Company’s good quality accounts recelvable, up to @ maximum of $500,000. The committed rate is Connect
First’s lending rate plus 1.50% per annum, calculated daily, payable monthly in arrears. As at December 31, 2021,
the Company had an authorized available overdraft of $210,638. Refer to Note 26 (vi).

On July 7, 2021, the Company closed a $500,000 extension to Its existing commerclal mortgage loan with Connect
First. The committed rate Is a fixed rate of 4.15% per annum, calculated daily, payable monthly in arrears. In addition,
the Company increased its available letter of credit by $40,000. The letter of credit committed rate is the prime
rate plus 1% per annum, colculated daily, payable monthly in arrears (if the letter of credit is callad). As at December

31, 2021, the Company has fully utilized the letter of credit.

On October 14, 2021, the Compony closed a $900,000 extension to the existing commercial mortgage loan with
Connect First. The committed rate is a fixed rate of 4.15% per annum, calculated daily, payable monthly in arrears.
As part of the agreement, a portion of the funds were used to pay the final land litigation settlement instalment. Refer

to Note 25.

On December 24, 2021, the Company closed o $900,000 extension to the existing commercial mortgage loan with
Connect First. The committed rate is a fixed rate of 4.15% per annum, calculated daily, payable monthly in arrears
and holds a five-year maturity. As at December 31, 2021 the Company had received $875,000 of the total proceeds.

Refer to Note 26(v).
During the year ended Decembar 31, 2021, the Company received, as part of the restructured commercial mortgage

loan, a six-month principal holiday on the existing commercial mortgage loan, as well as a twelve-month principal
holiday on the most recent extension of the commercial mortgage loan, whereby only the interest portion of the

repayment is required.

As at December 31, 2021, the Connect First commercial mortgage loan contained the following financial covenants:

i. Debt Service Coverage Ratio shall not be less than 1.40:, to be tested quarterly based on a troiling four
quarters using consolidated financial statement beginning with the four quarters ending December 31,

2022.
ji. Debt to Equity Ratio of not greater than 1.25 as at December 31, 2021; and 1.00 ae of December 31,

2022 onwards, to be tested annually.
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As ot December 31, 2021, the Company’s Debt to Equity Ratio was 1.51:1, which Is considered an event of default.
As a result, the Compony has reclassified the commercial mortgage loan to current liabilities. Additionally, the
Company’s twelve-month forecast indicates a potential breach of its financial covenants attached to the commercial
mortgage loan as at December 31, 2022, and subsequent to December 31, 2021, the Company's outhorized
overdraft of up to 75% of the Company's good quality accounts receivable was overdraown by $57,901. These events
would also indicate events of default which would enable Connect First to demand immediote repayment of all
amounts due. The Company is in on-going discussions with Connect First, to renegotiate the covenants attached to
the commercial mortgage loan. Refer to Note 1 - Going Concern.

Year-ended December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020
Beginning balance $ 4,724,402 $ -
Proceeds from commercial mortgage loan 2,473,675 5,030,000
Authorized overdraft 8,091 -
Amounts drawn on credit card 40,000 -
Commercial mortgage loan repayment (377,193) (202,816)
Debt issuance costs (51,205) (109,149)
Accretion — . 12,974 6,367
Ending balance S 6,830,744 $ 4,724,402
Presented as:

Authorized overdraft 8,091 -

Current portion of commercial mortgage loan 6,822,653 419,055

Long-term portion of commercial mortgage loan - 4,305,347
Total $ 6,830,744 $ 4,724,402

18. Convertible Debentures

On June 24, 2020 (“Closing Date”), Sugorbud completed a fully subscribed public offering of Debenture Units at a
price of $1,000 per debenture unit for proceeds of $4 million. Each Debenture Unit consists of: (i) one 12.0% secured
Convertible Debenture; and (ii) 20,000 Debenture Warrants. One hundred Debenture Warrants entitle the holder to
purchase one Common Share in the capital of the Company at an exercise price of $5.00, at any time up to June

24, 2023.
The Convertible Debentures bear interest at a rate of 12.0% per annum from the Closing Date, payable semi-annually

in arrears, in cash, on the last doy of June and December of each year with the first payment having occurred on
June 30, 2020 and matures on June 24, 2023. Interest is computed on the basis of a 360-day year composed of

twelve 30-day months.

The conversion feoture is treated as a derivative liabllity due to the option by the debenture holder to exchange the
aggregoate principal amount of the Convertible Debentures for an equivalent ogdregate principal amount of 15.0%

secured notes at any time after June 24, 2021.

The Company issued to the agent who led the public offering 12,800,000 compensation warrants (“Compensation
Warrants”). One hundred Compensation Warrants are exercisable for one Common Share at an exercise price of

$5.00 until June 24, 2023,

During the year ended December 31, 2021, $755,000 principal amount of Debenture Units were converted Iinto
151,000 Common Shares of the Company at on average exercise price of $4.20. In connection with the Debenture
Units thot were converted, 38,359 Common Shares of the Company were issued as part of the effective interest
payment and make whole provision.
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Year-ended December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020
Beginning balance $ 621,202 $ -
Additions - 4,000,000
Equity portion of convertible debt, before taxes - (656,996)
Transaction costs allocated to the debenture - (638,270)
Conversion of convertible debenture (636,625) (2,138,967)
Accretion of host contract 51,508 73,M
Change in fair value of conversion feature 46,470 (17.676)
Ending balance $ 82545 $ 621,202

19. Revenue

Revenue Is comprised of cannabis product sales to licensed distributora for end-user customers, e-commerce end-
user customers, and wholesale customers.

Revenue is presented net of any sales discounts and estimated variable consideration for future returns. As at
December 31, 2021, the right of return provision for the estimate of future returns was $52,000 (December 31, 2020

- $11,035) and is included In accounts payable and occrued liabilities.

20. General and Administrative Expenses

Year-ended December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020
Professional fees $ 256,982 $ 630,872
Solaries, wages and benefits to employees 2,970,510 1,821,087
Consulting fees 448,818 518,437
Office and general 14,650 101,650
Sales & marketing 151,588 45,103
Insurance 364,131 187,735
Facility overhead and other 753,031 803,426
General and administrative expenses $ . - 4,959,710 $ 4,108,310
21. Finance Costs
Year-ended December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020
Cash finance expense (income)
Interest on right of use leases $ 57,757 % 64,015
Interest on former credit facility - 108,499
Interest on commercial mortgage loan 224,075 108,141
Interest on convertible debentures 62,845 867,200
$ 344,877 $ 1,148,855
~Non-cash finance expense (income) -
Change in fair value of derivative liability 46470 (17,676)
Accretion 12,974 74,317
Interest on convertible debenture 230,210 379,784
Transaction costs s 51,877
& 289,654 488,302
Total finance expense S 634,331 $ 1,637,157

22. Income Taxes

The provision for income taxes is different from the amount computed by applying the combined statutory Canadian
federal ond provincial tax rotes to pre-tox income for the period. The statutory tax rate decreased from 25% to 23%
effective July 1, 2020, due to a decrease in the Alberta provincial tax rate. The tax on the Company's income before
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tax differs from the amount that would arise using the average taox rate applicable to profits of the Company as

follows:
December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020
Net loss before tax $ (8,704,194) $ (5,096,284)
Combined federal and provincial tax rate - 23% 24%
Expected tax expense (recovery) (2,001,965) (1,223,108)
Tax effects of:
Non-deductible expenses 69,322 131,612
Impact of tax rate changes - 35,051
Changes in unrecognized deferred tax assets ) 1,932,643 926,104
Income tax expense $ 7 - $ (130,341)
Income tax recogﬂizsd in equity — convertible debentures - 130,341
The significant components of the net deferred income tax asset (liability) are as follows:
December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020 _
Deferred tox liabilities: $ $
Convertible debt and commercial mortgage loan (295,059) (308,801)
Property, plant, and equipment and other - (7,165)
Deferred tax assets:
Right of use and lease obligation 9,416 -
Share and debt issuance costs 248,589 220,075
_Non-capital loeses 37,054 95,981
Net deferred tax asset (liability) $ - $ -

The following provides the details of unrecognized deductible temporary differences and unused losses for which no

deferred tax asset has been recognized:

) December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020

Property, plant, and equipment and other $ 2,658,277 $ -

Non-capital loss carry forwards 28,870,541 22,660,198
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No deferred tox asset has been recognized in respect of the following losses and temporary differences as it is not
considered probable that sufficlent future taxable profit will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered. The

Company's non-capital losses expire as follows:

December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020
2028 $ 773,349 $ 773,349
2029 348,535 348,535
2030 237,852 237,852
2031 - -
2032 8 6
2033 217,847 217,647
2034 489,713 489,713
2035 1,389,873 1,389,873
2036 1,892,937 1,892,937
2037 784,578 784,578
2038 4,264,952 4,264,952
2038 6,455,821 6,455,821
2040 6,221,851 6,221,851
2041 5,954,532 -
Total 29,031,646 23,077,114
23. Supplemental Cash Flow Information
Year-ended B Dccember 31, 2021 December 31, 2020
Change in non-cash werking capital items:
Term deposit $ - $ 14,000
Accounts receivable (4,694) (208,941)
Prepaid expenses and deposits 277,888 (234,687)
Biological assets 2,307,351 1,468,788
Inventory (2,202,325) (3,137,797)
Accounts payable 110,680 1,021,318
Amount related to operating actlvities $ - 488,901 $ (1,077,319)

24. Related Party Transactions

The following is @ summary of the Company's related party transactions during the year. Compensation of key
management personnel includes short-term and long-term benefits, including salaries and stock options. The key
management personnel of the Company are the Company’s executive management team and the Board of Directors.

Year-ended December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020

Stock based compensation $ 187,988 % 326,623
Compensation earned by directors 281,022 322,103
Compensation earned by key management 625,000 641,667
Total $ 1,094,008 $ 1,290,393

As at December 31, 2021, of the total compensation earned by key management $238,000 remains unpaid and of
the total compensation earned by directors $266,000 remains unpaid.

During the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company entered into a Shares for Services agreement with certain
directors and an advisor of the Company, pursuant to which Suga rbud issued a total of 26,500 shares ot a deemed

price of $5.00 per share in satisfaction of accrued portions of the cash retainers owing to such persons in the
aggregate amount of $132,500.
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25. Commitments and Contingencies

Periodically, the Company may become involved in various claims and legal actions which occur in the ordinary course
of operations. The results of such legal proceedings or related matters cannot be determined with certainty.

In 2019, the Compony entered intc @ commitment to purchase land adjacent to its Facility, which was scheduled to
close in 2020. The Company made the decision not to proceed with the land purchase, and a final settlement of
$465,000 was reached and during the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company settled the litigation In full.

26. Subsequent Events

i. Subsequent to December 31, 2021, the Company completed o consolidation of all its issued and
outstanding Common Shares on the basis of a ratio of one hundred pre-consolidation Common Shares for
one post-consolidate Common Share (the “Share Consolidation”). Following the Share Consolidation, the
Company had 5,699,793 Common Shares in issue. Also following the Share Consolidation, the number of
outstanding commen share purchase warrants, options, or other convertible securities of the Company
were not altered; however, the exercise price and number of shares issuable on the exercise of ony warrants,
options, or other convertible securities of the Company were automatically proportionally adjusted on the
basis of the 100:1 consolldation ratio, such that one hundred warrants, options, or other convertible
securities are now exerclsable for one post-consolidation Common Share. Where the Share Consolidation
otherwise resulted in a holder of Common Shares holding o fraction of a Common Share, any fractional
interest In Common Shares that is less than 0.5 of ¢ Common Share was rounded down to the nearest
whole Common Share and any fractional interest in Common Shares that is 0.5 or greater of o Common
Share was rounded up to the nearest whole Common Share.

ii. Subsequent to December 31, 2021, the Company entered into a supply agreement with Quebec-based
licensed producer Médiclbis, operators of Mendo Medical (“Mendo”) to provide registered medical patients
access to the Company’s Craft Cannabis Collection nationwlide via Mendo’s online medical cannabis soles

platform.

iii. Subsequent to December 31, 2021, the Company disposed of six leased trucks resulting in gross proceeds
of $41,194.

lv. Subsequent to December 31, 2021, the Company commenced a marketed public offering of convertible
debenture units (each a "Debenture Unit") at a price of $1,000 per Debenture Unit for aggregate gross
proceeds to the Company of up to $3.0 million (the "Offering") (which Is expected to include management
and/or Insider participation).

Each Debenture Unit will consist of: (i) one 12.0% secured convertible debenture (each, a "Debenture"); and
(i) 1,000 common share purchaose warrants of the Company (each, a "Warrant"). Each Warrant will entitle
the holder to purchase ona common share of the Company (each, a "Common Share") at an exercise price
of $1.00, for a period of S years following the closing of the Offering. The Debentures will bear interest at
a rate of 12.0% per annum from the date of issue, payable on a semi-annual basis, and will be: (i) paid In-
kind in Common Shares based on the daily volume weighted average trading price for the 20 trading days
preceding the date of interest payment or (1) in cash, at the Company’s option. The Debentures wlill mature
5 years from the closing of the Offering (the "Maturity Date") and the principal amount of the Debenture
will be repaid in cash enly. The principal amount of each Convertible Debenture will be convertible into
Common Shares at the optlon of the holder at a conversion price equal to $1.00. If the holder elects to
convert the Convertible Debentures, then the holder will aleo receive an amount equal to the interest that
the holder would have raceived If the holder had held the Convertible Debentures until the Maturity Date
(“the Effective Interest™), payable in (i) units of the Company (each a “Unit"), each such Unit consisting of
one Common Share and one Warront (or if the holder is a Non-Arm’s Length Party, Common Shares) based
on the daily weighted average trading price for the 20 trading days preceding the date of such election; (i)
cash; or (iii) a combinatlon of cash and Common Shares, at the Company’s option

Each holder of Convertible Debentures may, at their option, elect to exchange the aggregate principal
amount of such holder's Convertible Debentures for an equivalent aggregate principal amount of 15.0%
non-convertible secured notes expiring on the Maturity Date (each, a "Secured Note") on o cne for one
basis ot any time prior to the Maturity Date (the "Exchange Option”). Any accrued interest from the date
of exchanging the Convertible Debentures into Secured Notes will be carried forward and be payoble on
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the applicable interest payment date, together with the interest accruing from the Secured Notes beginning
on the date of exchange.

v. Subsequent to December 31, 2021, the Company received the remalning proceeds of $225,000 related
to the extension to the existing commerci<ns1:XMLFault xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat"><ns1:faultstring xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat">java.lang.OutOfMemoryError: Java heap space</ns1:faultstring></ns1:XMLFault>